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Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Directors' report

Principal activities

There were no significant changes in the principal activities during the financial year.

Results

RM’000

Profit before taxation and zakat 4,534,069       

Taxation and zakat (1,501,148)      

Profit for the year 3,032,921       

Performance review

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial

statements of Maybank Islamic Berhad ("the Bank") for the financial year ended 31 December

2022.

The Bank is principally engaged in the business of Islamic Banking and the provision of related

financial services.

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other

than as disclosed in Notes 7, 8(ii), 8(iii), 9, 18, 29, 30 and 31 to the financial statements and the

statement of changes in equity.

In the opinion of the Board of Directors, the results of the operations of the Bank during the

current financial year were not substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a

material and unusual nature other than the effects of COVID-19 pandemic and related support

measures as disclosed in Note 2.4 and Note 3.6 to the financial statements.

The Bank recorded a profit before taxation and zakat of RM4,534.1 million for the financial year

ended 31 December 2022, an increase of 9.3% or RM384.4 million compared to the previous

financial year.

Allowance for impairment of assets for the Bank increased by RM85.0 million or 29.4% from a

charge of RM289.1 million in previous financial year to RM374.1 million for the financial year

ended 31 December 2022.
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Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Performance review (cont'd.)

Prospects

Total income grew by RM858.8 million or 8.4% to RM11,128.6 million from RM10,269.8 million in

the previous financial year. Total income represents income derived from investment of

depositors' funds, income derived from investment account funds and income derived from

investment of shareholder's funds of RM9,534.7 million, RM1,092.6 million and RM501.3 million

respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, the Bank's gross financing and advances for the year grew by 11.3% to

RM217.4 billion as compared to RM195.4 billion recorded as at 31 December 2021. Total Islamic

banking assets owned and managed by the Bank increased by 9.6% to RM320.1 billion as

compared to RM292.0 billion recorded as at last financial year.

The Bank’s capital position continued to be strong and well above regulatory requirements as

reflected by its Common Equity Tier I, Tier I Capital Ratio and Total Capital Ratio of 14.100%,

15.171% and 17.844% respectively. 

The Malaysian economy is expected to grow at 4.5% in 2023 (2022: 8.7%) against the backdrop

of moderating global economic growth of 1.9% (2022: 3.0%) due to the negative impact of high

inflation and profit rates. ASEAN economic growth is expected to ease but remain above the

global average supported by the resurgence of international tourism demand, resilient intra-Asian

trade flows, foreign direct investment ("FDI") inflows, and China’s economic reopening.

Malaysia’s economic growth will be supported by the continued recovery in international tourism,

an earlier and faster than the expected economic reopening in China, and positive FDI inflows.

However, the expected Global economic slowdown is anticipated to impact external trade growth

amongst Malaysia’s major trading partners. Similarly, domestic demand is set to soften as

consumer spending following the full economic reopening in 2022 normalises. Bank Negara

Malaysia ("BNM") is anticipated to continue normalising its monetary policy in a measured and

gradual manner whereby the Overnight Policy Rate is estimated to increase to pre-pandemic

levels in 2023.

Total customer funding increased by 13.1% to RM235.4 billion, contributed by growth in customer

deposits of 16.9% at RM209.8 billion against RM179.5 billion as at 31 December 2021.

Investment account of customers decreased by 10.8% to RM25.6 billion from RM28.7 billion in

the last financial year.

Against the backdrop of moderating global economic growth, the Bank will strengthen its income

drivers by focusing on its fund based and fee based income streams through its Strategic

Initiatives across its business operations. This includes deepening its Islamic wealth management

capabilities to cater for onshore and offshore demand for Shariah compliant solutions, and

strengthening its Halal economy proposition as part of its aspiration to become a global Islamic

finance leader. Concurrently, the Bank will selectively grow its financing book whilst sustaining its

low-cost funding base to support asset growth in a high inflation and profit rate environment.  
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Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Prospects (cont'd.)

Dividends

The amounts of dividend paid by the Bank since 31 December 2021 were as follows:

RM'000

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2021 as reported in the 

   directors' report of that year:

A single-tier second interim dividend of RM3.30 per ordinary share on 

  432,110,250 ordinary shares, declared on 22 February 2022 and paid on 
  13 April 2022 1,425,964       

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2022:

A single-tier first interim dividend of RM3.275 per ordinary share on 

  432,110,250 ordinary shares, declared on 18 August 2022 and paid on
  26 September 2022 1,415,161       

Capital and liquidity conservation are an equal key priority to ensure stable long term growth

against external headwinds and uncertainties. The Bank will remain vigilant of the risks arising

from the global market volatility and continue to proactively engage customers that require

additional assistance by offering a support on a targeted basis, as part of its efforts to ensure

strong asset quality management and maintaining the resilience of its capital and liquidity

positions.

The Bank remains committed to support the domestic economies of its home markets and strives

to meet customers’ needs while delivering a positive impact to the community. The bank together

with its Group counterparts remains committed towards promoting greater financial inclusion,

sustainable financing and solutions, as well as supporting the transition to a low-carbon economy

in line with the national agenda.

Subsequent to the financial year end, on 27 February 2023, the Board of Directors declared a

single-tier second interim dividend in respect of the current financial year ended 31 December

2022 of RM3.546 per ordinary share on 456,116,375 ordinary shares, amounting to a dividend

payable of RM1,617,388,666.

The financial statements for the current financial year do not reflect this declared dividend. Such

dividend will be accounted for in the statement of changes in equity as an appropriation of

retained profits in the financial year ending 31 December 2023.
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Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Holding company

The ESGP Shares is a form of Restricted Share Units ("RSU") and the NRC may, from time to

time during the ESGP period, make further ESGP grants designated as Supplemental ESGP to a

selected group of eligible employees to participate in Supplemental ESGP. This selected group

may consist of selected key executive, selected key retentions and selected senior external

recruits, and such grants may contain terms and conditions which may vary from earlier ESGP

grants made available to selected senior management.

The CESGP is a form of Cash-settled Performance-based Restricted Share Unit Scheme

("CRSU") and the NRC may, from time to time during the ESGP period, make further CESGP

grants designated as Supplemental CESGP to a selected group of eligible employees to

participate in the ESGP. This selected group may consist of senior management, selected key

retentions and selected senior external recruits, and such Supplemental CESGP grants may

contain terms and conditions which may vary from earlier CESGP grants made available to

selected employees.

The maximum number of ordinary shares in Maybank available under the ESGP should not

exceed 3.5% of the total number of issued and paid-up capital of Maybank at any point of time

during the duration of the scheme.

Maybank Group Employees' Share Grant Plan ("ESGP") and Cash-settled Performance-

based Employees' Share Grant Plan  ("CESGP") 

Maybank Group has implemented an employee's share scheme named as the Maybank Group

Employees’ Share Grant Plan (“ESGP”) and the scheme was awarded to the participating

Maybank Group employees who fulfill the eligibility criteria. The ESGP is governed by the ESGP

By-laws approved by the shareholders at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 6 April 2017

and was implemented on 14 December 2018 for a period of seven (7) years from the effective

date. The scheme was administered by the ESGP Committee since its implementation in

December 2018 until the said Committee was dissolved and its roles and responsibilities were

taken over by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Board ("NRC") with effect

from 1 February 2021. Since then, the scheme is administered by the NRC.

The ESGP consists of two (2) types of performance-based awards: Employees' Share Grant Plan

("ESGP Shares") and Cash-settled Performance-based Employees' Share Grant Plan

("CESGP"). The ESGP Shares may be settled by way of issuance and transfer of new Maybank

shares or by cash at the absolute discretion of Maybank Group NRC.

The immediate holding company is Malayan Banking Berhad ("Maybank"), a licensed bank

incorporated in Malaysia and listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
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Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Issuance of share capital and debentures

Directors

Dato' Zulkiflee Abbas bin Abdul Hamid (Chairman)

Encik Dali bin Sardar

Datuk Mohd Anwar bin Yahya

Professor Dr. Aznan bin Hasan 

Encik Shariffuddin bin Khalid 

Dato' Azmi bin Mohd Ali

Puan Natasha binti Kamaluddin (Appointed on 1 July 2022)

Directors' benefits

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to

receive a benefit (other than benefits included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received

or due and receivable by the directors or the fixed salary of a full-time employee of the holding

company as disclosed in Note 34 to the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the

Bank or a related corporation with any director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a

company in which he has a substantial financial interest.

The holding company, Maybank maintained on a group basis, a Directors’ and Officers’ Liability

Insurance against any legal liability incurred by the directors in the discharge of their duties while

holding office for Maybank or for Maybank’s subsidiary companies. The directors shall not be

indemnified by such insurance for any negligence, fraud, intentional breach of law or breach of

trust proven against them.

The following are the changes in debt and equity securities of the Bank during the financial year

ended 31 December 2022:

The names of the directors of the Bank in office since the beginning of the financial year to the

date of this report are:

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that financial year, did there subsist

any arrangement to which the Bank was a party, whereby the directors might acquire benefits by

means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Bank or any other body corporate,

other than arising from the ESGP. 

On 26 September 2022, the Bank increased its share capital from RM10,322,374,000 to

RM11,029,954,534 via issuance of 24,006,125 new ordinary shares at issue price per share of

RM29.475 to Maybank on the basis of one new share for every eighteen existing ordinary shares

held.
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Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Directors' interests

Rating by external rating agency

Details of the Bank’s ratings is as follows:

Rating 

Rating agency Date Rating classification received

RAM Ratings Services 9 December 2022 Financial Institution AAA/Stable/P1

   Berhad ("RAM")    Rating

Other statutory information

(a)

(i)

(ii)

(b)

(i)

(ii)

(c)

to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in

the accounting records in the ordinary course of business had been written down to an

amount which they might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would

render: 

the amount written-off for bad financing or the amount of the allowances for doubtful

financing in the financial statements of the Bank inadequate to any substantial extent;

and

the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Bank misleading. 

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen

which would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the

Bank misleading or inappropriate.

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings, none of the directors in office at the end of

the financial year had any interest in shares in the Bank and options over shares in the holding

company, Maybank or other related corporations during the financial year.

Before the statement of financial position, income statement and statement of comprehensive

income of the Bank were made out, the directors took reasonable steps:

to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing-off of bad

financing and the making of allowance for doubtful financing and satisfied themselves

that all known bad financing had been written-off and that adequate allowance had been

made for doubtful financing; and
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Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Other statutory information (cont'd.)

(d)

(e) At the date of this report, there does not exist:

(i)

(ii)

(f) In the opinion of the directors:

(i)

(ii)

Significant events

The significant events are disclosed in Note 47 to the financial statements.

no item or transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval

between the end of the financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect

substantially the results of the operations of the Bank for the financial year in which this

report is made.

There are no significant adjusting events after the statement of financial position's date up to the

date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt 

with in this report or the financial statements of the Bank which would render any amount

stated in the financial statements misleading.

any charge on the assets of the Bank which has arisen since the end of the financial

year which secures the liabilities of any other person; or

any contingent liability of the Bank which has arisen since the end of the financial year

other than those arising in the normal course of business of the Bank.

no contingent liability or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become

enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which

will or may affect the ability of the Bank to meet its obligations as and when they fall due;

and
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Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Shariah Committee

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d) To deliberate and affirm a Shariah non-compliance finding by any relevant function; and

(e) To endorse a rectification measure to address a Shariah non-compliance event.

Zakat obligation

To provide a decision or advice to the financial institution on the application of any rulings of

the SAC or standards on Shariah matters to its operations, businesses, affairs and activities;

To provide a decision or advice on matters which require a reference to be made to the SAC;

To provide a decision or advice on the operations, businesses, affairs and activities of the

financial institution which may trigger a Shariah non-compliance event;

The Bank pays zakat for its business. The Bank does not pay zakat on behalf of the shareholder,

depositors and investment account holders.

The operations of the Bank is governed by Sections 28 and 29 of the Islamic Financial Services

Act 2013 ("IFSA"), which stipulates, that any licensed institution shall at all times ensure that its

aims and operations, businesses, affairs and activities are in compliance with Shariah, and, in

accordance with the advice or rulings of Shariah Advisory Council ("SAC"), specific standards on

Shariah matters in respect of the carrying on of its business, affair or activity. Meanwhile, BNM's

Shariah Governance Policy Document (BNM/RH/PD 028-100) relates to, among other things,

Shariah Committee’s objectivity to reinforce sound decision-making process and robustness of

internal control functions for effective management of Shariah non-compliance risks.

Based on the above, the duties and responsibilities of the Shariah Committee are to advise on

the overall operations of the Bank’s business in order to ensure compliance with the Shariah

requirements. 

The roles and responsibilities of Shariah Committee in monitoring the Bank’s activities include,

but not limited to the following:
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Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Corporate governance

1. The Board of Directors

Composition of the Board

Chairman

Dato' Zulkiflee Abbas Independent Independent

  bin Abdul Hamid Non-Executive Director Non-Executive Director

(Chairman)

Chairman 

1 June 2020

Members

Encik Dali bin Sardar Independent 

Non-Executive Director

Datuk Mohd Anwar Independent 

  bin Yahya Non-Executive Director

Professor Dr Non-Independent 

  Aznan bin Hasan Non-Executive Director

Encik Shariffuddin bin Independent 

  Khalid Non-Executive Director

Dato' Azmi bin Independent 

  Mohd Ali Non-Executive Director

Kamaluddin Non-Executive Director

9 November 2020

Puan Natasha binti Independent 1 July 2022

17 July 2017

25 April 2019

13 June 2019

As at 31 December 2022, the Board of Maybank Islamic Berhad (“Maybank Islamic” or “the

Bank”) comprised seven (7) directors of which six (6) were Independent Non-Executive

Directors. The composition of the Board complied with the requirement under the BNM

Corporate Governance Policy (“BNM CG Policy”) of having a majority of independent

directors at all times. The members were as follows:

Name Position First Appointment Date

25 April 2019

11 August 2014
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Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Corporate governance (cont'd.)

1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Composition of the Board (cont'd.)

The profile of each member of the Board is presented below:-

Dato' Zulkiflee Abbas bin Abdul Hamid 

Independent Non-Executive Director (Chairman)

Nationality

Malaysian

Age

65

Appointment

25 April 2019, as Chairman on 1 June 2020

Qualification

● Diploma in Business Studies, MARA Institute of Technology

● Bachelor of Science in Marketing, Southern Illinois University

●

Working experience

Present

● NIL

Past

● Managing Director/President of Bank Kerjasama Rakyat Malaysia Berhad

● Chief Executive Officer of Affin Holdings Berhad

● Managing Director/Chief Executive Officer of Affin Bank Berhad 

● Chief Credit Officer of Malayan Banking Berhad

Master in Business Administration, Southern Illinois University
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Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Corporate governance (cont'd.)

1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Composition of the Board (cont'd.)

Dato' Zulkilfee Abbas bin Abdul Hamid (cont'd.)

Independent Non-Executive Director (Chairman)

Directorship of other companies

● Malayan Banking Berhad

● Yayasan Budiman Universiti Teknologi MARA

●

Attendance in 2022

● 14 out of 14 Board meetings held in the financial year

Declaration

●

●

● Does not hold any shares in Maybank Islamic Berhad

Dali bin Sardar

Independent Non-Executive Director

Nationality

Malaysian

Age

63

Appointment

11 August 2014

No conflict of interest with Maybank Islamic Berhad and has never been charged for any

offence

Tabung Pendidikan 1 Billion

No family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of Malayan Banking

Berhad and/or any of its related corporations
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Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Corporate governance (cont'd.)

1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Composition of the Board (cont'd.)

Dali bin Sardar (cont'd.)

Independent Non-Executive Director

Qualification

● Bachelor of Arts (majoring in Economics), Knox College, Illinois, USA

●

Working experience

Present

●

Past

●

●

●

Directorship of other companies

● Nova MSC Berhad

●

● Peranex Sdn Bhd

● YaPEIM Holdings Sdn Bhd

● UMP Holdings Sdn Bhd

● Imani Agroindustries Sdn Bhd

Attendance in 2022

● 14 out of 14 Board meetings held in the financial year

Director of Maybank Private Equity Sdn Bhd

DTA Capital Partners Sdn Bhd

Master in Business Administration, American Graduate School of International

Management, Arizona, USA

Chief Executive Officer of DTA Capital Partners Sdn Bhd

Managing Director of Citicorp Capital

Chief Executive Officer of Utama Merchant Bank Berhad
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Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Corporate governance (cont'd.)

1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Composition of the Board (cont'd.)

Dali bin Sardar (cont'd.)

Independent Non-Executive Director

Declaration

●

●

● Does not hold any shares in Maybank Islamic Berhad

Datuk Mohd Anwar bin Yahya

Independent Non-Executive Director

Nationality

Malaysian

Age

68

Appointment

17 July 2017

Qualification

●

● Chartered Accountant, Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales

● Member of Malaysia Institute of Accountants

● Member of Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants

Working experience

Present

● Executive Director at Sage 3 Sdn Bhd

No family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of Malayan Banking

Berhad and/or any of its related corporations

No conflict of interest with Maybank Islamic Berhad and has never been charged for any

offence

Bachelor of Science (Honours) in Economics & Accountancy, University of Hull, United

Kingdom
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Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Corporate governance (cont'd.)

1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Composition of the Board (cont'd.)

Datuk Mohd Anwar bin Yahya (cont'd.)

Independent Non-Executive Director

Working experience (cont'd.)

Past

●

●

●

Directorship of other companies

● Fraser & Neave Holdings Berhad

● Sage 3 Sdn Bhd

● Amanah Saham Nasional Berhad 

● Sime Darby Plantation Berhad

Attendance in 2022

● 14 out of 14 Board meetings held in the financial year

Declaration

●

●

● Does not hold any shares in Maybank Islamic Berhad

General Manager of Permodalan Kelantan Berhad

Finance Manager of Lembaga Kemajuan Kelantan Selatan (KESEDAR)

No family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of Malayan Banking

Berhad and/or any of its related corporations

No conflict of interest with Maybank Islamic Berhad and has never been charged for any

offence

Financial and Business Advisor of PricewaterhouseCoopers
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Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Corporate governance (cont'd.)

1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Composition of the Board (cont'd.)

Professor Dr Aznan bin Hasan

Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Nationality

Malaysian

Age

51

Appointment

25 April 2019

Qualification

● B.A. (Honours) Shariah, Al Azhar University

● Master in Shariah, Cairo University

● Doctorate in Shariah, University of Wales Lampeter

Working experience

Present

●

Past

● Assistant Professor of Islamic Law, Ahmad Ibrahim Kulliyyah of Laws, IIUM

● Head, Department of Islamic Law, Ahmad Ibrahim Kulliyyah of Laws, IIUM

●

●

Directorship of Other Companies

● Sepakat Berkat Resources Sdn Bhd

● Hana Food Industries & Trading Sdn Bhd

● YaPEIM Holdings Sdn Bhd

Head, Co-Curricular Activity Centre (CCAC), Office of the Deputy Rector (Student

Affairs & Development), IIUM

Coordinator, E-Learning Management System, Ahmad Ibrahim Kuliyyah of Laws,

IIUM

Professor, Institute of Islamic Banking and Finance, Institute Islamic University

Malaysia ("IIUM")
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Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Corporate governance (cont'd.)

1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Composition of the Board (cont'd.)

Professor Dr Aznan bin Hasan (cont'd.)

Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Attendance in 2022

● 14 out of 14 Board meetings held in the financial year

Declaration

●

●

● Does not hold any shares in Maybank Islamic Berhad

Shariffuddin bin Khalid 

Independent Non-Executive Director

Nationality

Malaysian

Age

57

Appointment

13 June 2019

Qualification

● Foundation in Accountancy, University of Huddersfield, UK

● Fellow Member, Chartered Institute of Management Accountants, UK

No family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of Malayan Banking

Berhad and/or any of its related corporations

No conflict of interest with Maybank Islamic Berhad and has never been charged for any

offence
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Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Corporate governance (cont'd.)

1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Composition of the Board (cont'd.)

Shariffuddin bin Khalid (cont'd.)

Independent Non-Executive Director

Working experience

Present

● NIL

Past

●

●

Directorship of Other Companies

● Malayan Banking Berhad 

● Maybank (Cambodia) Plc

● Marine & General Berhad

● MCB Bank Limited

Attendance in 2022

● 14 out of 14 Board meetings held in the financial year

Declaration

●

●

● Does not hold any shares in Maybank Islamic Berhad

Non-Executive Director, Sterling Biofuels Ltd

No family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of Malayan Banking

Berhad and/or any of its related corporations

No conflict of interest with Maybank Islamic Berhad and has never been charged for any

offence

Director, Malaysia International Islamic Finance Center and Director, Strategic

Communications, Bank Negara Malaysia

19



Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Corporate governance (cont'd.)

1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Composition of the Board (cont'd.)

Dato' Azmi bin Mohd Ali

Independent Non-Executive Director

Nationality

Malaysian

Age

62

Appointment

9 November 2020

Qualification

● LL.B (Hons), University Malaya

● LLM in US & Global Law, University of Suffolk, Boston, Massachusetts

●

Working experience

Present

● Senior Partner, Azmi & Associates

Past

●

Cambridge Judge Business School Executive Education Programme on Enterprise

Innovation, Judge Business School, University of Cambridge

Partner, Department of Corporate, Commercial & Special Projects, Hisham, Sobri &

Kadir 
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Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Corporate governance (cont'd.)

1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Composition of the Board (cont'd.)

Dato' Azmi bin Mohd Ali (cont'd.)

Independent Non-Executive Director

Directorship of other companies

● SP Setia Berhad

● UMW Holdings Berhad

● Pernec Integrated Network Systems Sdn Bhd

● Worldwide Holdings Berhad 

● Institute of Corporate Directors Malaysia 

● Prudenz Corporatehouse Sdn Bhd

● Yayasan Insan dan Ilmu

● Sapura Energy Berhad

● Azmi & Associates

Attendance in 2022

● 14 out of 14 Board meetings held in the financial year

Declaration

●

●

● Does not hold any shares in Maybank Islamic Berhad

No family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of Malayan Banking

Berhad and/or any of its related corporations

No conflict of interest with Maybank Islamic Berhad and has never been charged for any

offence
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Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Corporate governance (cont'd.)

1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Composition of the Board (cont'd.)

Natasha binti Kamaluddin

Independent Non-Executive Director

Nationality

Malaysian

Age

50

Appointment

1 July 2022

Qualification

● B.A. in Economics, University of Cambridge

Working experience

Present

● Senior Advisor, McKinsey & Co

Past

●

● Partner, Ethos Consulting Sdn Bhd

Directorship of other companies

● Asia Digital Engineering Sdn Bhd

● Notch Associates Sdn Bhd

ASEAN Head of Strategy Advisory, EY Advisory (Malaysia)
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Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Corporate governance (cont'd.)

1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Composition of the Board (cont'd.)

Natasha binti Kamaluddin (cont'd.)

Independent Non-Executive Director

Attendance in 2022

● 7 out of 7 Board meetings held in the financial year

Declaration

●

●

● Does not hold any shares in Maybank Islamic Berhad

No family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of Malayan Banking

Berhad and/or any of its related corporations

No conflict of interest with Maybank Islamic Berhad and has never been charged for any

offence
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1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Board Charter

Corporate Governance Framework

*

**

The Board acknowledges the importance of developing and maintaining a framework of

Corporate Governance that is robust and sound, to promote a culture of integrity and

transparency throughout the Bank. In this regard, all directors are required to maintain the

highest standards of transparency, integrity and honesty. This standard serves as the basis

for the principles that govern directors’ conduct and their relationship with the Bank’s

stakeholders.

The Board Charter outlines among others, the respective roles, responsibilities and

authorities of the Board (both individually and collectively) in setting the direction,

management and control of the Bank.

A description of the roles and responsibilities of the Board can be found in our Board Charter

which is available on Maybank Islamic Berhad website www.maybank.com/islamic.

Under the leverage model, the Board delegates its governance responsibilities to these

Board Committees of Maybank.

In addition to Executive Level Management Committees ("ELMCs") established at the

Bank, the Bank also leverages on the various ELMCs of the Group to assist and support

the relevant Board Committees.
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1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Roles and responsibilities of the Board

The Board’s duties and responsibilities include the following:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

To approve and review the organisational structure and the appointment, promotion,

confirmation, termination and succession plan of the senior management;

To develop and document the criteria and skill sets required and to determine the

general composition of the Board in order to ensure that the Board consists of the

requisite diversity of skills, experience, gender, qualification and other core competence

required;

The Bank embraces the proposition that having a gender diverse Board would have a

positive, value-relevant impact on the Bank although any appointment on the Board must

always be based on merit, with due regard to a candidate’s background, skill and

experience, and whether the appointment of such candidate would further complement or

enhance the existing mix of skill and experience of the Board. In this connection, the Board

has adopted Maybank’s Policy on Board Gender Diversity which sets out the approach to

gender diversity on the Board(s) of Malaysian Financial Institutions ("FIs") with a view

towards increasing female representation on such Boards.

Separation of Roles and Responsibilities of Chairman and CEO

The roles and responsibilities of the Chairman and the Bank's Chief Executive Officer

("CEO") are separated with a clear division of responsibilities, defined, documented and

approved by the Board, in line with the best practices so as to ensure appropriate

supervision of the Management. This distinction allows for a better understanding and

distribution of responsibilities and accountabilities. 

To approve and oversee the implementation of business and risk objectives and

strategies as well as significant policies including the annual budget and its half yearly

review;

To ensure that the strategic plan of the Bank supports long-term value creation and

includes strategies on economic, environmental and social considerations underpinning

sustainability  including the corresponding opportunities and Environment, Social and

Governance ("ESG") related risks;

To ensure and oversee the effective design and implementation of sound governance

framework, internal controls, compliance and risk management systems as well as to

ensure that the Bank’s overall operation is in compliance with Shariah principles;

Gender Diversity
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1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

(f)

(g)

(h)

(i)

(j)

(k)

(l)

(m)

(n)

(o)

(p)

To ensure that the corporate governance disclosures are accurate and clear; and

To have due regard to any decision of the Shariah Committee on any Shariah issue

relating to the carrying on of the business, affairs or activities of the Bank.

To approve the Bank's financial statements (and ensures the reliability of the same) as

well as the interim dividend and recommend the final dividend to the shareholder and

the application of Dividend Reinvestment Plan thereto (where applicable);

To approve policies pertaining to corporate image, brand management, community

relations, investor relations and shareholder communications programs and to promote

timely and effective communication with the regulators;

To ensure that the Bank has a beneficial influence on the economic well-being of the

communities within which it operates in the spirit of Maqasid Al-Shariah; 

To ensure that the Board is supported by a suitably qualified and competent company

secretary;

To ensure that the Board members have access to appropriate education and training

programmes to keep abreast of the latest development in the industry and as may be

prescribed by the regulatory authorities from time to time;

To ensure the establishment of a reliable and transparent financial reporting process;

Roles and responsibilities of the Board (cont'd.)

To approve and review the remuneration policy of the Bank including to approve the

remuneration of the directors, Shariah Committee, senior management and other

material risk takers; 

To oversee the performance of the senior management and ensures that the senior

management is monitoring the effectiveness of the internal control system;

To appoint committees of the Board and delegates any of its powers to such committees

as the Board thinks fit;
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1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Board Committees

Board Investment Committee ("BIC")

The members of the BIC as at 31 December 2022 were as follows:

Encik Dali bin Sardar

Datuk Mohd Anwar bin Yahya

The specific duties of the BIC include:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

To review and recommend to the Board including, but not limited to the establishment of

investment objectives, strategies, policies, products, business collaborations with

internal and external stakeholders;

To review and approve the changes in the existing investment mandate, parameters,

policies and procedures of Investment Account ("IA") including profit distribution policy

and valuation policy;

To ensure the investment operations are performed in accordance with the fiduciary

duties and agency duties in the agreed terms and conditions of the IA, relevant

legislations and Shariah rulings and review IA performance reports on a periodic basis;

To ensure compliance to effective risk management policies, processes and

infrastructure to identify, measure, monitor, control and report the various types of risk

associated with the assets funded by the IA including policies and procedures to

determine the significant level of IA business;

Chairman 28 September 2016

Member 24 July 2019

Dato' Azmi bin Mohd Ali Member 1 March 2021

Delegation of certain governance responsibilities has been undertaken by the Board in

favour of its Board Committees, which operate within clearly defined terms of references,

primarily to assist the Board in the execution of its duties and responsibilities. Although the

Board has granted such discretionary authority to these Board Committees to deliberate and

decide on certain key and operational matters, the ultimate responsibility for final decision on

all matters lies with the entire Board.

Name Position Appointment Date
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1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Board Investment Committee ("BIC") (cont'd.)

The specific duties of the BIC include (cont'd.):

(v)

(vi)

Other Board Committees

1. Audit Committee of the Board
1

2. Credit Review Committee
2

3. Nomination and Remuneration Committee
2

4. Risk Management Committee
2

5. Compliance Committee of the Board
2

6. Board Sustainability Committee
2

Notes:

1

2

Under the leverage model, the Board delegated certain of its governance responsibilities to

the following Board Committees of Maybank:

Two members of these Board Committees were the Chairman and a Board member of

Maybank Islamic Berhad.

A member of these Board Committees was also a Board member of Maybank Islamic

Berhad. 

To ensure the management of the IA is conducted by personnel with the appropriate

competency and investment expertise; and

To review and approve the disclosures as per the requirements to ensure reliable,

relevant and timely information are disseminated to the Investment Account Holders

(“IAH”) to facilitate informed decision making and conduct regular review on the

effectiveness of these policies to protect the interest of the IAH.
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1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Tenure or directorship

Board meetings

Name of Directors

Attended % Held %

Dato' Zulkiflee Abbas

  bin Abdul Hamid 14 100

Encik Dali bin Sardar 14 100 4 100

Datuk Mohd Anwar

  bin Yahya 14 100 4 100

Dato' Azmi bin Mohd Ali 14 100 4 100

Professor Dr Aznan 

  bin Hasan 14 100

Encik Shariffuddin

  bin Khalid 14 100

  Kamaluddin
1 7 7 100

Notes:
1 Appointed to the Board on 1 July 2022

14

14

Puan Natasha binti

14 4

14 4

14

14 4

Board BIC

Number of Meetings Number of Meetings

Held Attended

Consistent with the Maybank Group’s Policy on Directors’ Independence and

recommendations of the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2021 (“the Code”), the

Board via the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“NRC”) assesses the

independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors upon his/her appointment, re-

appointment and in any event, annually. In line with the Code, the tenure of service for

Independent Non-Executive Directors has been capped at the maximum period of nine years

whereby upon completion of such tenure, the Independent Non-Executive Director may,

subject to the NRC's recommendation and the Board's approval, continue to serve on the

Board subject to re-designation as a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director. 

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, a total of 14 meetings were convened

inclusive of 3 special meetings for urgent issues and/or important decisions required to be

addressed between the scheduled meetings. 

All directors have exceeded the 75% meeting attendance requirement under BNM CG

Policy. Details of attendance of each Director for the meetings of the Board and Board

Investment Committee during the financial year ended 31 December 2022 are highlighted in

the table below.
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1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ training

NRC has established clear criteria, processes and procedures to assess the performance

and effectiveness of the Board, Board Committees and individual Directors to ensure

effective decision making of the Board ("the BEE Exercise"). This exercise is conducted

annually to objectively assess the performance and effectiveness of the Board. 

The Board acknowledges the importance of continuing education for its directors to ensure

they are equipped with the necessary skills and knowledge to perform their functions and

meet the challenges as the Board. During the year, all the Board members have attended

various training programmes and workshops on relevant issues, including key training

programme for directors of financial institutions, namely the Financial Institutions Directors’

Education ("FIDE").

The Board continues to assess the training needs of its directors and identify key areas of

focus for training programmes.

The Board believes that one area that the Board needs to focus on in order to remain

effective in the discharge of its duties and responsibilities is the setting of a fair and

comprehensive remuneration package to commensurate with the expertise, skills,

responsibilities and the risks of being a director of a financial institution. In line with good

corporate governance, Maybank Group has set out its intention to periodically review the

Non-Executive Directors ("NED"s) remuneration for Maybank and its group of companies at

least once every three years. A summary of the total remuneration of the Directors (shown in

nearest thousand), in aggregate with categorisation into appropriate components for the

financial year ended 31 December 2022 is as disclosed in Note 34 to the financial

statements.

Board Effectiveness Evaluation
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1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Directors’ training (cont'd.)

Maybank Group internal training

● Maybank International Women's Day 2022 - The Great Re-invention: Triving in 

  the Age of the Human 

●

●  Maybank's Sustainability Agenda         

● How Financial Institutions Can Support Climate Transition? 

● Annual Board Risk Workshop - Navigating Execution Challenges in a Rapid 

  Changing World                                                                                                             

● Agility - Executing Better & Faster

● Economic Outlook     

● 2022 / 2023 Risk Lanscape

● Anti-Money Laundering in Cryptocurrency

● Invest ASEAN 2022

●

  Yg Berbahagia Tan Sri Muhammad Ibrahim

● Etiqa Talk: Why are the Big Investors looking into your Board?

●

  Datin Seri Sunita

●

  Economy- Lessons from Bhutan & Gross National Happiness

● Etiqa Director Training Programme-Investment

●

●

Talk Series: The Environment & Islam

(i) FIDE

● Recovery & Resolution Planning Sharing Session

● Meta Finance: The Next Frontier of the Global Economy

● Session 1 - The Tip of the Iceberg JP Morgan Chase and Bear

● Session 2 - Greenbriar Growth Partners & Microsurgery Devices

MIB Book Review: Conservation of the Environment in Islamic Law & Sustainability 

External training

Sustainability Update and Climate Risk :                                                                              

Etiqa Takaful Strategic Engagement Session 2022: Takaful at Crossroad, by 

Etiqa Talk: Sustainability, ESG Environmental Social & Governance, by 

Etiqa Directors’ Training Program Module 2: ESG Topic: Building a Wellbeing 

Etiqa Director Training Programme-Cybersecurity

Trainings programmes, conferences, forums and talks attended by the directors for the

financial year ended 31 December 2022 were as follows:
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1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Directors’ training (cont'd.)

(i) FIDE (cont'd.)

● Bausch & Lomb - Corporate Culture

● Culture, Compliance, Oversight and KPI

● Directors' Duties & Liabilities

● Ethics in Finance (Bank)

● Corporate Governance - Governance Failures, Current  Issues and Failures

● Financial Reporting Problems at Molex Inc.

(ii) Other external seminars/conferences/talks

●

  Sustainability and Inclusion

● Related Party Transactions (Simplified)

● Case-Based Series: Part 1 - The Board’s Performance Role

● Case-Based Series: Part 2 - The Board’s Conformance Role

● Talk on “Corporate Governance & Remuneration Practices for the ESG World”

● Conduct of Directors & Common Breaches of Listing Requirements

● Audit Oversight Board: Conversation with Audit Committees

● MIA International Accountants Conference 2022 – Leading ESG, Charting  

  Sustainability

● Khazanah Megatrends Forum 2022 - Development and its Complexities: 

  Steering Our Way Through a Perfect Storm

● Global Islamic Finance Forum 2022 – Take the Reins

● Integrating Micro Financing in Islamic Social Finance Model

● Overview Of Accounting For Property Development Activities

● Sharing Session by Korn Ferry on ESG 

● FCD Series Module E: Digital Awareness and Upskilling for Board

● 2022 AIAC i-Arbitration Learning Series: Islamic Finance Transactions: 

  How Does the i-Arbitration Rules 2021 Assist?

● KPMG Board Leadership Centre Exclusive 

● Empowering and Rewarding the "Boardroom Brigade" – A Board Remuneration 

  Masterclass 

Trainings programmes, conferences, forums and talks attended by the directors for the

financial year ended 31 December 2022 were as follows (cont'd.):

External training (cont'd.)

BNM MyFintech Week 2022: Advancing Digitalisation for Recovery, 
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1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Directors’ training (cont'd.)

(ii) Other external seminars/conferences/talks (cont'd.)

● ICDM Power Talk: Talent Uprising-How Boards Should Rethink Their Talent 

  Strategy in this Era of Opportunity

● A Half-Day Lecture Series by Mr John Vercoe on “My Journey as a Commercial

   and Oil and Gas Lawyer”

● A Half-Day Lecture Series by Mr John Vercoe on “Introduction to Legal Aspects 

  of Upstream Oil and Gas”

● A Half-Day Lecture Series by Mr John Vercoe on “Substance of the Production 

  Sharing Contract and the Joint Operating Agreement”

● A Half-Day Lecture Series by Mr John Vercoe on “ESG from a Lawyer’s 

  Perspective”

● Webinar Kursus Pembaharuan Ejen Cap Dagangan Siri 3

● A Half-Day Lecture by Mr John Vercoe on “Current Picture of Upstream Oil and 

  Gas Internationally and Its Vital Role in Oil and Gas Value”

● PNB Knowledge Forum 2022 - Tall Buildings and Living in the Space Age: 

  The Enigma And Convergence Of Science and Art

● Webinar on “Why the Circular Economy?” by Adrienna Zsakay

● The Board and Its Role in ESG

● 78th Islamic Banking and Finance Discussion Series: Highlights on Indonesian 

  Islamic Economy & Finance by Dr Sutan Emir Hidayat

● EPF Board & Leadership Talk Series 1: What Matters in Customer Experience 

  Transformations

● Climate Risk Training Session for ESG

● EPF Board & Leadership Talk Series 2: Power Up Your Culture

● Workshop on Takaful Products Pricing & IFRS 17

● 20th Annual AAOIFI Shari’ah Boards Conference

● Contemporary Issues & Challenges in Syariah Governance in the Alternative

  Finance Era: BILIF

● Munaqasyah Waqaf Penang

● EPF Board & Leadership Talk Series 4: Getting Airborne with Agile 

External training (cont'd.)

Trainings programmes, conferences, forums and talks attended by the directors for the

financial year ended 31 December 2022 were as follows (cont'd.):
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1. The Board of Directors (cont'd.)

Directors’ training (cont'd.)

(ii) Other external seminars/conferences/talks (cont'd.)

● Thought Leadership: Board and Leadership Talk: Wellbeing Leadership: Azran 

  Osman Rani

●

●

●

● 13th SC-OCIS Roundtable on Islamic Finance 

● Bank Rakyat International Shariah Scholar Dialogue - IShar 2022

● Singapore FinTech Festival 2022

● Directors' Continuing Education Programme:  2nd ESG Training:  Awareness 

  and Capacity Building on Climate Change for the Food & Beverage Industry

● Discussion on Cyber Related Incident and Risk

● TCFD 101 Climate Disclosure Training Programme

● TCFD 102 Climate Disclosure Training Programme

● Latest Development in Capital Market Regulations - Insider Practices

● Directors's Continuing Education Programme:  3rd ESG Training:  ESG 

  Performance

● Director's Continuing Education Programme:  4th ESG Training -  Biodiversity

  (Environmental)

● Board Leadership/ Conversation on Climate Governance

● Advocacy Sessions for Directors and Senior Management of Main Market 

  Listed Issuers

Kuala Lumpur International Islamic Finance Forum

Muzakarah Syariah

Annual Board Risk Workshop

Trainings programmes, conferences, forums and talks attended by the directors for the

financial year ended 31 December 2022 were as follows (cont'd.):

External training (cont'd.)
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2. Internal control framework

Introduction

Governance and oversight

The Board of Directors

In pursuant to the requirement under the BNM Corporate Governance policy document, the

internal control framework is presented herewith outlining the key features of rules governing

the Bank’s organisational and operational structure, including reporting processes and control

functions. 

Under the leverage model, Islamic business operations are residing in Maybank Group.

Hence, Maybank Islamic Berhad ("the Bank" or "MIB") is similarly adopting Maybank Group's

risk management and internal control system with customisation, where required to address

the Bank’s internal control environment.

The Board affirms its overall responsibilities for establishing a sound risk management

and internal control system, as well as for reviewing its adequacy and effectiveness in

identifying, assessing and responding to risks which may hinder the Bank from achieving

its objectives. One of the vital roles of the Board is to establish the Bank's risk appetite,

which articulates the levels and types of risk that it is willing to accept in the pursuit of its

business and strategic objectives. In this respect, the Board actively participates in setting

the strategic goals and plans of the Bank and ensures that the corresponding risks are

adequately mitigated within its approved risk appetite. In view of the inherent limitations in

any risk management and internal control system, the Board recognises that such a

system can only provide reasonable, rather than absolute assurance against material

financial misstatement, fraud or losses.

The Board plays a crucial role in establishing a strong risk management and internal

control governance structure, which is critical in setting the tone and culture of effective

risk management and internal control. To carry out its risk and control oversight

responsibilities effectively, the Board is assisted by the Maybank Group Board level

Committees, namely, Risk Management Committee ("RMC"), Compliance Committee of

the Board ("CCB") and Audit Committee of the Board ("ACB") to oversee matters relating

to risk, compliance and controls respectively.
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2. Internal control framework (cont'd.)

Governance and oversight (cont'd.)

Shariah Committee

Management Committee

Lines of defence

 1
st

 Line  ●

●

The Board has appointed an independent Shariah Committee (“SC”) to provide decision,

views and opinions related to Shariah matters, as well as perform oversight role on

Shariah matters related to the business operations and activities to ensure compliance

with Shariah. Among its main duties and responsibilities are to provide relevant advice to

the Board and the management in addition to assessing the work carried out by Shariah

Review and Compliance and Shariah Audit.

The Management Committee of the Bank is established to assist and support the Board to

oversee the core areas of business operations and implement the Board’s policies and

procedures on risks and controls. MIB is also leveraging on the various Maybank Group

Executive Level Management Committees ("ELCs") to oversee risks, compliance and

controls, namely, the Group Executive Committee, Group Executive Risk Committee,

Group Asset and Liability Management Committee, Group Management Credit

Committee, Group Client Onboarding and Review Committee, Group Non-Financial Risk

Committee, EXCO Sustainability Committee, Group Procurement and Property

Committee, Group IT Steering Committee, Group Transformation Steering Committee,

Group Internal Audit Committee, Group Staff Committee and Whistleblowing Governance

Committee. 

MIB’s governance model provides a transparent and effective governance structure that

promotes active involvement from the Board and senior management to ensure a uniform

view of risk. The governance model aims to place accountability and ownership whilst

facilitating an appropriate level of independence and segregation of duties between the

lines of defence, which include the following:

Line of Defence Key Responsibilities

Owns and manages day-to-day risks inherent in its business

and/or activities, including that of risk taking. 

Ensure the business operates within the established risk

strategies, tolerance, appetite, frameworks, policies and

procedures.
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2. Internal control framework (cont'd.)

Governance and oversight (cont'd.)

Lines of defence (cont'd.)

 2
nd

 Line  ●

●

●

●

●

Establish frameworks, policies and procedures.

 3
rd

 Line  Provide assurance via independent assessment, review and

validation of:

Internal control framework, policies and tools are sufficiently

robust and consistent with regulatory standards. 

Controls to mitigate risks are adequate.

Adequate oversight by the 2
nd

 line over the 1
st
 line.

Provide overall risk governance and oversight and challenge

the 1
st
 line.

Support sustainable and quality asset growth with optimal

returns.

Ensure compliance to the applicable laws, regulations,

established policies and procedures. 

MIB’s governance model provides a transparent and effective governance structure that

promotes active involvement from the Board and senior management to ensure a uniform

view of risk. The governance model aims to place accountability and ownership whilst

facilitating an appropriate level of independence and segregation of duties between the

lines of defence, which include the following (cont'd.):

Line of Defence Key Responsibilities
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2. Internal control framework (cont'd.)

Risk Management And Internal Control System

Risk management framework

1. Risk Culture 

2. Risk Coverage

The Risk Management team within MIB provides independent risk assessment and

oversight, and ensures the established risk management strategies, frameworks and

policies are well implemented within the Bank. At the enterprise-wide level, Group Risk

also provides oversight, independent assessment and monitoring of risk management

practices, risk exposures and all risk challenges. In 2022, continued focus was given on

value creation and supporting the Bank in meeting its strategic and business objectives. In

the continuous pursuit to drive effectiveness, Risk Centres of Excellence ("COEs") were

created, building on the specialisation of risk professionals to provide value-added risk

insights in support of business decision-making. The identified COEs set consistent

standards in relation to risk policies, risk reporting and risk modelling, specialise in the

management of specific risk areas and manage all risks associated with our external

environment and material matters strategically.

Risk culture is a vital component in strengthening risk

governance and forms a fundamental principle of strong

risk management.

The Bank must determine its business strategy and

assess the risks to ensure the appropriate risk strategies

are put in place to give a greater level of assurance on

achieving its business strategy. 

The key elements of risk management and internal control system established by the

Board that provides effective governance and oversight of risks and internal controls

include:

Risk management has evolved into an important driver for strategic decisions in support

of business strategies while balancing the appropriate levels of risk taken to the desired

level of returns. To complement this, the Enterprise Risk Management Framework has

been established to institutionalise vigilance and awareness of the most significant risks to

the achievement of the most important objectives, i.e. to humanise financial services by

putting customers and the wider community at the heart of everything that the Bank does.

It is underpinned by a set of building blocks which serves as the foundation in driving a

strong risk management culture, encompassing practices and processes: 
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2. Internal control framework (cont'd.)

Risk Management And Internal Control System (cont'd.)

Risk management framework (cont'd.)

3. Risk Appetite 

4. Risk Response

5. Governance and 

Risk Oversight

6. Risk Management

Practices and 

Processes

7. Stress Test

8. Resources and

System 

Infrastructure

Ensure sufficient resources, infrastructure and

techniques are established to enable effective risk

management.

There is a clear, effective and robust governance

structure with well-defined, transparent and consistent

lines of responsibility.

Robust risk management processes are in place to

actively identify, measure, control, monitor and report

risks inherent in all products and activities undertaken by

the Bank.

Stress testing is used to identify and quantify possible

events or future changes in the financial and economic

condition that could have unfavourable effects on the

Bank’s exposure.

The risk appetite defines the types and levels of risk that

the Bank is willing to accept in pursuit of its business and

strategic goals.

Selection of the appropriate risk response is imperative

to align all risks with the Bank’s risk tolerance and risk

appetite.
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2. Internal control framework (cont'd.)

Risk Management And Internal Control System (cont'd.)

Risk appetite

Risk Governance and Oversight 

The governance model adopted by the Bank provides a formalised, transparent and

effective governance structure that promotes the active involvement of the Board and

senior management in the risk management process to ensure a uniform view of risks.

Our governance model places accountability and ownership in ensuring an appropriate

level of independence and segregation of duties between the three lines of defence. The

management of risk broadly takes place at different hierarchical levels and is emphasised

through various levels of committees, business lines, control and reporting functions.

Risk appetite is an integral component of the risk management framework and is driven

by both top-down Board leadership and bottom-up involvement of Management at all

levels. The risk appetite enables the Board and Senior Management to communicate and

assess the types and levels of risk that the Bank is willing to accept in pursuit of its

business and strategic goals while taking into consideration the constraints under a

stressed environment. The risk appetite defines our risk capacity and translates it into risk

limits and/or tolerances as guidance, which are then used to regularly measure and

evaluate our risk profile. 

The risk appetite is integrated into the strategic planning process, and remains dynamic

and responsive to the changing internal and external drivers such as market conditions,

stakeholders’ expectations and internal capabilities. In addition, the budgeting process is

aligned to the risk appetite in ensuring that projected revenues arising from business

transactions are consistent with the risk profiles established. The risk appetite also

provides a consistent structure in understanding risk and is embedded in day-to-day

business activities and decisions. 

Guided by these principles, our risk appetite is articulated through a set of Risk Appetite

Statements for all material risks to ultimately balance the strategic objectives of the Bank.
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2. Internal control framework (cont'd.)

Risk Management And Internal Control System (cont'd.)

Risk and Compliance Culture 

The risk and compliance culture is driven by a strong tone from the top and strengthened

by the tone from the middle which serves as the foundation upon which robust enterprise

wide risk management structure and governance are built. This is to ingrain the expected

values and principles of conduct that shape the behaviour and attitude of employees at all

levels of business and activity across the Bank. 

Risk and compliance policies are clearly defined, consistently communicated and

continuously reinforced throughout the Bank to embed a robust culture that cultivates

active identification, assessment and mitigation of risks. As part of the risk and

compliance culture, the Bank has instilled a culture where the Board, Senior Management

and employees are committed to adhere to the requirements of relevant laws, rules and

regulations. This commitment is clearly demonstrated through the establishment and

strengthening of policies, processes and controls in managing and preventing non-

compliances. 

Risk and compliance culture programmes are emplaced amongst others, value capsules,

induction programmes, engagement sessions, e-Learnings and roadshows. An integrated

assurance platform is also emplaced to provide a single, collective view of risk controls,

compliance and governance. This ensures that risk considerations are embraced by all

employees in enhancing customer experience, building trust and brand value of the Bank

for long-term sustainability of the organisation. 
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Risk Management And Internal Control System (cont'd.)

Risk management practices and processes

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

●

● Report the state of compliance to the Management level

and Board level risk committees as well as to the Board

on a regular basis.

Measure aggregate exposure of the Bank, individual

business and country, the risk types as well as the short

and long run impact of the exposures.

CONTROLS
Establish quantitative and qualitative controls including

risk limits and thresholds and triggers to oversee and

manage the risk exposures identified.

Implement risk mitigation techniques aimed to minimise

existing or in some instances to prevent new or emerging

risks from occurring.

MONITORING & 

REPORTING  

Monitor forward looking key risk indicators and early

warning signals to ensure that sufficient and timely action

is in place to mitigate any potential risk to the Bank.

IDENTIFICATION
Identify, understand and assess risks inherent in

products, activities and business initiatives.

Enable early detection of risk and ensure sound risk

management practices are in place to manage and

control product risk.

Adopt forward looking approach in identifying emerging

risk to ensure appropriate steps are taken to minimise

Bank’s exposure.

MEASUREMENT
Develop risk measurement techniques across different

dimensions of risk factors to ensure continual

reassessment and identification of risks.

The risk management practices and processes enable systematic identification,

measurement, control, monitoring and reporting of risk exposures across the Bank.
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Compliance framework 

The Framework outlines: 

● The overarching principles for the management of compliance risk; 

●

● The minimum expected standards for compliance risk management; and  

● The roles and responsibilities of compliance risk management across the Group. 

Compliance Oversight within MIB

Regulatory Management

Compliance Assessment

The Framework provides the key principles and guidelines for managing Compliance

Risk. It serves as a guide for Compliance function alongside Board of Directors, senior

management and all employees in understanding, complying and managing compliance

risk. It is adopted and implemented across by operating entities across the Group. 

The overall strategy in managing compliance risk to ensure uniformity in practices

across the Group in meeting regulatory and legal obligations; 

The Bank promotes a compliance culture that inculcates a sense of responsibility in our

employees to be in compliance with all relevant laws and regulations; while the business is

conducted ethically and we proactively play our part in maintaining public confidence in

the financial system. MIB Shariah Review and Compliance as the second line of defence

provides the oversight on the compliance matters within MIB, in terms of giving advice and

guidance, where appropriate.

DescriptionKey Roles

Provide guidance and advice on the proper application and

interpretation of regulatory requirements applicable to its

business lines including identifying gaps and appropriate

action plans.

Compliance assessment helps to identify the applicable

regulations that associated with the particular

projects/initiatives initiated by the Bank prior to the

implementation.
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Compliance Oversight within MIB (cont'd.)

Compliance Monitoring 

   and Mitigation

Compliance Reporting

Shariah Compliance 

Key Roles Description

In order to keep abreast with the changes in regulatory

requirements, it is important to maintain close ties with

domestic and foreign regulatory bodies to keep up-to-date

as and when there are changes with the requirements and

the industry best practice globally.

A key aspect of the role of compliance function is to assist

the Board, Shariah Committee and Senior Management in

discharging its oversight functions through management

reporting.   

Compliance issues including incidences of non-compliance

and deficiencies, corrective measures and information are

promptly updated in the monthly Compliance Report to

facilitate the Board, Shariah Committee and Senior

Management having a holistic and overall view of all

compliance matters across Group Islamic Banking.  

Conducts regular assessment on the compliance of the

operations, business, affairs and activities of the Bank with

Shariah requirements (under Shariah Review function).

MIB Shariah Review and Compliance will continue to enhance its capability to ensure that

new and existing regulations are complied with and expectations from regulators are met.
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Shariah Governance Framework

● 1st -

● 2nd - Shariah Risk and Shariah Review; and 

● 3rd -

Stress Test

Shariah Audit

The stress testing programme is embedded within risk and capital management process

and is also a key function of the business planning process. It serves as a forward looking

tool to facilitate the understanding of risk profiles under extreme but plausible events that

may be contributed by various factors such as economic, political and environmental as

well as to ascertain the impact to the Bank and how this can be proactively managed. 

The current initiative of an integrated stress testing application enhances stress testing

capabilities with on-demand generation of risk profiles under various scenarios.

Maybank Group Shariah Governance Framework sets out expectations for the effective

Shariah governance structures, processes and arrangements of all businesses that

execute Islamic business transactions. The framework was established in accordance with 

BNM's Shariah Governance Policy Document. This is to ensure that all of its operations

and business activities are in accordance with the Shariah principles as well as to provide

comprehensive guidance to the Board, Shariah Committee and Management in

discharging their duties in matters relating to Shariah. 

The Shariah Governance Framework reflects the responsibility of the Board,

Management, Shariah Committee and Shariah control functions, namely, Shariah Risk,

Shariah Review and Shariah Audit to ensure effective management of Shariah Non-

Compliance risks. The end-to-end Shariah-compliant governance mechanism is carried

out through three lines of defence that cater for both pre-execution and post-execution.

The three lines of defence are as follows: 

Business and Support Units, Shariah Management and Shariah Secretariat;
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Responsible Lending 

Cyber and technology risk management frameworks

Our long term financial success depends upon our ability to not only identify and address

environmental, social and governance ("ESG") issues that present risks to our business

but more importantly, to identify areas of opportunities for our businesses as well as our

customers to grow sustainably. With this, and premised on the guiding principles of ESG

risk management which are embedded in the Environmental, Social and Governance Risk

Management Framework (ESG Risk Management Framework), we continuously review

and enhance our ESG practices by working with our stakeholders to drive sustainable

business activities. As part of enhancing our ESG practices, the Bank takes a proactive

approach to incorporate ESG considerations into business processes in a meaningful way

by developing ESG Risk Acceptance Criteria for high ESG risk industries. ESG

interventions are managed by the ESG Industry Scrum teams, which work with industry

players and clients to promote understanding of the ESG impacts and identify

opportunities to integrate sustainability into clients' business practices.

The Cyber Risk Management Framework has been established based on the standards

issued by National Institute of Standards and Technology ("NIST") and guidance issued

by regulatory bodies which emphasise on identifying risks, building resilience, detecting

cyber threats and responding effectively to cyber related events. The framework

encompasses the cyber risk management strategy, governance structure and risk

management enablers. It complements the Technology Risk Management Framework

and covers both Business and Technology drivers from an end-to-end perspective,

focusing on the key layers of People, Process and Technology. 

The Technology Risk Management Framework sets out the standards for identifying the

risks and required controls in the organisation’s technology-related functionalities and for

taking the appropriate risk remedial actions. This is established to standardise the

technology operations environment, which will help to increase the level of service

delivered to customers as well as the business units. For both frameworks, separate

assessments have been established to measure compliance and identify gaps.

Additionally, an assessment has been established for outsourced vendor security controls

and practices.
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Internal Control System 

● Organisation Structure 

● Annual Business Plan and Budget  

● Oversight by Audit Committee of the Board 

The key elements of the internal control system established by the Board that provides

effective governance and oversight of internal controls include: 

The Board has established an organisation structure with clearly defined lines of

responsibility, authority limits and accountabilities, aligned with business and

operations requirements to support the maintenance of a strong control environment. 

The Board deliberates and approves the annual business plan and budget for the

year. The performance achievements are reviewed monthly against the targeted

results, allowing time for the appropriate responses and required remedial actions to

be taken. The Board regularly reviews reports from the management on key

operational statistics, as well as legal and regulatory matters. 

The ACB assists the Board in the execution of its governance and oversight

responsibilities, as well as to ensure that there is a reliable and transparent financial

reporting process within the Group. The responsibilities include assessment of the

adequacy and effectiveness of the Bank’s governance, risk management and internal

control system through the Internal Audit function. The ACB has active oversight of

the independence, scope of work and resources of the Internal Audit. The ACB

meets periodically to review audit and investigation reports prepared by Internal

Audit, taking into consideration the corresponding Internal Audit Committee ("IAC")’s

deliberation of the same report. Significant control lapses are escalated by the ACB

to the Board for further deliberation, where necessary. As for the unresolved audit

findings, the ACB deliberates on them and ensure that the management undertakes

the necessary remedial actions within the committed timeline.
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Internal Control System (cont'd.)

● Oversight by Risk Management Committee 

● Oversight by Compliance Committee of the Board 

The Board is assisted by the Compliance Committee of the Board ("CCB") in the

oversight of compliance risk. The overall objective of the CCB is to ensure that

compliance risk management is given the needed attention at the highest level to

ensure regulatory compliance risk is effectively managed to support business growth

in line with the Bank’s aspirations and risk appetite. The role of the CCB, amongst

others, is to review and assess the adequacy of infrastructure, resources and

systems to manage compliance risk across the Bank and recommend improvement

to ensure effectiveness of the compliance framework.

Further information on the roles and responsibilities of the CCB can be found in the

Corporate Governance Report ("CG Report") which is available on Maybank’s

corporate website at www.maybank.com.

The key elements of the internal control system established by the Board that provides

effective governance and oversight of internal controls include (cont'd.): 

The Board has delegated the risk oversight responsibility to the Risk Management

Committee ("RMC"). The committee is responsible for formulating policies and

frameworks to identify, measure, monitor, manage and control the material risk

components impacting the businesses. The effectiveness of the risk management

system is monitored and evaluated by the Risk Management function at the Entity

and Group level on an on-going basis.
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Internal Control System (cont'd.)

● Other Board Committees 

● Executive Level Management Committees 

● Management of Information Assets 

There are other Board level Committees that assist the Board in executing its overall

governance responsibilities and oversight function. They are the Board Investment

Committee, as well as Maybank Group Board level Committees i.e. Credit Review

Committee, Board Sustainability Committee, and Nomination and Remuneration

Committee. These Committees are authorised to examine all matters within the

scope defined in their respective terms of reference.

The key elements of the internal control system established by the Board that provides

effective governance and oversight of internal controls include (cont'd.): 

There are various Executive Level Management Committees ("ELC"s) assisting and

supporting the various Board Committees in overseeing the core areas of business

operations and controls. These ELCs include the Group Executive Committee, Group

Client Onboarding and Review Committee, Group Management Credit Committee,

Group Executive Risk Committee, Group Asset and Liability Management

Committee, EXCO Sustainability Committee,Group Non-Financial Risk Committee,

Group Procurement and Property Committee, Group IT Steering Committee, Group

Transformation Steering Committee, Group Internal Audit Committee, Group Staff

Committee and Whistleblowing Governance Committee.

Confidentiality, integrity and availability of information are critical to the day-to-day

operations and to facilitate management decision-making. The Group Information

Risk Management Guidelines outline the guiding principles for an effective

management of information assets. All information must be properly managed,

controlled and protected as guided by these information handling rules which are also

within the Cyber and Technology Risk Management Frameworks. 

49



Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Corporate governance (cont'd.)

2. Internal control framework (cont'd.)

Risk Management And Internal Control System (cont'd.)

Internal Control System (cont'd.)

● Management of Information Assets (cont'd.)

● Sustainability Management 

(1)

(2)

(3)

With the increased adoption of technology capabilities and the increasing risk of

cyber threats, information security has been among the key focus areas. Technology

controls are applied at various stages of the information cycle. Amongst the controls

is Data Loss Protection to protect and prevent the potential of data loss or theft. 

Technology infrastructure and security controls continue to be strengthened and

monitored as the Bank embraces mobile work arrangements following COVID-19

pandemic outbreak. Clear desk policy is reinforced in the primary, alternative or

mobile work arrangement site(s) to protect confidential and proprietary information.

Premised on the mission of Humanising Financial Services, the Group has

established the Maybank Group Sustainability Framework to serve as the

overarching document outlining the sustainability mission, principles, goals, targets,

governance and approach to all our activities. It is supported by other policies and

procedures which represent the values we uphold. The framework reflects the six key

principles and four commitments which are entwined with the 2025 Strategy, whereby

sustainability is one of the Group’s three strategic priorities. The sustainability

strategy covers three key pillars, which are: Responsible Transition; Enabling Our

Communities with a Vision of the Future; and Our House is in Order and We Walk

the Talk. This involves: 

Enabling the transition to a low-carbon economy and balancing environmental

and social imperatives with stakeholders’ expectation;

Building community resilience across ASEAN and undertaking responsive action

to promote economic development and social well-being; and

Leading by example with good management practices and ensuring that the

ESG strategy is based on a strong foundation.

The key elements of the internal control system established by the Board that provides

effective governance and oversight of internal controls include (cont'd.): 
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Internal Control System (cont'd.)

● Sustainability Management (cont'd.)

●

● Standard Practice Instruction 

Policies and procedures are in place to ensure compliance with internal controls and

the prescribed laws and regulations. These policies and procedures are set out in the

Group’s Standard Practice Instructions ("SPI"s) and are updated from time to time in

accordance with changes to the business environment or regulatory guidelines.

These SPIs are published on the communication portal, which is made available to all

employees. 

Regular Updates and Communication of Risk Management Principles, Policies,

Procedures and Practices 

Risk management principles, policies, procedures and practices are reviewed and

updated regularly to ensure relevance to the current business environment as well as

compliance with current/applicable laws and regulations. MIB has a dedicated risk

management function to facilitate establishment and review of these documents and

ensure their implementation within the Bank. 

In line with our effort to solidify our commitment and seriousness towards embedding

sustainability in everything that we do, the Group has also established the EXCO

Sustainability Committee which is chaired by the Group President & CEO.

Concurrently, the Board Sustainability Committee, chaired by our Group Chairman,

has been set up to oversee the Group’s overall strategy on sustainability and review

the effectiveness of the strategies and practices in place.

The key elements of the internal control system established by the Board that provides

effective governance and oversight of internal controls include (cont'd.): 

51



Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Corporate governance (cont'd.)

2. Internal control framework (cont'd.)

Risk Management And Internal Control System (cont'd.)

Internal Control System (cont'd.)

● Maybank Group People Policies 

The Maybank Group People Policies ("MGPP") serves as a baseline with clarity on

the philosophy and principles for people management and development in the Group.

It incorporates key principles and philosophies that support the Group’s mission of

Humanising Financial Services. The MGPP consists of a set of policies and

guidelines that govern all aspects of human resource management, from talent

acquisition and development, performance and consequence management and code

of conduct to cessation of employment. A Disciplinary Policy is also established to

provide a structure where disciplinary matters are dealt with fairly, consistently and in

line with the prevailing labour laws and employment regulations. 

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and as a requirement by Business Continuity

Management ("BCM") in anticipation of future pandemics, Maybank has introduced a

Mobile Work Arrangement Policy. The policy reflects the overall mobile working

arrangement that will enable the organisation to balance its objectives of achieving a

highly productive and harmonious work environment that is responsive to the

changing professional and personal needs of today’s workforce, while taking into

account business and organisational needs to ensure business continuity and

sustainability. The policy enables employees to work from home, on-site and at split

locations. It is a bilateral agreement between Maybank and the employees which

offers mutually-beneficial outcomes for both parties. Various controls and

engagements are put in place to actively manage and ensure employees under the

Mobile Work Arrangement continue to be supported. Being a disciplined and tracked

arrangement, employees are assigned an agreed Management Model which includes

agreed expectations and outcomes, minimum weekly scheduled physical/virtual

check-ins and performance updates reflected in the myHR2u Conversation Log.

The key elements of the internal control system established by the Board that provides

effective governance and oversight of internal controls include (cont'd.): 
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Internal Control System (cont'd.)

● Core Values and Code of Ethics and Conduct 

● Fraud Management 

● Reputational Risk Management  

MIB observes the Islamic code and values. The Shariah is the overarching principle

steering the Bank at all times in all its businesses and operations. In addition, the

Maybank Group’s core values, T.I.G.E.R. (Teamwork, Integrity, Growth, Excellence

and Efficiency, Relationship Building) are the essential guiding principles to drive

behavioural ethics while fulfilling our collective responsibility to serve our mission of

Humanising Financial Services. It is further complemented by the Code of Ethics and

Conduct that sets out sound principles and standards of good practice observed by

all.

The Bank instils a culture of vigilance amongst employees in handling and combating

fraud as well as to deter future occurrences. Robust and comprehensive tools/

infrastructure and programmes are emplaced to ensure risks resulting from fraud are

identified, escalated/reported and managed in a decisive and timely manner. Stern

disciplinary action is taken against employees involved in fraud.

The Bank adopts a holistic approach and sound governance in managing

reputational risk and to institutionalise awareness and its consequences. Protecting

our reputation is paramount to operating as an institution providing financial services.

Upholding trust and creating better customer experience and security are vital parts

of our obligations as a financial institution. Hence, policy is in placed with roles and

responsibilities of key stakeholders and processes, such as monitoring of social

media sentiment, to facilitate an effective reputational risk management and

monitoring of risk exposures to be within the risk appetite.

The key elements of the internal control system established by the Board that provides

effective governance and oversight of internal controls include (cont'd.): 
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Internal Control System (cont'd.)

● Whistleblowing Policy  

● Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy  

● Financial Crime Compliance  

The Bank is committed to fight financial crimes and ensure compliance with the

relevant laws and regulations. Financial crime risks are managed to protect the

integrity and reputation of the Bank. The Bank has established comprehensive

controls to anticipate, prevent, detect and respond to money laundering terrorist

financing and sanctions risks.

The key elements of the internal control system established by the Board that provides

effective governance and oversight of internal controls include (cont'd.): 

The Bank is committed to the highest standard of ethics and integrity in its conduct of

business and operations. Maybank Group Whistleblowing Policy and Procedures

encapsulates the governance and standards to promote an ethical, responsible and

secure whistleblowing practice in the Bank in line with the requirements of BNM’s

Corporate Governance Policy. The Policy and Procedures provides a proper and

secured avenue for the employees and members of the public to report any

knowledge of improper conduct in good faith, without fearing any adverse

consequences.

The access to whistleblowing information is governed with strictest confidentiality

under the oversight of an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Board.

The Bank adopts a zero tolerance approach against all forms of bribery and

corruption in carrying out its daily operations. Maybank Group complies with the

Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2009, as well as other laws and

regulations in the countries where we operate. The Maybank Group Anti-Bribery &

Corruption Policy and Procedures sets out the guiding principles for the Bank to

address and manage bribery and corruption risks in all its dealings within and outside

the Bank. 
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Internal Control System (cont'd.)

● Independent Assurance by Internal Audit   

The key elements of the internal control system established by the Board that provides

effective governance and oversight of internal controls include (cont'd.): 

The Board established the IA function to provide independent assurance on the

adequacy and effectiveness of risk management, control, anti-corruption,

whistleblowing and governance processes. The IA function is independent of the

activities and operations of other operating units within the Group. It is led by the

Group Chief Audit Executive, who reports functionally to the ACB and administratively

to the Group President & Chief Executive Officer ("GPCEO"). IA processes and

activities are guided by the Audit Charter and governed by relevant regulatory

guidelines, the Group’s Code of Ethics and mandatory guidance established under

the International Professional Practices Framework by The Institute of Internal

Auditors ("The IIA").
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Rewards and remuneration

We ensure our remuneration and rewards philosophy, that is aligned with the Group’s

strategies and shareholder's interest, fosters a performance-oriented and prudent risk

management culture to deliver long-term sustainable returns and strong results. In place is a

comprehensive Total Rewards system, which is a strategic human capital sustainability

component of the integrated Talent Management framework, that guides us to effect “Reward

Right” principles to drive positive outcomes and deliver exponential business results

responsibly. The system not only supports Maybank Group’s strategy and business plan, it is

also critical to improving employees productivity and engagement. By focusing on the right

compensation, benefits and development support, it inspires our employees to achieve their

personal and professional aspirations.

To uphold our Environment, Social and Governance ("ESG") commitments, ESG is

embedded in various aspects of our Total Rewards management through proper governance,

performance measurement standards and prudent risk management considerations.

Governed by sound principles, our remuneration policies and practices are reviewed

periodically to ensure alignment with regulatory requirements and to reinforce a high-

performance culture. The aim is to attract, motivate and retain talents through market

competitiveness and responsible values.

Internal

Group strategy

Culture & Values

Human Capital 

Strategy

External 

Social Norm

Regulatory

Labor Market

TOTAL REWARDS 
STRATEGY

Outcome

Employee 
Experience and 

Engagement

Business 
Performance & 

Results

Attract
Motivate

Retain Engage

Influences

Compensation

Benefits

Wellbeing

Recognition

Development & 

Career Progression
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Components of remuneration

i)   

   

● ● ●

● ●

●

Fixed Pay
Variable Pay

Attract and retain talent 

by providing 

competitive and 

equitable level of pay.

Reviewed annually on 

a holistic approach 

through internal and 

external benchmarking 

against relevant peers 

/locations, with 

consideration of market 

dynamics, individual 

responsibilities, 

functions/roles, 

performance level, 

skillset, as well as 

competency level.

Long-term Incentive Variable Bonus

Reinforce a pay-for-performance 

culture and adherence to 

Maybank Group’s Core Values, 

T.I.G.E.R.

Variable cash award design that 

is aligned with long-term 

performance goals of the Group 

through our deferral and claw-

back policies.

Based on the overall 

performance of the Group, 

business/corporate function and 

individual.

Comprises a significant 

component of senior 

management’s total 

compensation with the 

intent to drive 

sustainable, longer-term 

risk management and to 

meet Maybank Group’s 

M25+ Strategy. 

MIB embrace a holistic Total Rewards Framework comprising Total Compensation, Benefits

& Well-Being, Recognition and Development & Career Opportunities.

Total compensation: 

MIB Compensation Policy ensures employees are paid equitable to the market.

Differentiated compensation levels that are competitive to the market through annual

salary review, variable bonus and long term incentive plan (for eligible senior

management and above) are awarded to retain, motivate and reward our talents.

Total Compensation is based on two components, Fixed Pay and Variable Pay (i.e.

Variable Bonus and Long-term Incentive Award), with targeted Pay Mix levels designed

to align with the long-term performance goals and objectives of the organisation. The

compensation framework provides a balanced approach between fixed and variable

components that change according to the performance of the Bank, business/corporate

function and individual.
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Components of remuneration (cont'd.)

i)   

●

●

Clawback Provision: 

●

Total compensation (cont'd.): 

Fixed Pay
Variable Pay

Any Variable Bonus in excess of certain thresholds will be

deferred over a period of time. A deferred Variable Bonus will

lapse immediately upon termination of employment (including

resignation) except in the event of ill health, disability,

redundancy, retirement or death.

Maybank’s Board has the right to make adjustments or

clawbacks to any Variable Bonus or Long-Term Incentive

Award if deemed appropriate based on risk management

issues, financial misstatement, fraud, gross negligence or

wilful misconduct. This provision was further strengthened in

2020 to ensure the highest level of rewards governance.

Variable Bonus Long-term Incentive 

Deferral Policy: 

Premised on the Balanced 

Scorecard (BSC) approach 

(comprising of financial and non-

financial KPIs) that is tailored to 

drive the desired behaviour and 

performance levels in creating 

long-term shareholder value. 

Aligned with the risk 

management and long-term 

performance goals of the Group 

through our deferral and claw-

back policies.
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Components of remuneration (cont'd.)

ii)  

iii) 

In line with our strong learning culture, we continued to deploy best-in-class learning and

development programmes to nurture our employees at all levels for long-term relevance,

competitive advantage and growth.

Long-term incentive award 

Employees’ Shares Grant Plan 

In December 2018, Maybank rolled out the Employees’ Share Grant Plan ("ESGP") under the

Long-Term Incentive Award to replace a previous scheme that expired in June 2018. The

ESGP, valid for seven years, serves as a long-term incentive for eligible talents and senior

management.

Vesting eligibility of the ESGP is subject to fulfilment of the ESGP vesting conditions as well

as upon meeting the performance criteria at the Maybank Group and individual levels. The

first ESGP Award that was granted in December 2018 has vested in December 2021 whilst

the second ESGP Award granted in September 2019 was vested in September 2022. The

third and fourth ESGP Award will be vested in 2023 and 2024 respectively. The last tranche

of the ESGP Award (i.e. fifth ESGP Award) which was granted in September 2022 will vest in

2025.  There will be no subsequent awards under the current ESGP.

Employees are encouraged to assume personal ownership of their development by

upgrading their skills and taking on stretch assignments as well as expanded

responsibilities.

Development and career opportunities

Benefits & Well-being

Employee benefits are an integral component of our Total Rewards management, along

with integrating ESG values and M25+ objectives. Maybank’s benefits programme, which

provides financial protection, health care benefits, paid time-off, employee financing at

preferential rates and other benefits that support work-life integration, are reviewed

periodically to assess competitive practices and evolving benefits trend characterised by

the rapidly changing business environment. We embrace a more holistic way of work,

including sustainability priorities, that encompasses physical and mental/emotional well-

being, financial social, and career.
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Corporate governance (cont'd.)

3. Remuneration (cont'd.)

The remuneration of Senior Officers and OMRTs are reviewed annually and submitted to the

Nomination and Remuneration Committee for recommendation to the Board for approval.  

Senior Officers and Other Material Risk Takers 

Governance and controls – remuneration practice

We maintain strong corporate governance practices with remuneration policies and practices

that comply with all statutory and regulatory requirements, and are strengthened by sound

risk management and controls, ensuring remuneration practices are carried out responsibly.

The Bank has strong internal governance on the performance and remuneration of control

functions which are measured and assessed independently of the business units to avoid any

conflict of interest. The remuneration of employees in control functions are predominantly

fixed to reflect the nature of their responsibilities. Annual reviews of their compensation are

benchmarked internally and against the market to ensure they are competitive.

Based on sound Performance Management principles, our Key Performance Indicators

("KPIs") continue to focus on outcomes and are aligned with our business plans. Each of the

Senior Officers and Other Material Risk Takers ("OMRTs") carries Risk, Governance and

Compliance goals in his/her individual scorecards which are cascaded accordingly. The right

KPI setting continues to shape our organisational culture while driving risk and compliance

agendas effectively. Inputs from control functions and Board Committees are incorporated

into the respective functional area and individual performance results.

In line with the Group’s remuneration strategy to drive long-term sustainable goals to

maximise shareholder value, a new Long-Term Incentive Plan is targeted to be rolled-out in

2023 for subsequent awards in 2023 onwards. The new plan and will run concurrently with

the existing plan until its expiry in 2025. 

Long-term incentive award (cont'd.)

Employees’ Shares Grant Plan (cont'd.)
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3. Remuneration (cont'd.)

- Cash-based

Variable remuneration

- Cash-based

- Shares and share-linked instruments*

- Cash-based

Variable remuneration

- Cash-based

- Shares and share-linked instruments*

Definition Senior Officers of the Identified Entities & Senior Officers of BNM regulated

Companies refers to Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), Direct Report to the

CEOs, Chief Financial Officer; Chief Risk Officer, Chief Compliance Officer;

Chief Audit Executive and Company Secretary.

OMRTs are defined as employees who can materially commit or control

significant amounts of a financial institution’s resources, or whose actions are

likely to have a significant impact on its risk profile, or those among the most

highly remunerated officers.

558,000                        -                         

-                         85,700^

Fixed remuneration

401,030                        -                         

Total value of remuneration awards for the 

financial year

OMRTs

Unrestricted Deferred

RM RM

2,885,175                     -                         

888,352^ -                         

Fixed remuneration

7,454,362                     -                         

The remuneration of Maybank Islamic’s Senior Officers and OMRTs in financial year ended

31 December 2022 is summarised in the table below:

Total value of remuneration awards for the 

financial year

Senior Officers^

Unrestricted Deferred

RM RM

Senior Officers and Other Material Risk Takers (cont'd.)

61



Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Corporate governance (cont'd.)

3. Remuneration (cont'd.)

Notes:

*

^

In FY2022, a total of 300,000 and 19,000 units of Maybank shares (for On Target

performance levels) under Maybank Group Employees’ Share Grant Plan ("ESGP")/Cash-

settled Employees’ Share Grant Plan ("CESGP") were awarded to 15 Senior Officers and

1 OMRT respectively. The number of ESGP/CESGP units to be vested/paid by 2025 is

conditional upon the said employees fulfilling the vesting/payment criteria.

A total of 113,600 units of ESGP/CESGP granted in December 2019 were vested to 15

Senior Officers (103,600 units) and 1 OMRT (10,000 units) in December 2022. ESGP

values is based on statutory guidelines for taxable gains calculation and CESGP value is

based on volume weighted average market price ("VWAMP") for the five (5) market days

immediately preceding the CESGP vesting date.

Senior Officers and Other Material Risk Takers (cont'd.)

The remuneration of Maybank Islamic’s Senior Officers and OMRTs in financial year ended

31 December 2022 is summarised in the table below (cont'd.): 
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Shariah Committee's report

In the name of Allah, the Most Compassionate, the Most Merciful

We are of the opinion that: 

(a) 

(b)

We have provided the Shariah advisory services on various aspects to the Bank in order to

ensure compliance with applicable Shariah principles as well as the relevant resolutions and

rulings made by the Shariah Advisory Councils of the regulatory bodies.

The Bank has carried out Shariah audit performed by the Internal Audit Division and Shariah

review by the Shariah Review and Compliance department throughout the organisation and the

reports were deliberated in the Committee meetings. The Bank has organised a region-wide

Shariah training program to enhance Shariah compliance awareness throughout the

organisation.

The Bank’s management is responsible for ensuring that the Bank conducts its business in

accordance with Shariah rules and principles. It is our responsibility to form an independent

opinion, based on our review of the operations of the Bank and to report to you.

The new products, business initiatives and enhanced processes introduced by the Bank

during the year ended 31 December 2022, that we have reviewed are in compliance with

the Shariah rules and principles;

Subject to paragraph (e) below, the contracts, transactions and dealings entered into by

the Bank during the year ended 31 December 2022, that we have reviewed are in

compliance with the Shariah rules and principles;

All praise is due to Allah, the Cherisher of the Worlds, and peace and blessings be upon the

Prophet of Allah, on his family and all his companions.

'Assalamualaikum warahmatullahi wabarakatuh'

To the shareholder, depositors and customers of Maybank Islamic Berhad ("the Bank"):

We, the members of the Shariah Committee of the Bank ("the Committee”), do hereby confirm

that we have reviewed the principles and the contracts relating to the transactions and

applications introduced by the Bank from 1 January 2022 until 31 December 2022. During the

year, the Committee had convened 28 times inclusive of 4 special meetings and all members

have satisfied the minimum attendance requirement required as per paragraph 11.4 of the

BNM's Shariah Governance Policy Document which requires a Committee member to attend

personally at least 75% of the Committee meetings held in each financial year, where all

members had achieved 100% for attendance. 
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Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022

Note 2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Assets

Cash and short-term funds 5 15,092,586     12,123,992     

Deposits and placements with banks and other 

   financial institutions 6 5,329,880       3,000,157       

Financial assets purchased under resale 

   agreements 7(i) 2,121,695       10,420,749     

Financial investments at fair value through profit 

   or loss 8(i) 309,504          784,302          

Financial investments at fair value through other   

   comprehensive income 8(ii) 15,645,983     15,082,779     

Financial investments at amortised cost 8(iii) 27,461,699     22,867,781     

Financing and advances 9 214,379,623   192,465,717   

Derivative assets 10 263,763          117,420          

Other assets 11 5,150,765       4,804,475       

Statutory deposit with Bank Negara Malaysia 12 3,505,736       20,447            

Property, plant and equipment 13 341                 546                 

Right-of-use assets 14 7,279              6,126              

Deferred tax assets 20 288,433          190,616          

Total assets 289,557,287   261,885,107   

Liabilities

Customers' funding:

 - Deposits from customers 15 209,783,463   179,514,918   

 - Investment accounts of customers
1

16 25,637,702     28,720,799     

Deposits and placements of banks and other 

   financial institutions 17 23,597,506     24,186,628     

Obligations on financial assets sold under

   repurchase agreements 7(ii) 461,081          -                     

Bills and acceptances payable 32,569            19,561            

Derivative liabilities 10 384,674          177,545          

Other liabilities 18 2,654,948       1,521,121       

Provision for taxation and zakat 19 138,207          27,544            

Term funding 21 9,421,202       10,923,177     

Subordinated sukuk 22 2,021,893       2,021,814       

Capital securities 23 1,002,347       1,002,441       

Total liabilities 275,135,592   248,115,548   

1

   

Investment accounts of customers are used to fund financing and advances as disclosed in

Note 9.

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the

financial statements.
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Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022 (cont'd.)

Note 2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Equity attributable to equity holder of the Bank

   

Share capital 24 11,029,955     10,322,374     

Retained profits 25 2,655,423       3,247,267       

Other reserves 25 736,317          199,918          

14,421,695     13,769,559     

Total liabilities and shareholder's equity 289,557,287   261,885,107   

Restricted investment accounts managed by 

   the Bank 16 30,552,966     30,147,795     

Total Islamic banking assets owned and managed

   by the Bank 320,110,253   292,032,902   

Commitments and contingencies 40 80,496,780     83,982,957     

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the

financial statements.
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Income statement

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Note 2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Income derived from investment of 

   depositors' funds 26 9,534,723       8,811,464       

Income derived from investment of 

   investment account funds 27 1,092,610       951,680          

Income derived from investment of 

   shareholder's funds 28 501,316          506,671          

Allowances for impairment losses

   on financing and advances, net 29 (379,482)         (524,543)         

(Allowances for)/writeback of impairment losses

   on financial investments, net 30 (881)               241,111          

Writeback of/(allowances for) impairment losses

   on other financial assets, net 31 6,285              (5,629)            

Total distributable income 10,754,571     9,980,754       

Profit share income from investment accounts 191,943          85                   

Profit distributed to depositors 32 (3,526,754)      (3,472,144)      

Profit distributed to investment account holders (353,015)         (289,503)         

Total net income 7,066,745       6,219,192       

Overhead expenses 33 (2,103,916)      (1,660,118)      

Finance cost 35 (428,760)         (409,401)         

Profit before taxation and zakat 4,534,069       4,149,673       

Taxation 36 (1,474,819)      (1,007,119)      

Zakat (26,329)          (25,533)          

Profit for the year 3,032,921       3,117,021       

Earnings per share attributable to equity holder 

of the Bank - basic/diluted (sen) 37 691.7              808.4              

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the

financial statements.
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Statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Note 2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Profit for the year 3,032,921       3,117,021       

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified subsequently 

to profit or loss

Net loss on foreign exchange translation (140)               (451)               

Net loss on financial investments at 

   fair value through other comprehensive 

   income (247,101)         (567,768)         

    - Net loss from change in fair value (329,549)         (744,977)         

    - Changes in expected credit losses 3,356              (1,585)            

    - Income tax effect 20 79,092            178,794          

Other comprehensive loss for the

   financial year, net of tax (247,241)         (568,219)         

Total comprehensive income for the 

   year, net of tax 2,785,680       2,548,802       

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Equity holder of the Bank 2,785,680       2,548,802       

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the

financial statements.
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Distributable

Equity Fair value

contribution through other

from the comprehensive Exchange

Share holding income Regulatory fluctuation Retained Total

capital company reserve reserve reserve profits equity

(Note 24) (Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 25)

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 2022 10,322,374  1,697             77,255                121,014        (48)                  3,247,267      13,769,559   

Profit for the year -                   -                     -                          -                   -                      3,032,921      3,032,921     

Other comprehensive loss -                   -                     (247,101)             -                   (140)                -                    (247,241)       
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 

   for the year -                   -                     (247,101)             -                   (140)                3,032,921      2,785,680     

Transfer to regulatory reserve -                   -                     -                          783,640        -                      (783,640)       -                    

Issue of ordinary shares (Note 24) 707,581       -                     -                          -                   -                      -                    707,581        

Dividend on ordinary shares (Note 38) -                   -                     -                          -                   -                      (2,841,125)    (2,841,125)    

Total transactions with shareholder/

   other equity movements 707,581       -                     -                          783,640        -                      (3,624,765)    (2,133,544)    

At 31 December 2022 11,029,955  1,697             (169,846)             904,654        (188)                2,655,423      14,421,695   

<--------------------------- Non-distributable ----------------------------->
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 (cont'd.)

Distributable

Equity Fair value

contribution through other

from the comprehensive Exchange

Share holding income Regulatory fluctuation Retained Total

capital company reserve reserve reserve profits equity

(Note 24) (Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 25)

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 2021 7,929,444    1,697             645,023              594,474        403                 2,756,457      11,927,498   

Profit for the year -                   -                     -                          -                   -                      3,117,021      3,117,021     

Other comprehensive loss -                   -                     (567,768)             -                   (451)                -                    (568,219)       

Total comprehensive (loss)/income

   for the year -                   -                     (567,768)             -                   (451)                3,117,021      2,548,802     

Transfer from regulatory reserve -                   -                     -                          (473,460)      -                      473,460         -                    

Issue of ordinary shares (Note 24) 2,392,930    -                     -                          -                   -                      -                    2,392,930     

Dividend on ordinary shares (Note 38) -                   -                     -                          -                   -                      (3,099,671)    (3,099,671)    

Total transactions with shareholder/

   other equity movements 2,392,930    -                     -                          (473,460)      -                      (2,626,211)    (706,741)       

At 31 December 2021 10,322,374  1,697             77,255                121,014        (48)                  3,247,267      13,769,559   

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

<--------------------------- Non-distributable ----------------------------->
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Cash flows from operating activities 

Profit before taxation and zakat 4,534,069     4,149,673      

Adjustments for:

   Amortisation of premiums, net 79,973          55,478           

   Allowances for impairment losses on financing 

      and advances, net 494,598        598,721         

   Allowances for/(writeback of) impairment losses on 

      financial investments, net 881               (241,111)       

   (Writeback of)/allowances for impairment losses on other  

      financial assets, net (6,285)           5,629             

   Modification loss on contractual cash flows arising from

      financial assets -                    106,838         

   Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 277               446                

   Depreciation of right-of-use assets 3,150            2,503             

   Finance cost on lease liabilities 239               297                

   Unrealised gains on revaluation of derivatives (1,075)           (1,456)           

   Unrealised losses/(gains) on revaluation of financial

investments at fair value through profit or loss 1,305            (1,417)           

   Gains on disposal of financial investments at fair value

through other comprehensive income (23,200)         (73,199)         

   Gains on disposal of financial investments at fair 

value through profit or loss (4,685)           (2,819)           

   Gains on redemption of financial investments

     at amortised cost -                    (889)              

   (Gains)/losses on foreign exchange translations (102,374)       11,183           

   ESGP expenses 2,703            2,903             

   Finance cost 428,760        409,401         

   Operating profit before working capital changes 5,408,336     5,022,181      

   Change in deposits and placements with banks 

and other financial institutions (2,329,723)    (3,000,157)     

   Change in financial assets purchased under 

     resale agreements 8,305,339     (6,800,767)     

   Change in financial investments portfolio (4,343,238)    (9,706,258)     

   Change in financing and advances (23,533,230)  (14,329,256)   

   Change in derivative assets and liabilities 61,860          (209,418)       

   Change in other assets (522,175)       (2,427,278)     

   Change in statutory deposit with Bank Negara Malaysia (3,485,289)    (7,856)           

   Change in deposits from customers 30,268,545   14,246,672    

Brought forward 9,830,425     (17,212,137)   
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Carried forward 9,830,425     (17,212,137)   

   Change in deposits and placements of banks and

other financial institutions 124,152        14,916,552    

   Change in investment accounts of customers (3,289,134)    5,515,840      

   Change in obligations on financial assets sold under 

     repurchase agreements 461,081        -                    

   Change in bills and acceptances payable 13,008          (18,525)         

   Change in other liabilities 1,134,273     1,181,684      

Cash generated from operating activities 8,273,805     4,383,414      

Taxes and zakat paid (1,237,764)    (1,052,569)     

Net cash generated from operating activities 7,036,041     3,330,845      

Cash flows from investing activities 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (151)              (15)                

Net cash used in investing activities (151)              (15)                

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of shares 707,581        2,392,930      

Dividend paid on ordinary shares (2,841,125)    (3,099,671)     

Dividend paid for capital securities (49,500)         (49,500)         

Dividend paid for subordinated sukuk (73,921)         (82,647)         

Redemption of term funding (1,500,000)    (2,270)           

Dividend paid for term funding (307,329)       (253,354)       

Repayment of lease liabilities (3,002)           (2,843)           

Net cash used in financing activities (4,067,296)    (1,097,355)     

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,968,594     2,233,475      

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 12,123,992   9,890,517      

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 15,092,586   12,123,992    

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Cash and short term funds (Note 5) 15,092,586   12,123,992    
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Notes to the financial statements - 31 December 2022

1.   Corporate information

2.   Accounting policies

2.1   Basis of preparation and presentation of the financial statements

The Bank is a public limited liability company, incorporated on 5 September 2007 and

domiciled in Malaysia. The registered office of the Bank is located at 15th Floor, Tower A

Dataran Maybank, 1, Jalan Maarof, 59000 Kuala Lumpur.

The Bank is principally engaged in the business of Islamic Banking and the provision of

related financial services. There were no significant changes in these activities during the

financial year.

The holding company of the Bank is Malayan Banking Berhad (“Maybank”), a licensed bank

incorporated in Malaysia and listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance

with a resolution of the directors on 27 February 2023.

The financial statements of the Bank has been prepared in accordance with the

Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting

Standards ("IFRS"), and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.

The financial statements of the Bank has been prepared under the historical cost basis

unless otherwise indicated in the summary of significant accounting policies disclosed in

Note 2.2.

The Bank presents the statement of financial position in the order of liquidity. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amounts are reported in the

statement of financial position of the Bank only when there is a legally enforceable right

to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to

realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. Income and expenses are not

offset in the income statement of the Bank unless required or permitted by an accounting

standard or interpretation, and as specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the

Bank.

The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”) and all values are

rounded to the nearest thousand (RM’000), unless otherwise stated.
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2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies

(i)

(a) Date of recognition

(b) Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

i) Business model 

• 

• 

• 

• 

All financial assets are initially recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that

the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

This includes regular way trades, purchases or sales of financial assets that

require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or

convention in the market place.

All financial assets are measured initially at their fair value plus directly

attributable transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets recorded

at fair value through profit or loss. 

The Bank classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for

managing the assets and the asset's contractual cash flow characteristics.

The Bank determines its business model at the level that best reflects

how groups of financial assets are managed to achieve its business

objective.

The Bank does not assess the business model on an instrument-by-

instrument basis, but at a higher level of aggregated portfolios and is

based on observable factors such as:

The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the

financial assets held within that business model) and, in particular,

the way those risks are managed;

How managers of the business are compensated (for example,

whether the compensation is based on the fair value of the assets

managed or on the contractual cash flows collected); and

The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also

important aspects of the Bank’s assessment.

How the performance of the portfolio and the financial assets held

within that business model are evaluated and reported to the key

management personnel;

Financial assets  
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2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(i)

(b) Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (cont'd.)

i) Business model (cont'd.)

ii) The solely payments of principal and profit ("SPPP") test

‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the

financial asset at initial recognition and may change over the life of the

financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or

amortisation of the premium/discount).

The most significant elements of profit within a financing arrangement

are typically the consideration for the time value of money and credit risk.

The Bank applies judgement and consider relevant factors such as the

currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for

which the profit rate is set in assessing the SPPP.

Financial assets (cont'd.)

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected

scenarios without taking 'worst case' or 'stress case’ scenarios into

account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way that is

different from the Bank's original expectations, the Bank does not

change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that

business model, but incorporate such information when assessing newly

originated or newly purchased financial assets going forward.

Upon determination of business model, the Bank will assess the

contractual terms of financial assets to identify whether they meet the

SPPP test.

In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis

exposure to risks or volatility in the contractual cash flows that are

unrelated to a basic financing arrangement do not give rise to contractual 

cash flows that are SPPP on the amount outstanding. In such cases, the

financial asset is required to be measured at fair value through profit or

loss.
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2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(i)

(b) Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (cont'd.)

• 

• 

• 

(1)

• 

• 

(2)

• 

• 

Fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI"), as

explained in Note 2.2(i)(b)(2); and

Fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL"), as explained in Note

2.2(i)(b)(3).

Financial assets at amortised cost

The Bank measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the

following conditions are met:

The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective

to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified

dates to cash flows that are SPPP on the principal amount

outstanding.

Financial assets (cont'd.)

Included in financial assets are the following:

Amortised cost, as explained in Note 2.2(i)(b)(1);

Included in financial assets at amortised cost are cash and short-term

funds, deposits and placements with financial institutions, financial

assets purchased under resale agreements, financial investments and

financing and advances as disclosed in the respective notes to the

financial statements.

Fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI")

The Bank measures financial assets at FVOCI when both of the

following conditions are met:

The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of

which is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and

selling the financial assets; and

The contractual terms of the financial assets meet the SPPP test.
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2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(i)

(b) Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (cont'd.)

(2)

(3)

• 

 

 

• 

Fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI") (cont'd.)

Financial assets at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value with

gains and losses arising due to changes in fair value recognised in Other

Comprehensive Income ("OCI"). Finance income and foreign exchange

gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the same manner as

for financial assets measured at amortised cost. Where the Bank hold

more than one investment in the same security, they are deemed to be

disposed-off on a first-in, first-out basis. On derecognition, cumulative

gains or losses previously recognised in OCI are reclassified from OCI to

profit or loss.

Equity instruments are normally measured at FVTPL. However, for non-

traded equity instruments, with an irrevocable option at inception, the

Bank measure the changes through FVOCI (without recycling profit or

loss upon derecognition).

Included in financial asset FVOCI are financial investments and financing

and advances to customers.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL")

Financial assets at FVTPL are those that are held-for-trading and have

been either designated by management upon initial recognition or are

mandatorily required to be measured at fair value under MFRS 9. The

Bank designates an instrument at FVTPL upon initial recognition when

one of the following criteria are met. Such designation is determined on

an instrument-by-instrument basis:

Financial assets (cont'd.)

The designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent

treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or

liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis;

or

The assets and liabilities are part of a group of financial assets,

financial liabilities or both, which are managed and their performance

evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented

risk management or investment strategy.
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2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(i)

(b) Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (cont'd.)

(3)

(c)

(1)

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when there is substantial modification of

terms and conditions or factors other than substantial modification.

Derecognition due to substantial modification of terms and

conditions

The Bank derecognises a financial asset, such as a financing to a

customer, when the terms and conditions have been renegotiated to the

extent that, substantially, it becomes a new financing, with the difference

recognised as a derecognition gain or loss, to the extent that an

impairment loss has not already been recorded. 

The newly recognised financing are classified as Stage 1 for Expected

Credit Losses (“ECL”) measurement purposes, unless the new financing

is deemed to be purchased or originated credit-impaired ("POCI").

If the modification does not result in cash flows that are substantially

different, the modification does not result in derecognition. Based on the

change in cash flows discounted at the original effective profit rate

("EPR"), the Bank records a modification gain or loss, to the extent that

an impairment loss has not already been recorded.

Financial assets (cont'd.)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL")

(cont'd.)

Included in financial assets at FVTPL are financial investments and

derivatives.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets designated at FVTPL

are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value. Changes

in fair value are recognised in the income statement under the caption of

'other operating income'. 
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2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(i)

(c)

(2)

(i)

(ii)

The Bank has transferred the financial asset if, and only if, either:

• The Bank has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows

from the financial asset; or

• It retains the rights to the cash flows, but has assumed an obligation

to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third

party under a ‘pass–through’ arrangement.

Pass-through arrangements are transactions whereby the Bank retains

the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of a financial asset (the

'original asset'), but assume a contractual obligation to pay those cash

flows to one or more entities (the 'eventual recipients'), when all of the

following three conditions are met:

Financial assets (cont'd.)

Derecognition (cont'd.)

Derecognition other than for substantial modification

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part

of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

The rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have

expired; or

The transfer of financial asset is as set out below and the transfer

qualifies for derecognition.

• The Bank has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual

recipients unless it has collected equivalent amounts from the

original asset, excluding short-term advances with the right to full

recovery of the amount financed plus accrued profit at market rates;

• The Bank cannot sell or pledge the original asset other than as

security to the eventual recipients; and

• The Bank has to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the

eventual recipients without material delay. In addition, the Bank is

not entitled to reinvest such cash flows, except for investments in

cash or cash equivalents including profit earned, during the period

between the collection date and the date of required remittance to

the eventual recipients.
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2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(i)

(c)

(2)

• 

Financial assets (cont'd.)

Derecognition (cont'd.)

Derecognition other than for substantial modification (cont'd.)

A transfer only qualifies for derecognition if either the Bank has:

Transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or

• Neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and

rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

The Bank considers control to be transferred if and only if, the transferee

has the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated

third party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without

imposing additional restrictions on the transfer.

When the Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the

risks and rewards and has retained control of the asset, the asset

continues to be recognised only to the extent of the Bank's continuing

involvement, in which case, the Bank also recognises an associated

liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured

on a basis that reflect the rights and obligations that the Bank has

retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the

transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying

amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration the Bank

could be required to pay.

If continuing involvement takes the form of a written or purchased option

(or both) on the transferred asset, the continuing involvement is

measured at the value the Bank would be required to pay upon

repurchase. In the case of a written put option on an asset that is

measured at fair value, the extent of the entity's continuing involvement

is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the

option exercise price.
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2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(i)

(d)

The MFRS 9 impairment requirements are based on an ECL model. The ECL

model applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI,

irrevocable financing commitments and financial guarantee contracts, which

include financing and advances and debt instruments held by the Bank. The

ECL model also applies to contract assets under MFRS 15 Revenue from

Contracts with Customers  and lease receivables under MFRS 16 Leases . 

The measurement of ECL involves increased complexity and judgement that

include:

(i) Determining a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition

("SICR")

The assessment of SICR is key in establishing the point of switching

between the requirement to measure an allowance based on 12-month

ECL and one that is based on lifetime ECL. The Bank performed

quantitative and qualitative assessments to determine the SICR by

comparing the risk of a default occurring on the financial assets as at

reporting date with the risk of default occurring on the financial assets as

at the date of initial recognition. 

The Bank applies a three-stage approach based on the change in credit

quality since initial recognition:

Financial assets (cont'd.)

Impairment of financial assets
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2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(i)

(d)

(iv) Financial investments at FVOCI

(iii) Expected life

Lifetime ECL must be measured over the expected life. This is restricted

to the maximum contractual life and takes into account expected

prepayment, extension, call and similar options, except for certain

revolving financial instruments such as credit cards and cashline. The

expected life for these revolving facilities generally refers to its

behavioural life.

The ECL for financial investments measured at FVOCI do not reduce the

carrying amount of these financial assets in the statement of financial

position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the

allowance that would arise if the assets were measured at amortised

cost is recognised in OCI as an accumulated impairment amount, with a

corresponding charge to profit or loss. The accumulated loss recognised

in OCI is recycled to the profit and loss upon derecognition of the assets.

Financial assets (cont'd.)

Impairment of financial assets (cont'd.)

(ii) ECL Measurement

There are three main components to measure ECL which are a

probability of default model ("PD"), a loss given default model ("LGD")

and an exposure at default model ("EAD"). The Bank's leveraged as

much as possible on its existing Basel II models and performed the

required adjustments to produce MFRS 9 compliant model.

MFRS 9 does not distinguish between individual assessment and

collective assessment. Therefore, the Bank has decided to continue to

measure the impairment mainly on an individual transaction basis for

financial assets that are deemed to be individually significant, and

collectively assess for other financial assets.
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2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(i)

(d)

• 

• 

• 

• 

Financial assets (cont'd.)

Impairment of financial assets (cont'd.)

Unemployment rates;

House Price indices; and

Bank Negara Malaysia ("BNM") policy rates.

The Bank applies the following three alternatives macroeconomic

scenarios to reflect an unbiased probability-weighted range of possible

future outcomes in estimating ECL:

Base scenario : This scenario reflects that current macroeconomic

conditions continue to prevail; and

Upside and Downside scenarios : These scenarios are set relative to the

base scenario, reflecting best and worst-case macroeconomic conditions

based on subject matter expert's best judgement of current economic

conditions.

(v) Forward-looking information

ECL measurement is based on unbiased probability-weighted credit

losses determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes and

considering future economic conditions. The reasonable and supportable

forward-looking information is obtained from the Maybank Group's

research arm, Maybank Research Pte. Ltd. ("Maybank IBG Research").

Maybank IBG Research’s assumptions and analysis are based on the

collation of macroeconomic data obtained from various sources such as,

but not limited to regulators, government and foreign ministries as well

as independent research organisations.

Where applicable, the Bank incorporates forward-looking adjustments in

credit risk factors of PD and LGD used in ECL calculation; taking into

account the impact of multiple probability-weighted future forecast

economic scenarios.

Embedded in ECL is a broad range of forward-looking information as

economic inputs, such as:

Gross Domestic Product ("GDP") growth;
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2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(i)

(d)

(e) Modification of financing

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

If the customer is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely

reduces the contractual cash flows to amounts the customer is expected

to be able to pay;

Whether any substantial new terms are introduced, such as a profit

share or equity-based return that substantially affect the risk profile of

the financing;

Significant extension of the financing term when the customer is not in

financial difficulty;

Significant change in the profit rate;

Change in the currency the financing is denominated in; and

Insertion of collaterals, other security or credit enhancements that

significantly affect the credit risk associated with the financing.

Financial assets (cont'd.)

Impairment of financial assets (cont'd.)

(vi) Valuation of collateral held as security for financial assets

The Bank's valuation policy for collateral assigned to its financial assets

are dependent on its financing arrangements.

The Bank sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash

flows of financing to customers. When this happens, the Bank assesses

whether or not the new terms are substantially different to the original terms.

The Bank does this by considering, among others, the following factors:
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2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(i)

(e) Modification of financing (cont'd.)

(f)

• 

• 

• 

An item that was previously a designated and effective hedging

instrument in a cash flow hedge or net investment hedge no longer

qualifies as such;

An item becomes a designated and effective hedging instrument in a

cash flow hedge or net investment hedge; and

Changes in measurement where the Bank adopt fair value option.

Financial assets (cont'd.)

If the terms are substantially different, the Bank derecognises the original

financial asset and recognises a 'new' asset at fair value and recalculate a

new effective profit rate ("EPR") for the asset. The date of renegotiation is

consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for impairment

calculation purposes, including for the purpose of determining whether a

significant increase in credit risk has occurred. However, the Bank also

assesses whether the new financial asset recognised is deemed to be credit-

impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the

renegotiation was driven by the customer being unable to make the originally

agreed payments. Differences in the carrying amount are also recognised in

the income statements as a gain or loss on derecognition.

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification

does not result in derecognition, and the Bank recalculates the gross carrying

amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial asset and recognises

a modification gain or loss in the income statements. The new gross carrying

amount is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original

EPR (or credit-adjusted EPR for purchased or originated credit-impaired

financial assets).

Reclassification of financial assets

Reclassification of financial assets is permissible when and only when there is

change in business model for managing financial assets. 

The Bank does not consider the following changes in circumstances as

reclassifications:
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2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(ii) Financial liabilities

(a) Date of recognition

(b)

(1) Other financial liabilities

(1)

(2) Debt securities

All financial liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date i.e. the date

that the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provision of the instruments.

This includes regular way trades: purchases or sales of financial liabilities that

require settlement of liabilities within the time frame generally established by

regulation or convention in the market place.

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual

arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability. All

financial liabilities are measured initially at fair value plus directly attributable

transaction costs.

The Bank's other financial liabilities include deposits from customers,

investment accounts of customers, deposits and placements of banks

and other financial institutions, debt securities (including term funding),

payables, bills and acceptances payable and other liabilities.

Deposits from customers, investment accounts of customers and 

deposits and placements of banks and other financial institutions

Deposits from customers, investment accounts of customers and

deposits and placements of banks and other financial institutions are

stated at placement values. Profit expense of deposits from

customers, investment accounts of customers and deposits and

placements from banks and other financial institutions measured at

amortised cost is recognised using the effective yield method.

Debt securities issued by the Bank are classified as financial

liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the

contractual terms of the instruments. The Bank's debt securities

issued consist of subordinated sukuk, capital securities and term

funding. 
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2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(ii) Financial liabilities (cont'd.)

(b)

(1) Other financial liabilities (cont'd.)

(2) Debt securities (cont'd.)

(3) Payables

(4) Bills and acceptances payable

(5) Other liabilities

Payables are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable

transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost

using the effective yield method. 

Bills and acceptances payable represent the Bank's own bills and

acceptances rediscounted and outstanding in the market. These

financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective

yield method. 

Other liabilities are stated at cost which is the fair value of the

consideration expected to be paid in the future for goods and

services received.

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (cont'd.)

These debt securities are classified as liabilities in the statement of

financial position as there is a contractual obligation by the Bank to

make cash payments of either principal or profit or both to holders of

the debt securities and that the Bank is contractually obliged to settle

the financial instrument in cash or another financial instrument. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, debt securities issued are

recognised at amortised cost, with any difference between proceeds

net of transaction costs and the redemption value being recognised

in the income statement over the period of the term fundings on an

effective yield method. 
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2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(ii) Financial liabilities (cont'd.)

(c) Derecognition

(iii) Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

(iv) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

(a)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is

discharged, cancelled or expired. When an existing financial liability is

replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or

the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange

or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the

recognition of a new liability. The difference between the carrying amount of

the original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognised in the

income statement.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in

the statement of financial position of the Bank if there is a current legal

enforceable right to offset the recognised amount and there is an intention to settle

on a net basis or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

The financial assets and financial liabilities of the Bank that are subject to

offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements are

disclosed in Note 43.

Derivative financial instruments

The Bank trades derivatives such as profit rate swaps, foreign exchange

swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts and options on profit rates and

foreign currencies.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value. For non-

option derivatives, their fair value are normally zero or negligible at inception.

For purchased or written options, their fair value are equivalent to the market

premium paid or received. The derivatives are subsequently remeasured at

their fair value. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices in active

markets, including recent market transactions and valuation techniques that

include discounted cash flow models and option pricing models, as

appropriate. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive

and as liabilities when fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of any

derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised

immediately in the income statement.

92



Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(iv) Derivative instruments and hedge accounting (cont'd.)

(b)

(1) Fair value hedge

Hedges that meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for,

as described below:

For designated and qualifying fair value hedges, the cumulative change

in the fair value of a hedging instrument is recognised in the income

statements. Meanwhile, the cumulative change in the fair value of the

hedged item attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as part of the

carrying amount of the hedged item in the statements of financial

position and is also recognised in the income statements.

For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortised cost, any

adjustments to carrying amount is amortised over the remaining term of

the hedge using the effective profit method. The amortisation may begin

as soon as an adjustment exists and no later than when the hedged item

ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk

being hedged. If the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair

value adjustment is recognised immediately in the income statements. 

Hedge accounting

The Bank uses derivative instruments to manage exposures to profit rate,

foreign currency and credit risks. In order to manage these particular risks,

the Bank applies hedge accounting for transactions which meet specified

criteria. 

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Bank formally documents the

relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, including

the nature of the risk, the risk management objective and strategy for

undertaking the hedge and the method that will be used to assess the

effectiveness of the hedging relationship at inception and on ongoing basis.

93



Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(v) Embedded derivatives

(vi) Resale and repurchase agreements

(vii) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Embedded derivatives in financial assets are not separated from a host financial

asset are classified based on the business model and their contractual terms as

outlined in Note 2.2(i).

Derivatives embedded in financial liabilities and in non-financial host contracts are

treated as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic

characteristic and risk are not closely related to those of the host contract is not

itself held for trading or designated at FVTPL. The embedded derivatives

separated from the host are carried at fair value in the trading portfolio with

changes in fair value recognised in the income statement.

Securities purchased under resale agreements are securities which the Bank

purchased with a commitment to resell at future dates. The commitments to resell

the securities are reflected as assets on the statement of financial position. The

difference between the purchase and resale prices is recognised in the income

statement under the caption of ‘income derived from investment of depositors'

funds/shareholder's funds’ and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the

effective yield method.

Conversely, obligations on securities sold under repurchase agreements are

securities which the Bank sell from its portfolio, with a commitment to repurchase

at future dates. Such financing transactions and corresponding obligations to

purchase the securities are reflected as liabilities on the statement of financial

position. The difference between the sale and the repurchase prices is recognised

in the income statements under the caption of ‘profit distributed to depositors’ and

is accrued over the life of the agreement using the effective yield method.

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. The cost of

an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset, if and only if, it

is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the

Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  
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2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(vii) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (cont'd.)

Office furniture, fittings, equipment

   and renovations 10% - 25%

Computers and peripherals 14% - 25%

Motor vehicles 20% - 25%

(viii) Other assets

Included in other assets are other debtors, prepayments and deposits and tax

recoverable.

Other assets are carried at anticipated realisable values. An estimate is made for

doubtful debts based on a review of all outstanding balances as at the reporting

date. Bad debts are written-off when identified.

Subsequent to initial recognition, all items of property, plant and equipment are

measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment

losses, if any. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are

required to be replaced in intervals, the Bank recognises such parts as individual

assets with specific useful lives and depreciate them accordingly. Likewise, when

a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of

the plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied.

All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in the income statements

as incurred. 

Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is computed on a straight-line

basis over its estimated useful life at the following annual rates:

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for

impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying

amount may not be recoverable. 

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each

financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when

no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The difference

between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the net carrying amount is

recognised in the income statement.

Details of property, plant and equipment of the Bank are disclosed in Note 13.
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2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(ix) Cash and short-term funds

(x) Impairment of non-financial assets

Cash and short-term funds in the statement of financial position comprise cash

balances and deposits with financial institutions and money at call with a maturity

of one month or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents

comprise of cash and short-term funds and deposits and placements with financial

institutions, with the original maturity of three (3) months or less.

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date

to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If there is such

indication or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Bank

estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the

higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit ("CGU")'s fair value less costs to sell

and its value-in-use ("VIU"). When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU

exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered to be impaired and is

written down to its recoverable amount.

The Bank bases its VIU calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations,

which are prepared separately for each of the Bank's CGU to which the individual

assets are allocated. In assessing VIU, the estimated future cash flows are

discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken

into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation

model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted

share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.

For other non-financial assets, an assessment is made at each reporting date as

to whether any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no

longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Bank estimates

the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment

loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to

determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was

recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does

not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceeds the carrying amount that would

have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, had no impairment loss

been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the

income statement.
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2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(xi) Provisions 

(xii) Foreign currencies

(a) Functional and presentation currency

(b) Foreign currency transactions and balances

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are

translated at the functional currency spot rate of exchange at the reporting

date. 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on

translating monetary items at the reporting date are recognised in the income

statement.

The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia ("RM") which is

the Bank's functional and presentation currency. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional

currencies of the Bank and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional

currencies at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction

dates. 

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present obligation (legal or

constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of

resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation

and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of the

provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle

the obligation. Any increases in the provision due to the passage of time is

recognised in the income statement. 

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current

best estimate. Where it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources

embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the provision

is reversed and recognised in income statement.
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2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(xii) Foreign currencies (cont'd.)

(b) Foreign currency transactions and balances (cont'd.)

(xiii) Income and deferred taxes

(a) Income tax

(b) Deferred tax 

Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at

historical cost are translated using the spot exchange rates as at the dates of

the initial transactions. Non-monetary items denominated in foreign

currencies measured at fair value are translated using the spot exchange

rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items carried

at fair value are included in the income statement for the financial year except

for the differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items in respect

of which gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Current tax assets/recoverable and current tax liabilities/provisions are

measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the

taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount

are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Income taxes for the year comprises current and deferred taxes. 

Current tax expense relating to items recognised directly in equity, is

recognised in other comprehensive income or in equity and not in the income

statements.

Details of income taxes for the Bank are disclosed in Note 36.

Deferred tax is recognised in full, using the liability method, on temporary

differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their

carrying amounts at the reporting date. 
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2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(xiii) Income and deferred taxes (cont'd.)

(b) Deferred tax (cont'd.)

•

•

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,

carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it

is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible

temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and

unused tax losses can be utilised except: 

When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary

difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a

transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the

transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date

and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable

profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be

utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting

date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future

taxable profit will allow the deferred tax assets to be utilised.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are

expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is

settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or

substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside income statement is

recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of

goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business

combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally

enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax

liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the

same taxation authority. 

Details of deferred tax assets and liabilities are disclosed in Note 20.
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2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(xiv)

(xv) Leases

(a)   Classification

(b) Recognition and initial measurement

(1) Bank as a lessee

Right-of-use ("ROU") assets 

The Bank recognises ROU assets at the commencement date of the

lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available for use). ROU

assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease

liabilities.

Zakat

This represents business zakat payable by the Bank to comply with the principle of

Shariah. Zakat provision is calculated based on 'Shareholders’ Equity with

Adjustment' method, at 2.5%. The beneficiaries of the zakat fund are determined

by the Zakat Committee and subject to the approval of the Shariah Committee.

At inception of a contract, the Bank assesses whether a contract is, or

contains, a lease arrangement based on whether the contract that conveys to

the user (the lessee) the right to control the use of an identified asset for a

period of time in exchange for consideration. If a contract contains more than

one lease component, or a combination of leasing and services transactions,

the consideration is allocated to each of these lease and non-lease

components on conclusion and on each subsequent re-measurement of the

contract on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices. The Bank

combine lease and non-lease components, in cases where splitting the non-

lease component is not possible.

The Bank applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all

leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets. The

Bank recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-

use asset representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(xv) Leases (cont'd.)

(b) Recognition and initial measurement (cont'd.)

(1) Bank as a lessee (cont'd.)

Right-of-use ("ROU") assets (cont'd.)

Lease liabilities

The cost of ROU assets includes the amount of lease liabilities adjusted

for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus

any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and

remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site

on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. The lease term

includes periods covered by an option to extend if the Bank is reasonably

certain to exercise that option. Unless the Bank is reasonably certain to

obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the

recognised ROU assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the

shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term. ROU are subject to

impairment assessment. The impairment policy for ROU assets are in

accordance with impairment of non-financial assets as described in Note

2.2(x).

At the commencement date of the lease, the Bank recognises lease

liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to be made

over the lease term. The lease payment includes fixed payments (less

any lease incentive receivables), variable lease payments that depend

on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual

value guarantees.

The lease payment also includes the exercise price of a purchase option

reasonably certain to be exercised by the Bank and payments of

penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Bank

exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do

not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expense in the

period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(xv) Leases (cont'd.)

(b) Recognition and initial measurement (cont'd.)

(1) Bank as a lessee (cont'd.)

Lease liabilities (cont'd.)

(2) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

(xvi) Fair value measurement

• In the principal market for the asset or liability; or

•

In calculating the present value of lease payment, the Bank uses

incremental funding rate at the commencement date if the profit rate

implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement

date, the amount of the lease liabilities is increased to reflect the

accretion of profit and reduced for the lease payment made. In addition,

the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a

modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the fixed lease

payment or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the

underlying asset.

The Bank applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-

term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the

commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. The Bank

also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to

leases of assets that are considered of low-value. Lease payments on

short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an

expense when incurred.

The Bank measures financial instruments such as financial investments at FVTPL,

financial investments at FVOCI and derivatives at fair value at each statement of

financial position date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement

date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the

transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the

asset or liability.
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2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(xvi) Fair value measurement (cont'd.)

•

•

•

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the Bank.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the

financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as

follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is

significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is

significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a

recurring basis, the Bank determines whether transfers have occurred between

fair value hierarchy levels by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level

input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of

each reporting period.

The fair value hierarchies of financial instruments that are measured at fair value

are disclosed in Note 42(c).

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that

market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that

market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market

participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest

and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset

in its highest and best use.

The Bank uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and

for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of

relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

While the fair value hierarchies of financial instruments that are not measured at

fair value, for which the fair value is disclosed are presented in Note 42(g).
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2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(xvii)

(xviii)

(xix)

Profit income and profit distributed to depositors from the business are recognised

on an accrual basis in accordance with the principles of Shariah.

Other operating income

Commitment and guarantee fees are recognised as income based on time

apportionment basis.

Handling fees paid to motor vehicle dealers for Islamic hire purchase financing are

amortised in the income statement over the tenure of the financing and is set off

against income recognised on the Islamic hire purchase financing.

Financing and related expense recognition

Finance cost and income attributable to deposits, investment accounts and term

funding of the Bank are amortised using the effective yield method.

Income recognition

For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost and profit-bearing

financial investments at FVTPL, financial investments at FVOCI, profit income for

all profit-bearing financial instruments are recognised within finance income in the

income statement using the effective yield method.

The effective yield method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a

financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating the finance income over the

relevant period. The effective yield rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated

future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial

instruments or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of

the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective yield/profit

rate, the Bank takes into account all contractual terms of the financial instrument

and includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the

instrument, which are an integral part of the effective profit rate, but does not

consider future credit losses.

Profit on impaired financial assets is recognised using the rate of profit used to

discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.
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2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(xx)

(a) Short-term employee benefits

(b) Defined contribution plans

(c) Share-based compensation

(1)

The total fair value of ESGP Shares granted to eligible employees is

recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in the

reserve within equity over the vesting period and taking into account the

probability that the ESGP Shares will vest. The fair value of ESGP

Shares is measured at grant date, taking into account, the market and

non-market vesting conditions upon which the ESGP Shares were

granted.

Upon vesting of ESGP Shares, the Bank will recognise the impact of the

actual numbers of ESGP Shares vested as compared to original

estimates.

Employee benefits

Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as

an expense in the income statement in the year in which the associated

services are rendered by employees of the Bank. Short-term accumulating

compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when

services are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement to future

compensated absences. Short-term non-accumulating compensated

absences such as sick leave are recognised as an expense in the income

statement when the absences occur.

As required by law, companies in Malaysia make contributions to the

Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”). Such contributions are recognised as an

expense in the income statement when incurred.

Employees' Share Grant Plan ("ESGP Shares") 

The ESGP Shares is awarded to the eligible Executive Directors and

employees of the participating Maybank Group excluding dormant

subsidiaries. The ESGP Shares may be settled by way of issuance and

transfer of new Maybank shares or cash at the absolute discretion of the

NRC. 
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2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(xx)

(c) Share-based compensation (cont'd.)

(2)

(xxi) Share capital and dividends declared

(xxii) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Employee benefits (cont'd.)

Cash-settled Performance-based Employees' Share Grant Plan

("CESGP") 

The CESGP is awarded to the eligible Executive Directors and

employees of the participating Maybank Group, subject to achievement

of performance criteria set out by the Board of Directors and prevailing

market practices in the respective countries. Upon vesting, the cash

amount equivalent to the value of the Maybank Reference Shares will be

transferred to the eligible employees.

The total fair value of CESGP granted to eligible employees is

recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in the

liability over the vesting period and taking into account the probability

that the CESGP will vest. The fair value of CESGP is measured at grant

date, taking into account, the market and non-market vesting conditions

upon which the CESGP were granted.

Upon vesting of CESGP, the Bank will recognise the impact of the actual

numbers of CESGP vested as compared to original estimates.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity when there is no contractual obligation to

transfer cash or other financial assets. Transaction costs directly attributable to the

issuance of new equity shares are taken to equity as a deduction against the

issuance proceeds.

Dividends declared on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted

from equity in the period in which all relevant approvals have been obtained.

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other unexpected events that give rise

to the possibility of an inflow of economic benefits to the Bank. The Bank does not

recognise contingent assets but discloses its existence when inflows of economic

benefits are probable, but not virtually certain.
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2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(xxii) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities (cont'd.)

(xxiii) Earnings per share ("EPS")

(xxiv) Restricted Profit Sharing Investment Accounts (“RPSIA”)

The Bank presents basic and diluted (where applicable) EPS for profit or loss from

continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holder of the Bank on the

face of the income statement.

Basic and diluted EPS are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity

holder of the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

during the financial year. 

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations that arise from past events, whose

existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or

more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Bank; or are

present obligations that have arisen from past events but are not recognised

because it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or

the amount cannot be estimated reliably. The Bank does not recognise contingent

liabilities. Contingent liabilities are disclosed, unless the probability of outflow of

economic benefits is remote.

RPSIA placements are used to fund specific financial assets and are based on the

principle of Mudharabah whereby profits will be shared between the Bank as

Mudharib and the investors as Rabbul Mal whereas losses shall be borne solely by

the investors. 

The Bank disclosed details of these placements and financial assets recorded as

off-balance sheet items in Notes 8(ii), 8(iii), 9 and 16 in accordance with BNM's

policy document on Financial Reporting for Islamic Banking Institution.

Before 31 December 2021, these placements by the holding company and the

associated financial assets are recorded in the Bank's financial statements as its

liabilities and assets in accordance with MFRS 9. Any impairment allowances

required on the financial assets are not recognised in the income statement of the

Bank but charged to and borne by the investors.

From 31 December 2021, these placements by the holding company and the

associated financial assets are recorded off-balance sheet in the financial

statements of the Bank upon the revision in agreement between the Bank and the

holding company on the timing of cash flow remittance received from the financial

assets to the investment account holders.
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2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.2   Summary of significant accounting policies (cont'd.)

(xxv) Financial assistance scheme

2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 

Description

   (i) MFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Malaysian

          Financial Reporting Standards - Subsidiary as a 

          first-time adopter

   (ii) MFRS 9 Financial Instruments -  Fees in the '10 per 

          cent' test for derecognition of financial liabilities

Amendments to MFRS 116 Property, Plant and 

   Equipment - Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to MFRS 137 Provisions, Contingent  

   Liabilities and Contingent Assets - Onerous Contract - 

   Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

1 January 2022

1 January 2022

Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018 - 2020

1 January 2022

Financing under a government scheme is recognised and measured in

accordance with MFRS 9 Financial Instruments , with the benefit at a below market

and concession rate is measured as the difference between the initial carrying

amount or fair value of the financing and the amount received. Government

financing facility is measured in accordance with the amount received.

The benefit of a financing or a facility under a government scheme that addresses

identified costs or expenses incurred by the Bank is recognised in the profit or loss

in the same financial period when the costs or expenses are recognised, when the

required conditions are fulfilled in accordance with MFRS 120 Accounting for

Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance.

On 1 January 2022, the Bank adopted the following amendments to MFRS and annual

improvements to MFRSs:

   Effective for annual 

periods beginning on or 

1 January 2022
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2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (cont'd.)

(i)  

           

Finan

(ii)  

           

Finan

The amendment permits a subsidiary that elects to apply paragraph D16(a) of

MFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards to 

measure cumulative translation differences using the amounts reported by the

parent, based on the parent’s date of transition to MFRS. The amendments are

also applied to an associate or joint venture that elects to apply paragraph D16(a)

of MFRS 1. The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning

on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier adoption permitted. The amendments do

not have any impact on the financial statements of the Bank.

MFRS 9 Financial Instruments - Fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for

derecognition of financial liabilities

The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether

the terms of a new or modified financial liability are substantially different from the

terms of the original financial liability. These fees include only those paid or

received between the customer and the lender, including fees paid or received by

either the customer or lender on the other’s behalf when performing the 10% test

for the derecognition of financial liabilities. 

The amendment is applicable to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged

on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the amendment is

applied. The amendments do not have any impact on the financial statements of

the Bank.

MFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards - 

Subsidiary as a first-time adopter

Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018 - 2020
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2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (cont'd.)

The amendments prohibit entities deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant

and equipment, any proceeds of the sale of items produced while bringing that asset to

the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner

intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling such

items, and the costs of producing those items, in profit or loss.

Amendments to MFRS 116 Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before

Intended Use

The amendments are to be applied prospectively in annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2022, earlier application is permitted. The amendments do not have any

impact on the Bank's financial statements.

Amendments to MFRS 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent

Assets - Onerous Contract - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 

The amendments clarify that the direct costs of fulfilling a contract include both the

incremental costs of fulfilling the contract and an allocation of other costs directly related

to fulfilling contracts. Before recognising a separate provision for an onerous contract, the

entity recognises any impairment loss that has occurred on assets used in fulfilling the

contract.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1

January 2022 and must be applied retrospectively to items of property, plant and

equipment made available for use on or after the beginning of the earliest period

presented when the entity first applies the amendment. The amendments do not have

any impact on the financial statements of the Bank.
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2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.4 Significant changes in regulatory requirements

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

under an existing repayment assistance programme (e.g. Targeted

Repayment Assistance, Program Strategik Memperkasa Rakyat dan

Ekonomi Tambahan ("PEMERKASA+"), Pakej Perlindungan Rakyat dan

Pemulihan Ekonomi ("PEMULIH"), the Bank’s own rescheduling and

restructuring, etc.) as at 30 September 2021; and

whose financing is still performing (not in arrears exceeding 90 days) as

at the date of their application.

Pursuant to the statement issued by the Prime Minister of Malaysia on 13 October

2021, banking industry, represented collectively by The Association of Banks in

Malaysia (“ABM”), Association of Islamic Banking and Financial Institutions

Malaysia (“AIBIM”) and Association of Development Finance Institutions of

Malaysia (“ADFIM”) had on 14 October 2021 announced its continued support to

individual customers. The Bank has worked alongside with Agensi Kaunseling

dan Pengurusan Kredit (“AKPK”) to offer a comprehensive extended financial

assistance scheme called Financial Management and Resilience Programme

(“URUS”).

from B50 income segment (having gross household income of RM5,880

or lower based on definition by the Department of Statistics Malaysia);

that have experienced either loss of employment or reduction of income

of at least 50%;

Application for URUS was opened from 15 November 2021 until 31 March 2022

for individual customers:

Measures to assist customers affected by COVID-19 pandemic

Financial Management and Resilience Programme (“URUS”)

Under URUS, AKPK provided eligible customers with a personalised financial

plan with the following options:

A 3-month profit waiver, commencing the month following the customers'

on boarding into the scheme; or

A 3-month profit waiver together with reduced instalments for a period of

up to 24 months. This option will also benefit customers with unsecured

personal financing and credit cards.
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2.   Accounting policies (cont'd.)

2.4 Significant changes in regulatory requirements (cont'd.)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Targeted repayment assistance under PEMERKASA+; and

Six-month moratorium under PEMULIH.

The application for the PERMAI, PEMERKASA+ and PEMULIH programmes ended in

the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

The financial impact of the remaining targeted repayment assistance and moratorium

including the flood relief assistance to the profit or loss of the Bank is reported as part

of modification loss as disclosed in Note 28.

Measures to assist customers affected by COVID-19 pandemic (cont'd.)

For the previous financial year ended 31 December 2021, there were also other

repayment assistance programmes offered in line with the regulatory measures

announced by Bank Negara Malaysia ("BNM"). These included: 

Enhanced targeted repayment assistance under Perlindungan Ekonomi dan

Rakyat Malaysia ("PERMAI");
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3. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

3.1 Going concern

3.2 Impairment of financial investments portfolio (Notes 8 and 30)

(i)

(ii)

(a)

(b)

(c)

The Bank’s management has made an assessment of its ability to continue as a going

concern and is satisfied that it has the resources to continue in business for the

foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not aware of any material

uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Bank’s ability to continue as a

going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the

going concern basis.

Determination of ECL that reflect:

An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by

evaluating a range of possible outcomes;

The preparation of the Bank's financial statements requires management to make

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported

amounts of income, expenses, assets, liabilities, the accompanying disclosures and the

disclosure of contingent liabilities. Although these estimates and judgements are based on

management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may differ. The

most significant uses of judgements and estimates are as follows:

The measurement of the ECL for financial assets measured at amortised cost and

FVOCI is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions

about future economic conditions and credit behaviour.

In carrying out the impairment review, the following management's judgements are

required:

Determination whether the investment is impaired based on certain indicators

such as, amongst others,  difficulties of the issuers or obligors, deterioration of the 

credit quality of the issuers or obligors; and

The time value of money; and

Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost

or effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and

forecasts of future economic conditions.
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3. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (cont'd.)

3.2 Impairment of financial investments portfolio (Notes 8 and 30) (cont'd.)

3.3 Deferred tax (Note 20) and income taxes (Note 36)

3.4 Leases - renewal option

The Bank is subject to income taxes in Malaysia and significant judgement is required

in estimating the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and

interpretations of tax law for which the final outcome will not be established until some

time later. Liabilities for taxation are recognised based on estimates of whether

additional taxes will be payable. The estimation process includes seeking advice on

the tax treatments where appropriate. Where the final liability for taxation is different

from the amounts that were initially recorded, the differences will affect the income tax

and deferred tax provisions in the year in which the estimate is revised or the final

liability is established.

Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect of tax losses to the extent that it is

probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be

utilised. Judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that

can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits,

together with future tax planning strategies.

The Bank has the option, under some of its leases to lease the assets for additional

terms of three to five years. The Bank applies judgement in evaluating whether it is

reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew. That is, it considers all relevant

factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. After the

commencement date, the Bank reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event 

or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise (or

not to exercise) the option to renew (e.g., a change in business strategy). The Bank

includes the renewal period as part of the lease term for leases of premises due to the

significance of these assets to its operations. 

The Bank determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together

with any periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to

be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is

reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The overlays and post-model adjustments arising from remaining uncertainties of

COVID-19 pandemic and emerging risks involved significant level of judgement and

reflect the management's views of possible severities of the pandemic and paths of

recovery in the forward-looking assessment for ECL estimation purposes. The impact

is outlined in Note 3.6.
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3. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (cont'd.)

3.5

3.6 Impairment losses on financing and advances (Notes 9, 18 and 29)

(i) Internal credit grading model, which assigns PDs to the individual grades;

(ii) Criteria for assessing possible significant increase in credit risk and qualitative

information to determine if allowances should be measured using lifetime ECL

basis;

Elements of the ECL models that are considered accounting judgements and

estimates include:

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the

statement of financial position cannot be measured based on quoted prices in active

markets, their fair values are measured using valuation techniques. Valuation

techniques include the discounted cash flows method, option pricing models, credit

models and other relevant valuation models.

The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but

where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values.

Refer to Note 42 for further disclosures. 

The Bank reviews its individually significant financing and advances at each reporting

date to assess whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the income

statement. In particular, management's judgement is required in the estimation of the

amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the impairment losses. In

estimating these cash flows, the Bank makes judgements about the customer’s

financial situation and the net realisable value of collateral. These estimates are based

on assumptions on a number of factors and actual results may differ, resulting in future

changes to the allowances.

The Bank’s ECL calculations under MFRS 9 are outputs of complex models with a

number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs and their

interdependencies.

Fair value estimation of financial investments at FVTPL (Note 8), financial

investments at FVOCI (Note 8) and derivative financial instruments (Note 10)
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3. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (cont'd.)

3.6 Impairment losses on financing and advances (Notes 9, 18 and 29) (cont'd.)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Overlays and adjustments for ECL 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

Elements of the ECL models that are considered accounting judgements and

estimates include (cont'd.):

The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective

basis;

Development of ECL models, including the various formulas and the choice of

inputs;

Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and economic

inputs, such as unemployment levels and collateral values and the effect on PDs,

EADs and LGDs; and

Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability

weightings to derive the economic inputs into the ECL models.

These overlays and post-model adjustments were taken to reflect the following risk

factors not captured in the modelled outcome:

As the current MFRS 9 models are being recalibrated and not expected to generate

levels of ECL with sufficient reliability yet in view of remaining COVID-19 uncertainties

and emerging risks from the current economic environment, overlays and post-model

adjustments have been applied to determine a sufficient overall level of ECL as of the

financial year ends.

Latest macroeconomic outlook given the elevated uncertainty under high inflation

and profit rate environment;

High risk and vulnerable sectors; and

Potential impact to delinquencies and defaults upon expiry of the various COVID-

19 pandemic relief and support measures.
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3. Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (cont'd.)

3.6 Impairment losses on financing and advances (Notes 9, 18 and 29) (cont'd.)

The overlays and post-model adjustments involved significant level of judgement and

reflect the management's views of possible severities of the pandemic and paths of

recovery in the forward-looking assessment for ECL estimation purposes. The drivers

of the management judgemental adjustments continue to evolve with the economic

environment. 

The customers who have received repayment supports remain in their existing stages

unless they have been individually identified as not viable or with other risk trigger or

with subsequent indicators of significant increase in credit risk from each of their pre-

COVID-19 or initial status. The overlays and post-model adjustments are made at both

portfolio and individual obligor levels in determining the sufficient level of ECL overlay.

This overlay includes impact assessment on impairment of financial investments

portfolio outlined in Note 3.2.

The impact of these post-model adjustments were estimated at both portfolio and

vulnerable obligors level amounting to RM847.6 million (2021: RM1,219.2 million) for

the Bank as at 31 December 2022. 
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4.   Standards and annual improvements to standards issued but not yet effective

Description

Amendments to MFRS 101 Presentation of Financial 

  Statements - Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to MFRS 101 Classification of Liabilities as 

  Current or Non-current

Amendments to MFRS 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in

  Accounting Estimates and Errors - Definition  of Accounting

  Estimates

Amendments to MFRS 112 Income Taxes - Deferred Tax 

  related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 

  Single Transaction

Amendments to MFRS 16 Leases - Lease Liability 

   in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS 128: Sale or

  Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

  Associate or Joint Venture Deferred

Effective for annual periods  

beginning on or after

1 January 2023

Amendments to MFRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements - Disclosure of

Accounting Policies

The amendments require companies to disclose material accounting policies rather than

significant accounting policies. Entities are expected to make disclosure of accounting

policies specific to the entity and not generic disclosure on MFRS applications.

The amendments explain that an accounting policy is material if, without it the users of the

financial statements would be unable to understand other material information in the

financial statements or/and when considered together with other information included in an

entity's financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decision that the

primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial

statements. Immaterial accounting policy information need not be disclosed. However, if it is

disclosed, it should not obscure material accounting information.

1 January 2024

1 January 2023

1 January 2023

1 January 2023

The following are standards and annual improvements to standards issued by Malaysian

Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”), but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of

the Bank’s financial statements. The Bank intends to adopt these standards and annual

improvements to standards, if applicable, when they become effective:
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4.   

• 

• 

• 

• 

Amendments to MFRS 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates

and Errors - Definition  of Accounting Estimates

That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity

instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its classification.

The amendments are to be applied retrospectively in annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2023, with earlier application permitted. The amendments are not expected to have

any impact on the Bank's financial statements.

Standards and annual improvements to standards issued but not yet effective

(cont'd.)

That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral

right; and

The amendments clarify the following:

The distinction is important because changes in accounting estimates are applied

prospectively but changes in accounting policies are applied retrospectively. The

amendments are to be applied prospectively in annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2023, earlier application is permitted. These amendments are not expected to have

a significant impact on the preparation of the Bank's financial statements.

What is meant by a right to defer settlement;

That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period;

Amendments to MFRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements - Disclosure of

Accounting Policies  (cont'd.)

The amendments are to be applied prospectively in annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2023, earlier application is permitted. These amendments are not expected to have

a significant impact on the preparation of the Bank's financial statements.

Amendments to MFRS 101 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The amendments redefined accounting estimates as "monetary amounts in financial

statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty". These amendments provide

clarity on how to distinguish changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting

estimates. The amendments clarify that the effects of a change in an input or measurement

technique used to develop an accounting estimate is a change in accounting estimate if the

changes do not arise from prior period errors.
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4.   

Amendments to MFRS 112 Income Taxes - Deferred Tax related to Assets and

Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments specify the treatment for deferred tax on transactions related to leases

and decommissioning obligation. The amendments clarify that the initial recognition

exemption set out in MFRS 112 does not apply to transactions that give rise to equal

amounts of taxable and deductible temporary difference. The aim of the amendments is to

reduce diversity in the reporting of deferred tax on leases and decommissioning obligations.

The amendments are to be applied to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of

the earliest comparative period presented. These amendments are not expected to have a

significant impact on the preparation of the Bank's financial statements.

Standards and annual improvements to standards issued but not yet effective

(cont'd.)

Amendments to MFRS 16 Leases - Lease Liability in Sale and Leaseback

The amendment requires a seller-lessee to subsequently measure lease liabilities arising

from a leaseback in a way that it does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that

relates to the right of use it retains. The new requirements do not prevent a seller-lessee

from recognising in profit or loss any gain or loss relating to the partial or full termination of a

lease.

The amendment applies retrospectively to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1

January 2024. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have

material impact on the Bank's financial statements. 

120



Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

4.   

The amendments clarify that:

• 

• 

Standards and annual improvements to standards issued but not yet effective

(cont'd.)

The amendments are to be applied prospectively to the sale or contribution of assets

occurring in annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined by the MASB.

Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any impact on

the Bank.

Amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS 128 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

Gains and losses resulting from transactions involving assets that do not constitute a

business, between investor and its associate or joint venture are recognised in the

entity’s financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the

associate or joint venture; and

Gains and losses resulting from transactions involving the sale or contribution of

assets to an associate or a joint venture that constitute a business is recognised in full.
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5. Cash and short-term funds

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Cash and balances with banks and other

   financial institutions 30                  267                

Money at call and interbank placements 

   with remaining maturity not exceeding 

   one month 15,092,556    12,123,725    

15,092,586    12,123,992    

6. Deposits and placements with banks and other financial institutions

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Licensed banks 4,000,657      3,000,157      

Bank Negara Malaysia 1,329,223      -                     

5,329,880      3,000,157      

7.

(i) The financial assets purchased under resale agreements are as follows:

2022 2021

Note RM’000 RM’000

Malaysian Government Investment Issues 2,122,491      9,662,381      

Corporate Bonds and Sukuk -                    765,449         

2,122,491      10,427,830    

Allowances for impairment losses (a) (796)              (7,081)            

2,121,695      10,420,749    

Financial assets purchased under resale agreements and obligations on financial 

assets sold under repurchase agreements
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7.

(i) The financial assets purchased under resale agreements are as follows (cont'd.):

(a)

As at 31 December 2022

-

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 2022 7,081            -                   -                                 7,081 
New financial assets 

   purchased 796 -                   -                    796                

Financial assets 

derecognised            (7,081) -                   -                    (7,081)            

At 31 December 2022 796               -                   -                    796                

As at 31 December 2021

-

Analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and the corresponding allowances for

impairment losses on financial assets purchased under resale agreements are as

follows:

Changes in the financial assets purchased under resale agreements for the Bank that

contributed to the changes in the loss allowances during the financial year ended 31

December 2022 was mainly due to the following:

The decrease in the gross carrying amount for financial assets purchased under

resale agreements due to financial assets derecognised during the year which

correspondingly decreased the ECL allowances.

Changes in the financial assets purchased under resale agreements for the Bank that

contributed to the changes in the loss allowances during the previous financial year

ended 31 December 2021 was mainly due to the following:

The overall increase in the gross carrying amount for financial assets purchased

under resale agreements was mainly contributed by new financial assets

purchased which correspondingly increase the ECL allowances.

Financial assets purchased under resale agreements and obligations on financial 

assets sold under repurchase agreements (cont'd.)
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7.

(i) The financial assets purchased under resale agreements are as follows (cont'd.):

(a)

As at 31 December 2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 2021 1,452            -                   -                    1,452             

New financial assets 

   purchased 7,081            -                   -                    7,081             

Financial assets 

derecognised            (1,452) -                   -                    (1,452)            

At 31 December 2021 7,081            -                   -                    7,081             

(ii) Obligations on financial assets sold under repurchase agreements are as follows:

Note 2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Financial investments at fair value through

   other comprehensive income 8(ii)(f) 461,081         -                     

461,081         -                     

Financial assets purchased under resale agreements and obligations on financial 

assets sold under repurchase agreements (cont'd.)

Analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and the corresponding allowances for

impairment losses on financial assets purchased under resale agreements are as

follows (cont'd.):
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8. Financial investments portfolio

Note 2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Financial investments at fair value through 

   profit or loss (i) 309,504         784,302         

Financial investments at fair value through

   other comprehensive income (ii) 15,645,983    15,082,779    

Financial investments at amortised cost (iii) 27,461,699    22,867,781    

43,417,186    38,734,862    

(i) Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL") 

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

At fair value

Money market instruments:

Malaysian Government Treasury Bills -                     659,118         

Unquoted securities:

Outside Malaysia:

Islamic Corporate Sukuk 309,504         125,184         

Total financial investments at FVTPL 309,504         784,302         

(ii)

2022 2021

Note RM’000 RM’000

At fair value

Money market instruments:

Malaysian Government Investment Issues (a) 12,457,878    10,848,583    

Khazanah Sukuk -                    29,614           

12,457,878    10,878,197    

Unquoted securities:

In Malaysia:

Corporate Sukuk (b) 3,186,855      3,274,997      

Equity 1,250             1,250             

3,188,105      3,276,247      

Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI")

125



Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

8. Financial investments portfolio (cont'd.)

(ii)

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Unquoted securities (cont'd.):

Outside Malaysia:

Islamic Corporate Sukuk -                    928,335         

3,188,105      4,204,582      

Total financial investments at FVOCI 15,645,983    15,082,779    

(a) 

(b)

(c) The maturity profile of money market instruments are as follows:

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Within one year 3,220,412      584,570         

One year to three years 512,126         3,880,036      

Three years to five years 1,223,262      1,501,305      

After five years 7,502,078      4,912,286      

12,457,878    10,878,197    

(d) 

As at 31 December 2022

-

Effective from 31 December 2022, holdings of Malaysian Government Investment

Issues ("GII") were no longer recognised as part of Statutory Reserve Account

("SRA") balance. The amount of GII recognised as part of SRA balance in previous

financial year ended 31 December 2021 was RM10.0 million for the Bank.

As at 31 December 2022, the Corporate Sukuk funded by RPSIA amounting to

RM537.8 million (2021: RM343.8 million) was recorded off-balance sheet in

accordance with the accounting policy as disclosed in Note 2.2(xxiv).

Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI")

(cont'd.)

Analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and the corresponding allowances for

impairment losses on financial investments at FVOCI are as follows:

Changes in the financial investments at FVOCI for the Bank that contributed to the

changes in the loss allowances during the financial year ended 31 December 2022

was mainly due to the following:

The overall increase in the gross carrying amount of financial investments at

FVOCI was mainly contributed by GII which did not attract loss allowances.
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8. Financial investments portfolio (cont'd.)

(ii)

(d) 

As at 31 December 2022 (cont'd.)

-

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 2022 3,632 -                   -                                 3,632 
Transferred to Stage 2 (579)              579               -                    -                     
Net remeasurement

   of allowances (337)              835               -                                    498 

New financial assets 

   purchased 22                 -                   -                                      22 
Financial assets 

   derecognised (2,400)           -                   -                                (2,400)
Exchange differences 269               -                   -                                    269 
At 31 December 2022                 607 1,414            -                                 2,021 

As at 31 December 2021

-

Analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and the corresponding allowances for

impairment losses on financial investments at FVOCI are as follows (cont'd.):

Changes in the financial investments at FVOCI for the Bank that contributed to the

changes in the loss allowances during the previous financial year ended 31 December

2021 was mainly due to the following:

The overall decrease in the gross carrying amount of financial investments at

FVOCI was mainly contributed by GII which did not attract loss allowances.

The decrease in the gross carrying amount of Islamic Corporate Sukuk due to

financial assets derecognised during the financial year which correspondingly

decrease the ECL allowances.

Changes in the financial investments at FVOCI for the Bank that contributed to the

changes in the loss allowances during the financial year ended 31 December 2022

was mainly due to the following (cont'd.):

Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI")

(cont'd.)
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8. Financial investments portfolio (cont'd.)

(ii)

(d) 

As at 31 December 2021 (cont'd.)

-

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 2021 2,812            551               -                                 3,363 

Transferred to Stage 1 551               (551)              -                                         - 

Net remeasurement

   of allowances (114)              -                   -                                   (114)

New financial assets 

   purchased 2,923            -                   -                                 2,923 

Financial assets 

   derecognised (2,649)           -                   -                                (2,649)

Changes in models/

   risk parameters 31                 -                   -                                      31 

Exchange differences 78                 -                   -                                      78 
At 31 December 2021              3,632                     -                      -              3,632 

(e)

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

1,250 1,250

Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI")

(cont'd.)

Analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and the corresponding allowances for

impairment losses on financial investments at FVOCI are as follows (cont'd.):

Equity instrument at FVOCI is as follows:

Raeed Holdings Berhad

The increase in the gross carrying amount of Foreign Islamic Corporate Sukuk

due to new financial assets purchased during the year which correspondingly

increase the ECL allowances.

Changes in the financial investments at FVOCI for the Bank that contributed to the

changes in the loss allowances during the previous financial year ended 31 December

2021 was mainly due to the following (cont'd.):
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8. Financial investments portfolio (cont'd.)

(ii)

(f)

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Malaysian Government Investment Issues          461,081                      - 

(iii) Financial investments at amortised cost

2022 2021

Note RM’000 RM’000

At amortised cost

Money market instruments:

Malaysian Government Investment Issues (a) 15,437,414    11,246,266    

Khazanah Sukuk 545,883         826,400         

Cagamas Sukuk 125,468         -                     

16,108,765    12,072,666    

Unquoted securities:

In Malaysia:

Corporate Sukuk (b) 11,384,050    10,823,470    

Allowances for impairment losses (d) (31,116)         (28,355)          

Total financial investments at amortised 

  cost 27,461,699    22,867,781    

(a) 

(b) 

Effective from 31 December 2022, holdings of GII were no longer recognised as part

of SRA balance. The amount of GII recognised as part of SRA balance in previous

financial year ended 31 December 2021 was RM2,840.0 million for the Bank.

As at 31 December 2022, the Corporate Sukuk funded by RPSIA amounting to

RM4,164.2 million (2021: RM4,984.0 million) was recorded off-balance sheet in

accordance with the accounting policy as disclosed in Note 2.2(xxiv).

Included in investments at FVOCI are financial assets sold under repurchase

agreements are as follows:

Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI")

(cont'd.)
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8. Financial investments portfolio (cont'd.)

(iii) Financial investments at amortised cost (cont'd.)

(c) The maturity profile of money market instruments are as follows:

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Within one year 611,866         582,677         

One year to three years 648,051         1,123,916      

Three years to five years 19,584           -                     

After five years 14,829,264    10,366,073    

16,108,765    12,072,666    

(d) 

As at 31 December 2022

-

-

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 2022 28,355          -                   -                    28,355           
Transferred to Stage 2 (386)              386               -                                         - 
Net remeasurement

   of allowances 2,786            464               -                                 3,250 
New financial assets 

   purchased 1,005            -                   -                                 1,005 
Financial assets 

   derecognised (1,470)           -                   -                                (1,470)
Changes in models/

   risk parameters (24)                -                   -                                     (24)
At 31 December 2022            30,266 850               -                                31,116 

Analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and the corresponding allowances for

impairment losses on financial investments at amortised cost are as follows:

Changes in the financial investments at amortised cost for the Bank that contributed

to the changes in the loss allowances during the financial year ended 31 December

2022 were mainly due to following:

The overall increase in the gross carrying amount of financial investments

amortised cost was contributed by GII which did not attract loss allowances.

The increase in the gross carrying amount of Corporate Sukuk due to new

financial assets purchased during the financial year which correspondingly

increase ECL allowances.

130



Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

8. Financial investments portfolio (cont'd.)

(iii) Financial investments at amortised cost (cont'd.)

(d) 

As at 31 December 2021

-

-

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 2021 38,379          231,265        -                    269,644         

Transferred to Stage 1 346               (346)              -                    -                     

Net remeasurement

   of allowances (17,119)         -                   -                    (17,119)          

New financial assets 

   purchased 1,636            -                   -                    1,636             

Financial assets 

   derecognised (1,249)           (230,919)       -                    (232,168)        

Changes in models/

   risk parameters 6,349            -                   -                    6,349             

Exchange differences 13                 -                   -                    13                  
At 31 December 2021 28,355 -                   -                    28,355           

The overall increase in the gross carrying amount of financial investments at

amortised cost  was contributed by GII which did not attract loss allowances.

The decrease in the gross carrying amount of Corporate Sukuk due to

derecognition of financial assets during the financial year which correspondingly

decrease ECL allowances.

Analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and the corresponding allowances for

impairment losses on financial investments at amortised cost are as follows (cont'd.):

Changes in the financial investments at amortised cost for the Bank that contributed

to the changes in the loss allowances during the previous financial year ended 31

December 2021 were mainly due to following:
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9. Financing and advances

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Financing and advances*:

(A) Financing and advances at FVOCI 3,141,460      2,175,615      

(B) Financing and advances at amortised cost 280,573,323  262,214,501  

283,714,783  264,390,116  

Unearned income (66,345,579)   (68,980,345)   

Gross financing and advances 217,369,204  195,409,771  

Allowances for ECL and impairment losses:

   - Stage 1 - 12-month ECL (442,735)       (556,209)        

   - Stage 2 - Lifetime ECL not credit impaired (1,309,534)     (1,678,410)     

   - Stage 3 - Lifetime ECL credit impaired (1,237,312)     (709,435)        

Net financing and advances 214,379,623  192,465,717  

* As at 31 December 2022, the financing and advances funded by RPSIA amounting to

RM25,882.8 million (2021: RM25,033.6 million) was recorded off-balance sheet in

accordance with the accounting policy as disclosed in Note 2.2(xxiv).

The gross exposure of the financing and advances funded by investment accounts of

customers ("IA") as at 31 December 2022 was RM25,637.7 million (2021: RM28,720.8

million). 
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9. Financing and advances (cont'd.)

(i) Financing and advances analysed by type and Shariah concepts are as follows:

Al-Ijarah Total

Thumma Al-  financing and

Bai'
1

Murabahah Musharakah Bai' ("AITAB")
2

Ijarah
3

Others  advances

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Cashline -                   6,837,168         -                      -                        -                  -                 6,837,168         

Term financing

 - House financing 11,752,044  87,570,087       1,552,014       -                        -                  599             100,874,744     

 - Syndicated financing -                   7,229,950         -                      -                        -                  -                 7,229,950         

 - Hire purchase receivables -                   13,349,586       -                      41,455,457        -                  -                 54,805,043       

 - Lease receivables -                   -                       -                      -                        1,735,870    -                 1,735,870         

 - Other term financing 6,507,592    87,128,112       483,889          -                        -                  150,491      94,270,084       

Trust receipts -                   175,810            -                      -                        -                  -                 175,810            

Claims on customers under acceptance credits -                   6,024,358         -                      -                        -                  -                 6,024,358         

Staff financing 282,744       2,548,232         6,488              137,263             -                  43,715        3,018,442         

Credit card receivables -                   -                       -                      -                        -                  1,779,342   1,779,342         

Revolving credit -                   6,909,108         -                      -                        -                  -                 6,909,108         

Share margin financing -                   49,724              -                      -                        -                  -                 49,724              

Financing to:

 - Directors of the Bank -                   2,032                -                      -                        -                  37              2,069                

 - Directors of related companies -                   2,899                -                      137                    -                  35              3,071                

18,542,380  217,827,066     2,042,391       41,592,857        1,735,870    1,974,219   283,714,783     

Unearned income (66,345,579)      

Gross financing and advances
4 217,369,204     

Allowances for ECL and impairment losses:

- Stage 1 - 12-month ECL (442,735)          

- Stage 2 - Lifetime ECL not credit impaired (1,309,534)        

- Stage 3 - Lifetime ECL credit impaired (1,237,312)        
Net financing and advances 214,379,623     

1
Bai' comprises of Bai'-Bithaman Ajil, Bai' Al-Inah and Bai'-Al-Dayn.

2

3

4

The Bank is the owner of the asset. The ownership of an asset will be transferred to the customer via sale at the end of the Ijarah financing.

The Bank is the owner of the asset. The ownership of an asset will be transferred to the customer at the end of the Ijarah financing subject to the customer's

execution of the purchase option.

Included in financing and advances are the underlying assets under the IA.
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9. Financing and advances (cont'd.)

(i) Financing and advances analysed by type and Shariah concepts are as follows (cont'd.):

Al-Ijarah Total

Thumma Al-  financing and

Bai'
1

Murabahah Musharakah Bai' ("AITAB")
2

Ijarah
3

Others  advances

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Cashline -                   6,287,366         -                      -                        -                  -                 6,287,366         

Term financing

 - House financing 12,828,267  81,673,329       1,719,726       -                        -                  602             96,221,924       

 - Syndicated financing -                   5,955,729         -                      -                        -                  -                 5,955,729         

 - Hire purchase receivables -                   11,676,586       -                      36,500,533        -                  -                 48,177,119       

 - Lease receivables -                   -                       -                      -                        815,909       -                 815,909            

 - Other term financing 8,317,772    82,612,398       536,521          -                        -                  30,604        91,497,295       

Trust receipts -                   132,385            -                      -                        -                  -                 132,385            

Claims on customers under acceptance credits -                   5,227,288         -                      -                        -                  -                 5,227,288         

Staff financing 340,773       2,357,766         7,330              156,719             -                  36,492        2,899,080         

Credit card receivables -                   -                       -                      -                        -                  1,355,004   1,355,004         

Revolving credit -                   5,760,355         -                      -                        -                  -                 5,760,355         

Share margin financing -                   55,212              -                      -                        -                  -                 55,212              

Financing to:

 - Directors of the Bank -                   1,451                -                      -                        -                  4                1,455                

 - Directors of related companies -                   3,570                -                      300                    -                  125             3,995                

21,486,812  201,743,435     2,263,577       36,657,552        815,909       1,422,831   264,390,116     

Unearned income (68,980,345)      

Gross financing and advances
4 195,409,771     

Allowances for ECL and impairment losses:

- Stage 1 - 12-month ECL (556,209)          

- Stage 2 - Lifetime ECL not credit impaired (1,678,410)        

- Stage 3 - Lifetime ECL credit impaired (709,435)          

Net financing and advances 192,465,717     

1
Bai' comprises of Bai'-Bithaman Ajil, Bai' Al-Inah and Bai'-Al-Dayn.

2

3

4
Included in financing and advances are the underlying assets under the IA.

The Bank is the owner of the asset. The ownership of an asset will be transferred to the customer via sale at the end of the Ijarah financing.

The Bank is the owner of the asset. The ownership of an asset will be transferred to the customer at the end of the Ijarah financing subject to the customer's

execution of the purchase option.
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9. Financing and advances (cont'd.)

(ii) Financing and advances analysed by type of customers are as follows:

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Domestic non-banking financial institutions 5,070,402      4,102,492      

Domestic business enterprises:

   - Small and medium enterprises 36,949,925    30,636,404    

   - Others 19,948,088    19,993,497    

Government and statutory bodies 3,024,602      2,315,399      

Individuals 150,215,905  136,439,893  

Other domestic entities 112,416         75,855           

Foreign entities 2,047,866      1,846,231      
Gross financing and advances 217,369,204  195,409,771  

(iii) Financing and advances analysed by profit rate sensitivity are as follows:

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Fixed rate:

  - House financing 1,678,831      1,618,632      

  - Hire purchase receivables 37,177,565    32,783,987    

  - Other financing 16,285,363    13,899,657    

Floating rate:

  - House financing 66,675,784    59,652,877    

  - Other financing 95,551,661    87,454,618    

Gross financing and advances 217,369,204  195,409,771  

(iv) Financing and advances analysed by their economic purposes are as follows:

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Purchase of securities 26,491,247    25,278,402    

Purchase of transport vehicles 49,567,413    43,898,276    

Purchase of landed properties:

   - Residential 69,603,629    61,572,937    

   - Non-residential 18,016,280    16,204,503    

Purchase of fixed assets (excluding landed properties) 267,159         177,947         

Personal use 3,198,911      3,252,580      

Purchase of consumer durables 475                520                

Constructions 2,379,126      2,037,500      

Mergers and acquisitions 460,000         500,000         

Working capital 45,556,016    41,086,366    

Credit cards 1,828,948      1,400,740      

Gross financing and advances 217,369,204  195,409,771  
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9. Financing and advances (cont'd.)

(v)  The maturity profile of financing and advances are as follows:

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Within one year 24,619,767    23,468,423    

One year to three years 7,994,328      7,961,295      

Three years to five years 19,579,563    16,372,043    

After five years 165,175,546  147,608,010  

Gross financing and advances 217,369,204  195,409,771  

(vi) Movements in the credit impaired financing and advances are as follows:

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Gross impaired financing and advances at 

   1 January 1,492,756      2,452,406      

Impaired during the financial year 1,237,425      238,626         

Reclassified as non-impaired (65,139)         (36,215)          

Amount recovered (223,830)       (339,776)        

Amount written-off (380,132)       (233,810)        

Amount related to Restricted Investment Account -                    (588,475)        

Gross impaired financing and advances at

   31 December 2,061,080      1,492,756      

Less: Stage 3 - Lifetime ECL credit impaired (1,237,312)     (709,435)        

Net impaired financing and advances at 

   31 December 823,768         783,321         

Calculation of ratio of net impaired financing and

   advances (excluding financing funded by IA):

Gross impaired financing and advances 2,001,463      1,429,024      

Less: Stage 3 - Lifetime ECL credit impaired (1,237,312)     (709,435)        

Net impaired financing and advances 764,151         719,589         
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9. Financing and advances (cont'd.)

(vi) Movements in the credit impaired financing and advances are as follows (cont'd.):

Calculation of ratio of net impaired financing and

   advances (excluding financing funded by IA)
 
(cont'd.):

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Gross financing and advances 191,731,502  166,688,972  

Less: Allowances for financing and advances at

          amortised cost and at fair value through other 

          comprehensive income (2,996,850)     (2,946,356)     

Net financing and advances 188,734,652  163,742,616  

Ratio of net impaired financing and advances 0.40% 0.44%

(vii) 

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Purchase of securities 7,462             11,569           

Purchase of transport vehicles 129,899         126,187         

Purchase of landed properties:

   - Residential 256,992         291,858         

   - Non-residential 187,865         146,632         

Purchase of fixed assets (excluding landed properties) 2,720             920                

Personal use 32,286           39,409           

Purchase of consumer durables 2                   2                    

Constructions 204,506         25,099           

Working capital 1,228,537      844,904         

Credit cards 10,811           6,176             

2,061,080      1,492,756      

Credit impaired financing and advances analysed by their economic purposes are as

follows:
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9. Financing and advances (cont'd.)

(viii)

As at 31 December 2022

-

-

-

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At fair value through other

   comprehensive income

At 1 January 2022 2,302          -                  -                    2,302             

Net remeasurement

   of allowances 2,885          -                  -                    2,885             

New financial assets 

   originated or purchased 2,550          -                  -                    2,550             

Financial assets 

   derecognised (494)            -                    (494)               

Exchange differences 26               -                  -                    26                  

At 31 December 2022 7,269          -                  -                    7,269             

Analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and the corresponding allowances for

impairment losses on financing and advances are as follows:

Changes in the gross carrying amount of financing and advances carried at fair value

through other comprehensive income and amortised cost for the Bank that contributed

to the changes in the loss allowance during the financial year ended 31 December 2022

were mainly due to the following:

Gross carrying amount grew significantly from hire purchase receivables and house

financing by 14% and 5% respectively.

The ECL for Stage 1 (12-month ECL) and Stage 2 (lifetime ECL not credit impaired)

decreased primarily due to the improvement in macro-economic outlook and

repayment behavioural trend along with movement of accounts from Stage 2 to

Stage 3 due to newly impaired accounts under high risk industry which led to an

increase in ECL for Stage 3 (lifetime ECL credit impaired).

The gross carrying amount of financing and advances that was written off during the

year, which is still subject to recovery activity was RM380.1 million (2021: RM233.8

million). This has resulted in the reduction of Stage 3 lifetime ECL credit impaired by

the same amount.
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9. Financing and advances (cont'd.)

(viii)

As at 31 December 2022 (cont'd.)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At amortised cost 

At 1 January 2022 556,209      1,678,410    709,435         2,944,054      

Transferred to Stage 1 167,116      (162,063)      (5,053)           -                     

Transferred to Stage 2 (32,756)       47,143         (14,387)         -                     

Transferred to Stage 3 (8,797)         (250,227)      259,024         -                     
Net remeasurement

   of allowances (342,559)     1,080           684,326         342,847         

New financial assets 

   originated or purchased 140,955      64,426         -                    205,381         

Financial assets 

   derecognised (56,107)       (69,495)        (22,596)         (148,198)        

Changes in models/risk 

   parameters (1,738)         (210)             (9,655)           (11,603)          

Amount written-off -                  -                  (380,132)       (380,132)        

Exchange differences 20,412        470              16,350           37,232           

At 31 December 2022 442,735      1,309,534    1,237,312      2,989,581      

Analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and the corresponding allowances for

impairment losses on financing and advances are as follows (cont'd.):
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9. Financing and advances (cont'd.)

(viii)

As at 31 December 2021

-

-

-

-

Analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and the corresponding allowances for

impairment losses on financing and advances are as follows (cont'd.):

Changes in the gross carrying amount of financing and advances carried at fair value

through other comprehensive income and amortised cost for the Bank that contributed

to the changes in the loss allowances during the previous financial year ended 31

December 2021 were mainly due to the following:

Reduction in other term financing by 23% due to financial assets funded by RPSIA

is recorded as off-balance sheet item effective 31 December 2021 which

correspondingly resulted in the decrease in ECL allowances.

The above decrease is mitigated by the financing growth from hire purchase

receivables and house financing by 7% and 4% respectively.

The ECL for Stage 1 (12-month ECL) decreased primarily due to the improvement

in macro-economic outlook and repayment behavioral trend while ECL for Stage 2

(lifetime ECL not credit impaired) increased mainly contributed by accounts under

high risk industry.

The gross carrying amount of financing and advances that was written off during the

year, which is still subject to recovery activity was RM233.8 million (2020: RM317.0

million). This has resulted in the reduction of Stage 3 lifetime ECL credit impaired by

the same amount.
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9. Financing and advances (cont'd.)

(viii)

As at 31 December 2021 (cont'd.)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At fair value through other

   comprehensive income

At 1 January 2021 1,662          2,494           -                    4,156             

Net remeasurement

   of allowances 133             -                  -                    133                

New financial assets 

   originated or purchased 47               -                  -                    47                  

Financial assets 

   derecognised (636)            (2,494)          -                    (3,130)            

Changes in models/risk 

   parameters 1,085          -                  -                    1,085             

Exchange differences 11               -                  -                    11                  
At 31 December 2021 2,302          -                  -                    2,302             

Analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and the corresponding allowances for

impairment losses on financing and advances are as follows (cont'd.):
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9. Financing and advances (cont'd.)

(viii)

As at 31 December 2021 (cont'd.)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At amortised cost 

At 1 January 2021 574,213      1,209,931    1,254,822      3,038,966      

Transferred to Stage 1 241,131      (229,027)      (12,104)         -                     

Transferred to Stage 2 (17,310)       45,043         (27,733)         -                     

Transferred to Stage 3 (5,392)         (27,532)        32,924           -                     

Net remeasurement

   of allowances (245,822)     741,141       117,932         613,251         

New financial assets 

   originated or purchased 115,763      51,554         -                    167,317         

Financial assets 

   derecognised (42,288)       (75,656)        (24,227)         (142,171)        

Changes in models/risk 

   parameters (44,063)       (20,640)        -                    (64,703)          

Amount related to

   Restricted Investment

   Accounts (20,279)       (17,223)        (409,064)       (446,566)        

Amount written-off -                  -                  (233,810)       (233,810)        

Exchange differences 256             819              10,695           11,770           

At 31 December 2021 556,209      1,678,410    709,435         2,944,054      

Analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and the corresponding allowances for

impairment losses on financing and advances are as follows (cont'd.):
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10. Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Principal Principal

amount Assets Liabilities amount Assets Liabilities

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Trading derivatives

Foreign exchange related contracts

Currency forwards:

- Less than one year 7,169,578     16,622          (220,596)       8,617,698     26,173          (35,464)         

- One year to three years 735,487        1,847            (1,847)           574,349        2,475            (2,475)           

- More than three years 2,396,107     31,628          (31,628)         2,704,174     6,242            (6,242)           

10,301,172   50,097          (254,071)       11,896,221   34,890          (44,181)         

Currency swaps:

- Less than one year 9,208,639     185,047        (83,280)         15,398,762   19,239          (65,804)         

Currency spots:

- Less than one year 193,731        4,446            (257)              400,910        65                 (1,283)           

Currency options:

- Less than one year 4,348            10                 (10)                7,157            38                 (38)                

The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments, recorded as assets or liabilities, together with their notional amounts.

The notional amount, recorded gross, is the amount of derivative's underlying asset, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which change

in the value of derivatives are measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at the reporting date and are

indicative of neither the market risks nor the credit risk.

The Bank enters into derivative financial instruments at the request and on behalf of its customers as well as to hedge the Bank's own

exposures and not for speculative purpose. Derivative financial instruments that are entered into for hedging purpose but which the Bank have

not used to apply hedge accounting or which relate to customers' transactions are classified as trading derivatives.

2022

<--------- Fair value ----------->

2021

<--------- Fair value ----------->
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10. Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (cont'd.)

Principal Principal

amount Assets Liabilities amount Assets Liabilities

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Trading derivatives (cont'd.)

Foreign exchange related contracts (cont'd.)

Cross currency profit rate swaps:

- Less than one year 5,064            225               (225)              2,114,560     7,548            (7,548)           

- One year to three years 7,225            283               (283)              24,137          112               (112)              

- More than three years 416,486        2,790            (2,790)           405,012        7,759            (7,759)           

428,775        3,298            (3,298)           2,543,709     15,419          (15,419)         

Profit rate related contracts

Profit rate swaps:

- Less than one year 3,012,000     18,501          (18,501)         490,000        4,185            (4,185)           

- One year to three years 65,437          494               (494)              4,622,648     37,370          (36,085)         

- More than three years 220,000        1,870            (1,780)           392,321        6,214            (10,550)         

3,297,437     20,865          (20,775)         5,504,969     47,769          (50,820)         

Hedging derivatives

Profit rate related contracts

Profit rate swaps:

- More than three years 1,635,000     -                    (22,983)         -                    -                    -                    

Total 25,069,102   263,763        (384,674)       35,751,728   117,420        (177,545)       

2022 2021

<--------- Fair value -----------> <--------- Fair value ----------->
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10. Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (cont'd.)

Fair value hedge

2022

RM’000

Loss on the hedging instruments (21,838)         
Gain on the hedged items attributable to the hedged risk 20,474           

11. Other assets

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Amount due from holding company 4,170,395      3,880,724      

Handling fees 218,146         190,877         

Prepayments and deposits 15,006           16,079           

Tax recoverable -                    171,447         

Margin account with holding company -                    114,110         

Other debtors 747,218         431,238         

5,150,765      4,804,475      

Included within hedging derivatives are derivatives where the Bank have used to apply hedge 

accounting.

Fair value hedge is used by the Bank to minimise volatility in changes in the fair value of

financial assets and financial liabilities due to movements in profit rates. The financial

instruments hedged for profit rate risk include the Bank's financial investments.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the Bank recognised the following net

gain/(loss):
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12. Statutory deposit with Bank Negara Malaysia

13. Property, plant and equipment

Office

furniture,

fittings,

equipment Computers

 and and Motor

renovations peripherals vehicles Total

As at 31 December 2022 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cost

At 1 January 2022 1,099           152                401                1,652             

Additions -                  151                -                    151                

Exchange differences (62)               (8)                  (22)                (92)                

At 31 December 2022 1,037           295                379                1,711             

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2022 846              66                  194                1,106             

Depreciation charge for the 

   financial year (Note 33) 182              28                  67                  277                

Exchange differences (11)               -                    (2)                  (13)                

At 31 December 2022 1,017           94                  259                1,370             

Net carrying amount 20                201                120                341                

The non-profit bearing statutory deposit maintained with Bank Negara Malaysia is in

compliance with the requirements of the Central Bank of Malaysia Act 2009, the amount of

which is determined as set percentages of total eligible liabilities.
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13. Property, plant and equipment (cont'd.)

Office

furniture,

fittings,

equipment Computers

 and and Motor

renovations peripherals vehicles Total

As at 31 December 2021 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cost

At 1 January 2021 1,098           139                401                1,638             

Additions 2                  13                  -                    15                  

Exchange differences (1)                -                    -                    (1)                  

At 31 December 2021 1,099           152                401                1,652             

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2021 508              36                  115                659                

Depreciation charge for the 

   financial year (Note 33) 337              30                  79                  446                

Exchange differences 1                  -                    -                    1                   

At 31 December 2021 846              66                  194                1,106             

Net carrying amount 253              86                  207                546                

14. Right-of-use assets

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Cost

At 1 January 13,350           15,148           

Additions 4,603             -                    

Termination (3,313)           -                    

Modification (396)              (1,793)           

Exchange differences (2)                  (5)                  

At 31 December 14,242           13,350           

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 7,224             5,247             

Depreciation charge for the financial year (Note 33) 3,150             2,503             

Termination (3,313)           -                    

Modification (99)                (527)              

Exchange differences 1                   1                   

At 31 December 6,963             7,224             

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 7,279             6,126             

Premises
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15. Deposits from customers

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Savings deposits

   Murabahah 27,711,469    26,302,000    

   Qard 601,896         3,496,477      

28,313,365    29,798,477    

Demand deposits

   Murabahah 37,422,903    32,042,239    

   Qard 1,381,375      1,362,014      

38,804,278    33,404,253    

Term deposits

   Murabahah 142,073,732  115,751,729  

   Qard 592,088         560,459         

142,665,820  116,312,188  

209,783,463  179,514,918  

(i) The maturity profile of term deposits are as follows:

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Within six months 131,862,405  98,667,962    

Six months to one year 10,616,600    17,388,379    

One year to three years 166,746         227,460         

Three years to five years 20,069           28,387           

142,665,820  116,312,188  

(ii)   The deposits are sourced from the following type of customers:

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Business enterprises 76,896,558    54,833,259    

Individuals 59,602,414    51,692,158    

Government and statutory bodies 38,164,258    36,389,382    

Others 35,120,233    36,600,119    

209,783,463  179,514,918  
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16. Investment accounts 

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Investment accounts of customers

- Unrestricted investment accounts
1 25,637,702    28,720,799    

Restricted investment accounts managed by the Bank
2

30,552,966    30,147,795    

(i) Movements in the investment accounts are as follows:

Restricted

investment
Unrestricted accounts

 investment managed by

accounts
1

 the Bank
2

2022 RM’000 RM’000

Funding inflows/(outflows)

At 1 January 28,720,799    30,147,795    

New placements during the financial year 49,620,821    10,069,529    

Redemptions during the financial year (52,706,322)   (10,743,567)   

Changes in profit payable 2,404             1,079,209      

At 31 December 25,637,702    30,552,966    

Restricted

investment
Unrestricted accounts

 investment managed by

accounts
1

 the Bank
2

2021 RM’000 RM’000

Funding inflows/(outflows)

At 1 January 23,840,796    -                     

New placements during the financial year 42,089,839    610,725         

Redemptions during the financial year (37,209,403)   -                     

Changes in profit payable (433)               25,112           

Transfer from on-balance sheet -                     29,511,958    
At 31 December 28,720,799    30,147,795    
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16. Investment accounts (cont'd.)

(ii)   Investment accounts are sourced from the following type of customers:

Restricted

investment
Unrestricted accounts

 investment managed by

accounts
1

 the Bank
2

2022 RM’000 RM’000

Business enterprises 13,389,602    -                     

Individuals 10,342,032    -                     

Government and statutory bodies 246,938         -                     

Licensed banks -                     30,123,166    

Others 1,659,130      429,800         

25,637,702    30,552,966    

Restricted

investment
Unrestricted accounts

 investment managed by

accounts
1

 the Bank
2

2021 RM’000 RM’000

Business enterprises 16,564,421    -                     

Individuals 10,159,957    -                     

Government and statutory bodies 205,058         -                     

Licensed banks -                     29,511,958    

Others 1,791,363      635,837         

28,720,799    30,147,795    

150



Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

16. Investment accounts (cont'd.)

(iii)   Maturity structure of investment accounts are as follows:

Restricted

investment
Unrestricted accounts

 investment managed by

accounts
1

 the Bank
2

2022 RM’000 RM’000

- without maturity 21,160,119    -                     

- with maturity 4,477,583      30,552,966    

     Within six months 3,055,394      10,280,098    

     Six months to one year 1,403,496      30,109           

     One year to three years 13,924           3,995,512      

     Three years to five years 4,769             16,247,247    

25,637,702    30,552,966    

Restricted

investment
Unrestricted accounts

 investment managed by

accounts
1

 the Bank
2

2021 RM’000 RM’000

- without maturity 23,666,368    -                     

- with maturity 5,054,431      30,147,795    

     Within six months 3,560,977      8,099,298      

     Six months to one year 1,483,337      54,362           

     One year to three years 4,741             3,715,037      

     Three years to five years 5,376             18,279,098    

28,720,799    30,147,795    
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(iv)   The allocation of investment asset are as follows:

Restricted

investment
Unrestricted accounts

 investment managed by

accounts
1

 the Bank
2

2022 RM’000 RM’000

Retail financing 23,987,702    -                     

Non-retail financing 1,650,000      25,955,010    

Corporate Sukuk -                     4,597,956      

25,637,702    30,552,966    

Restricted

investment
Unrestricted accounts

 investment managed by

accounts
1

 the Bank
2

2021 RM’000 RM’000

Retail financing 26,965,529    -                     

Non-retail financing 1,755,270      24,819,965    

Corporate Sukuk -                     5,327,830      
28,720,799    30,147,795    
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(v)   Profit sharing ratio and rate of return are as follows:

Average profit Average rate

sharing ratio of return

2022 (%) (%)

Investment accounts of customers 

- Unrestricted investment accounts
1 32.04             2.58               

Restricted investment accounts managed by the Bank
2

76.29             4.60               

2021

Investment accounts of customers 

- Unrestricted investment accounts
1

29.55             1.18               

Restricted investment accounts managed by the Bank
2

78.41             3.20               

1

2

The total funds invested in Multi-Asset Investment Account-i ("MAIA") product was

RM122.7 million (31 December 2021: RM515.4 million) of which RM59.6 million (2021:

RM254.1 million) are the funds managed by the Bank. The remaining are managed by a

related entity, Maybank Islamic Asset Management Sdn Bhd ("MIAM") where the funds

are invested in marketable securities with net asset value of RM63.1 million as at 31

December 2022 (2021: RM261.3 million). The funds managed by MIAM are excluded

from the asset and liability of the Bank.

Included in restricted investment accounts managed by the Bank is an arrangement

between the Bank with the holding company and with the third party where the Bank acts

as an investment agent to manage and administer the restricted investment accounts

amounting to RM30,123.2 million and RM429.8 million (2021: RM29,512.0 million and

RM635.8 million) respectively. The amount of restricted investment accounts managed by

the Bank are disclosed net of any impairment allowances required on the underlying

financial assets funded by the restricted investment accounts.

 Investment account holder 

("IAH") 
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17. Deposits and placements of banks and other financial institutions

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Non-Mudharabah fund

Licensed banks 22,046,315    21,378,327    

Licensed Islamic banks 99,226           948,712         

Licensed investment banks 304,736         267,265         

Other financial institutions 1,147,229      1,592,324      

23,597,506    24,186,628    

18. Other liabilities

Note 2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Sundry creditors 2,228,273      1,285,618      

Deposit on trade financing 55,786           125,593         

Provisions and accruals 86,692           44,371           

Margin deposit from holding company 117,100         -                    

Provisions for commitments and

   contingencies (i) -                    -                    

Allowances for impairment losses on  

   financing commitments and financial

   guarantee contracts (ii) 137,937         50,720           

Lease liabilities (iii) 6,622             5,957             

Structured deposits 14,448           3,592             

Amount due to related company 8,090             5,270             

2,654,948      1,521,121      
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18. Other liabilities (cont'd.)

(i) The movements of provisions for commitments and contingencies are as follows:

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January -                    47,918           

Written back (Note 33) -                    (47,918)         

At 31 December -                    -                    

(ii)

As at 31 December 2022

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 2022 31,665         17,433           1,622             50,720           

Transferred to Stage 1 1,450           (1,447)           (3)                  -                    

Transferred to Stage 2 (547)             547                -                    -                    

Transferred to Stage 3 (2)                (6,652)           6,654             -                    

Net remeasurement

   of allowances (77)               234                86,120           86,277           

New credit exposures 

   originated or purchased 25,654         12,435           -                    38,089           

Credit exposures  

   derecognised (25,235)        (11,004)         (1,249)           (37,488)         

Changes in models/risk 

   parameters (2)                -                    -                    (2)                  

Exchange differences 335              6                   -                    341                

At 31 December 2022 33,241         11,552           93,144           137,937         

Movements in the allowances for impairment losses on financing commitments and

financial guarantee contracts are as follows:

155



Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

18. Other liabilities (cont'd.)

(ii)

As at 31 December 2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 2021 26,366         9,592             383                36,341           

Transferred to Stage 1 76                (76)                -                    -                    

Transferred to Stage 2 (18)               18                  -                    -                    

Transferred to Stage 3 (98)               -                    98                  -                    

Net remeasurement

   of allowances (22,761)        563                1,422             (20,776)         

New credit exposures 

   originated or purchased 31,073         9,653             -                    40,726           

Credit exposures  

   derecognised (3,190)          (2,294)           (281)              (5,765)           

Changes in models/risk 

   parameters 1                  (39)                -                    (38)                

Exchange differences 216              16                  -                    232                
At 31 December 2021 31,665         17,433           1,622             50,720           

(iii) Lease liabilities

The movements in lease liabilities are as follows:

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 5,957             9,896             

New lease contracts 3,336             -                    

Modification 91                  (1,394)           

Finance cost on lease liabilities 239                297                

Lease obligation reduction (3,002)           (2,843)           

Exchange differences 1                   1                   

At 31 December 6,622             5,957             

Movements in the allowances for impairment losses on financing commitments and

financial guarantee contracts are as follows (cont'd.):
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18. Other liabilities (cont'd.)

(iii) Lease liabilities (cont'd.)

The undiscounted maturity analysis of lease liabilities 

   are as follows:

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Less than one year 2,892             2,016             

Between one and five years 4,291             4,060             

7,183             6,076             

19. Provision for taxation and zakat

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Taxation 105,940         -                    

Zakat 32,267           27,544           

138,207         27,544           

20. Deferred tax 

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January (190,616)       449,812         

Recognised in income statement (Note 36) (18,725)         (461,634)       

   Relating to origination and reversal of temporary

     differences (18,725)         (35,221)         

   Over provision in prior year -                    (428,546)       

   Effect of an increase in tax rate -                    2,133             

Recognised in statement of other comprehensive income (79,092)         (178,794)       

At 31 December (288,433)       (190,616)       
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20. Deferred tax (cont'd.)

Presented after appropriate offsetting as follows:

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Deferred tax assets (288,465)       (213,156)       

Deferred tax liabilities 32                  22,540           

(288,433)       (190,616)       

Deferred tax assets of the Bank:

Impairment

losses on

financing,

financial

investments Other

and other FVOCI temporary

financial assets reserve differences Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 2022 (205,475)      -                    (7,681)           (213,156)       

Recognised in income 

   statement:

   Relating to origination and  

     reversal of temporary

     differences (1,897)          -                    (16,846)         (18,743)         

   Recognised in statement of 

     other comprehensive 

     income -                  (56,566)         -                    (56,566)         

At 31 December 2022 (207,372)      (56,566)         (24,527)         (288,465)       

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set-

off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes

relate to the same fiscal authority.

The component and movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities during the financial

year prior to offsetting are as follows:
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20. Deferred tax (cont'd.)

Deferred tax assets of the Bank (cont'd.):

Impairment

losses on

financing,

financial

investments

and other Other

financial temporary

assets differences Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 2021 (175,686)       (4,553)           (180,239)       

Recognised in income statement:

   Relating to origination and reversal 

     of temporary differences (32,024)         (3,032)           (35,056)         

   Effect of an increase in tax rate 2,235             (96)                2,139             
At 31 December 2021 (205,475)       (7,681)           (213,156)       

Deferred tax liabilities of the Bank:

Unabsorbed

FVOCI capital

reserve allowance Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 2022 22,526           14                  22,540           

Recognised in income statement: 

   Relating to origination and reversal 

     of temporary differences -                    18                  18                  

Recognised in statement of other

  comprehensive income (22,526)         -                    (22,526)         
At 31 December 2022 -                    32                  32                  

The component and movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities during the financial

year prior to offsetting are as follows (cont'd.):
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20. Deferred tax (cont'd.)

Deferred tax liabilities of the Bank (cont'd.):

Unabsorbed Profit on Other

FVOCI capital financing temporary

reserve allowance moratorium differences Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 

  2021 201,320    21                428,546         164                630,051         

Recognised 

  in income 

  statement: 

   Relating to 

     origination 

     and reversal 

     of temporary

     differences -                (1)                -                    (164)              (165)              

   Over provision

     in prior year -                -                  (428,546)       -                    (428,546)       

   Effect of an 

     increase in 

     tax rate -                (6)                -                    -                    (6)                  

Recognised 

   in statement 

   of other 

   comprehensive 

   income (178,794)   -                  -                    -                    (178,794)       

At 31 December
  2021 22,526      14                -                    -                    22,540           

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Unutilised tax losses 97,646           177,258         

The component and movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities during the financial

year prior to offsetting are as follows (cont'd.):

The Bank has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of unused tax losses from

International Currency Business Unit ("ICBU") as it is not probable that future taxable profits

will be available against which they can be utilised.

Pursuant to Finance Bill 2021, the tax losses can be utilised up to a maximum of ten

consecutive years effective retrospectively from year of assessment 2019.
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21. Term funding

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Unsecured term funding:

(i) Commercial Papers

 - Less than one year 6,413,953      7,947,135      

(ii) Medium Term Notes

 - Less than one year -                    2,002,762      

 - More than one year 2,003,796      -                    

(iii) Term funding

 - More than one year (note(a)) 1,003,453      973,280         

Total term funding 9,421,202      10,923,177    

Note(a):

Included in the unsecured term funding issued by the Bank are as follows:

RM20.0 billion Islamic Medium Term Note Programme

Term funding relates to amounts received by the Bank under government financing

scheme as part of the government support measure in response to COVID-19

pandemic for the purpose of SME financing at a below market rate with a six-year

maturity to be repaid on 17 June 2026. The financing under the government

scheme is for financing at concession rates to SMEs and for COVID-19 related

relief measures.

On 29 November 2022, the Bank established a RM20.0 billion Islamic Medium Term Note

Programme, pursuant to which the Bank may issue, from time to time, Ringgit Malaysia

Islamic Medium Term Notes ("RM IMTNs") of up to RM20.0 billion in nominal value under

the Shariah principle of Wakalah Bi Al-Istithmar. 

The IMTN Programme will give the Bank flexibility to raise funds via the issuance of Islamic

medium term notes from time to time which can be utilised, amongst others, to fund the

Bank's working capital, general banking and other Shariah compliant corporate purposes,

including the refinancing of any existing financing or debt instruments issued by the Bank.
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21. Term funding (cont'd.)

Included in the unsecured term funding issued by the Bank are as follows (cont'd.):

RM10.0 billion Islamic Commercial Paper/Islamic Medium Term Note Programme

Issuance/redemption of medium term notes

Issuance/redemption Currency Description Aggregate Nominal Value

(RM' million)

Issuance RM Fixed rate notes 2,000.0          

Redemption RM Fixed rate notes 2,000.0          

Issuance of commercial papers

Currency Description Aggregate Nominal Value

(RM' million)

RM Zero Profit ICP 6,500.0          

The aggregate nominal value of the commercial papers issued by the Bank and outstanding

as at 31 December 2022 are as follows:

On 21 February 2017, the Bank established a RM10.0 billion Islamic Commercial

Paper/Islamic Medium Term Note Programme, pursuant to which the Bank may issue, from

time to time, Ringgit Malaysia Islamic Commercial Papers ("RM ICPs") and/or Ringgit

Malaysia Islamic Medium Term Notes ("RM IMTNs") of up to RM10.0 billion in nominal value

under the Shariah principle of Wakalah Bi Al-Istithmar. 

The ICP/IMTN Programme will give the Bank flexibility to raise funds via the issuance of

Islamic commercial papers and/or Islamic medium term notes from time to time which can

be utilised, amongst others, to fund the Bank's working capital, general banking and other

Shariah compliant corporate purposes, including the refinancing of any existing financing or

debt instruments issued by the Bank.

The following are the changes in the term funding that include the commercial

papers/medium term notes/sukuk issued/redeemed by the Bank during the financial year

ended 31 December 2022:

162



Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

22. Subordinated sukuk

2022 2021

Note RM’000 RM’000

RM1,000 million subordinated sukuk due in 2029 (i) 1,010,849      1,010,849       

RM1,000 million subordinated sukuk due in 2031 (ii) 1,011,044      1,010,965       

2,021,893      2,021,814       

The details of the issued subordinated sukuk are as follows:

Note Description Issue date First call date Maturity date Profit rate Nominal Value

(% p.a.) (RM' million)

RM10.0 billion Subordinated Sukuk 

   Murabahah Programme

(i) Subordinated Sukuk Murabahah
1

5-Apr-19 5-Apr-24 5-Apr-29 4.50               1,000.0           

(ii) Subordinated Sukuk Murabahah
1

15-Feb-21 16-Feb-26 14-Feb-31 2.90               1,000.0           

1
The Bank may, subject to the prior consent of BNM, redeem these subordinated sukuk, in whole or in part, on the first call date and on

each semi-annual profit payment date thereafter.
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23. Capital securities

2022 2021

Description Issue date First call date Maturity date RM’000 RM’000

RM10.0 billion Additional Tier 1 Sukuk 

   Wakalah Programme

RM1,000.0 million 4.76% Additional Tier 1 

   Sukuk Wakalah
1 14-Dec-22 14-Dec-27 Perpetual 1,002,347      -                      

RM1,000.0 million 4.95% Additional Tier 1 

   Sukuk Wakalah
2 14-Dec-17 14-Dec-22 Perpetual -                     1,002,441       

1

2
This capital securities was fully redeemed on the first call date.

The Bank, may redeem these capital securities, in whole or in part on the first call date and on every Periodic Distribution Date thereafter.

On 14 December 2022, the Bank issued RM1.0 billion of Additional Tier 1 Sukuk Wakalah ("the AT1 Sukuk Wakalah") in nominal value with a

tenure of Perpetual Non-Callable five (5) years pursuant to AT1 Sukuk Wakalah Programme of up to RM10.0 billion nominal value established

on 23 November 2017. The proceeds from the issuance will be utilised for general banking, working capital and other Shariah compliant

corporate purposes, as well as to refinance any existing financing or sukuk of the Bank.
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24. Share capital

2022 2021 2022 2021

’000 ’000 RM’000 RM’000

Issued and fully paid:

At 1 January 432,110       361,504       10,322,374  7,929,444    

Issued during the year 24,006         70,606         707,581       2,392,930    

At 31 December 456,116       432,110       11,029,955  10,322,374  

25. Reserves

2022 2021

Note RM’000 RM’000

Non-distributable:

Equity contribution from the holding

   company 1,697           1,697           

FVOCI reserve (169,846)      77,255         

Exchange fluctuation reserve (188)             (48)               

Regulatory reserve (a) 904,654       121,014       

736,317       199,918       

Distributable:

Retained profits (b) 2,655,423    3,247,267    

Total reserves 3,391,740    3,447,185    

(a) Regulatory reserve

Regulatory reserve is maintained in aggregate, loss allowance for non-credit impaired

exposures (commonly known as Stage 1 and Stage 2 provisions) that has been

assessed and recognised in accordance with MFRS and which has been transferred

to/from retained profits, in accordance with BNM's Financial Reporting Policy document.

During the current financial year ended 31 December 2022, the Bank increased its share

capital from RM10,322,374,000 to RM11,029,954,534 via issuance of 24,006,125 new

ordinary shares at issue price per share of RM29.475 to Maybank on the basis of one new

share for every eighteen existing ordinary shares held at 26 September 2022.
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25. Reserves (cont'd.)

(b) Retained profits

26. Income derived from investment of depositors' funds

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Income derived from investment of:

(i) General investment deposits 6,484,204    5,708,917    

(ii) Other deposits 3,050,519    3,102,547    

9,534,723    8,811,464    

(i) Income derived from investment of general investment deposits 

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Finance income and hibah

Financing and advances (Note 28 (note(a))) 4,816,156    4,261,360    

Money at call and deposits with financial institutions 158,993       162,844       

Financial assets purchased under resale agreements 87,640         53,361         

Financial investments at FVTPL 2,660           3,166           

Financial investments at FVOCI 404,981       388,357       

Financial investments at amortised cost 674,970       552,221       

6,145,400    5,421,309    

Amortisation of premiums, net (51,670)        (33,991)        

Total finance income and hibah 6,093,730    5,387,318    

The retained profits of the Bank as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are

distributable profits and may be distributed as dividends under the single-tier system.
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26. Income derived from investment of depositors' funds (cont'd.)

(i) Income derived from investment of general investment deposits (cont'd.)

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Other operating income

Fee income:

   - Processing fees 25,287         36,747         

   - Commissions 142,454       127,759       

   - Service charges and other fees 136,247       114,187       

Gains on disposal of financial investments at FVTPL 3,027           1,727           

Gains on disposal of financial investments at FVOCI 14,989         44,849         

Gains on redemption of financial investments

   at amortised cost -                   296              

Unrealised (losses)/gains on revaluation of:

   - Financial investments at FVTPL (843)             868              

   - Derivatives 694              892              

Gains/(losses) on foreign exchange: 

   - Realised 474,870       110,233       

   - Unrealised (408,727)      (117,085)      

Realised gain on derivatives 716              508              

Others 1,760           618              

Total other operating income 390,474       321,599       

Total 6,484,204    5,708,917    

(ii) Income derived from investment of other deposits

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Finance income and hibah

Financing and advances (Note 28 (note(a))) 2,265,778    2,315,575    

Money at call and deposits with financial institutions 74,799         88,487         

Financial assets purchased under resale agreements 41,231         28,996         

Financial investments at FVTPL 1,251           1,720           

Financial investments at FVOCI 190,525       211,029       

Financial investments at amortised cost 317,542       300,071       

2,891,126    2,945,878    

Amortisation of premiums, net (24,308)        (18,470)        

Total finance income and hibah 2,866,818    2,927,408    

Included in finance income are income on impaired assets amounting to RM39.9 million

(2021: RM31.0 million).

167



Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

26. Income derived from investment of depositors' funds (cont'd.)

(ii) Income derived from investment of other deposits (cont'd.)

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Other operating income

Fee income:

   - Processing fees 11,896         19,968         

   - Commissions 67,018         69,423         

   - Service charges and other fees 64,098         62,048         

Gains on disposal of financial investments at FVTPL 1,424           939              

Gains on disposal of financial investments at FVOCI 7,052           24,370         

Gains on redemption of financial investments

   at amortised cost -                   545              

Unrealised (losses)/gains on revaluation of:

   - Financial investments at FVTPL (397)             472              

   - Derivatives 327              485              

Gains/(losses) on foreign exchange: 

   - Realised 223,404       59,899         

   - Unrealised (192,287)      (63,622)        

Realised gain on derivatives 337              276              

Others 829              336              

Total other operating income 183,701       175,139       

Total 3,050,519    3,102,547    

27. Income derived from investment of investment account funds

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Finance income and hibah

Financing and advances (Note 28 (note(a))) 1,088,386    951,347       

Total finance income and hibah 1,088,386    951,347       

Other operating income 

Fee income:

   - Commissions 3,684           294              

   - Service charges and other fees 540              39                

Total other operating income 4,224           333              

Total 1,092,610    951,680       

Included in finance income are income on impaired assets amounting to RM18.8 million

(2021: RM16.9 million).
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28. Income derived from investment of shareholder's funds

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Finance income and hibah

Financing and advances (note(a)) 372,353       378,183       

Money at call and deposits with financial institutions 12,292         14,452         

Financial assets purchased under resale agreements 6,776           4,736           

Financial investments at FVTPL 206              281              

Financial investments at FVOCI 31,310         34,466         

Financial investments at amortised cost 52,184         49,008         

475,121       481,126       

Amortisation of premiums, net (3,995)          (3,017)          

Total finance income and hibah 471,126       478,109       

Other operating income

Fee income

   - Processing fees 1,955           3,261           

   - Commissions 11,014         11,338         

   - Service charges and other fees 10,534         10,134         

Gains on disposal of financial investments at FVTPL 234              153              

Gains on disposal of financial investments at FVOCI 1,159           3,980           

Gains on redemption of financial investments

   at amortised cost -                   48                

Unrealised (losses)/gains on revaluation of:

   - Financial investments at FVTPL (65)               77                

   - Derivatives 54                79                

Gains/(losses) on foreign exchange: 

   - Realised 36,714         9,783           

   - Unrealised (31,600)        (10,391)        

Realised gain on derivatives 55                45                

Others 136              55                

Total other operating income 30,190         28,562         

Total 501,316       506,671       

Note(a):

Included in finance income are income on impaired assets amounting to RM3.1 million

(2021: RM2.8 million).

There was no significant impact to financing and advances income for the Bank

arising from government support measures to assist customers adversely

impacted by COVID-19 in order to sustain their business operations for the

financial year ended 31 December 2022. The net effects for the previous financial

year ended 31 December 2021 was RM106,838,000 for the Bank. 
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29. Allowances for impairment losses on financing and advances, net

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

(Writeback of)/allowances for impairment losses on

  financing and advances:

   - Stage 1 - 12-month ECL, net (254,168)      (210,658)      

   - Stage 2 - Lifetime ECL not credit impaired, net (2,534)          701,788       

   - Stage 3 - Lifetime ECL credit impaired, net 736,946       94,846         

Impaired financing and advances

   - Written-off 14,560         12,458         

   - Recovered (115,116)      (74,178)        

(Writeback of)/allowances for impairment losses

  on other debts (206)             287              

379,482       524,543       

30. Allowances for/(writeback of) impairment losses on financial investments, net

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Financial investments at FVOCI

   - Stage 1 - 12-month ECL, net (2,715)          191              

   - Stage 2 - Lifetime ECL not credit impaired, net 835              -                   

(1,880)          191              

Financial investments at amortised cost

   - Stage 1 - 12-month ECL, net 2,297           (10,383)        

   - Stage 2 - Lifetime ECL not credit impaired, net 464              (230,919)      

2,761           (241,302)      

881              (241,111)      

31. (Writeback of)/allowances for impairment losses on other financial assets, net

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Financial assets purchased under resale agreements

   - Stage 1 - 12-month ECL, net (6,285) 5,629           

(6,285) 5,629           
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32. Profit distributed to depositors

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Deposits from customers

   - Non-mudharabah fund 3,048,371    2,265,905    

Deposits and placements of banks and other  

   financial institutions

   - Mudharabah fund -                   937,947       

   - Non-mudharabah fund 477,795       268,217       

477,795       1,206,164    

Structured deposits

   - Non-mudharabah fund 588              75                
Total 3,526,754    3,472,144    

33. Overhead expenses

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Personnel expenses:

 - Salaries, allowances and bonuses 51,529         41,838         

 - Social security cost 208              174              

 - Retirement cost 7,807           6,325           

 - ESGP expenses 2,703           2,903           

 - Other staff related expenses 5,987           4,192           

68,234         55,432         

Establishment costs:

 - Depreciation right-of-use assets (Note 14) 3,150           2,503           

 - Depreciation property, plant and equipment (Note 13) 277              446              

 - Repairs, servicing and maintenance 98                108              

 - Information technology expenses 4,374           4,033           

 - Finance cost on lease liabilities 239              297              

 - Others 5                  1                  

8,143           7,388           

Marketing costs:

 - Advertisement and publicity 7,555           5,542           

 - Others 3,236           4,818           

10,791         10,360         
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33. Overhead expenses (cont'd.)

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Administration and general expenses:

 - Fees and brokerage 80,925         77,947         

 - Administrative expenses 16,321         12,742         

 - General expenses: 28,000         (37,366)        

      Writeback of commitments and

    contingencies (Note 18(i)) -                   (47,918)        

      Other expenses 28,000         10,552         

 - Auditors' remuneration

      Statutory audit:

      - Ernst & Young PLT 613              581              

      Assurance and compliance related services:

      - Review engagements and regulatory-related 

          services 188              195              

      Non-audit services:

      - Other services 36                31                

 - Directors' fees and other remunerations (Note 34) 1,803           1,326           

 - Shared service costs paid/payable to Maybank

and related company 1,888,862    1,531,482    

2,016,748    1,586,938    

Total 2,103,916    1,660,118    

34. Chief executive officer, directors and Shariah Committee members' remuneration

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Chief executive officer:

   Salary and other remuneration, including 

meeting allowance 4,054           3,129           

   ESGP expenses 537              701              

   Estimated monetary value of benefit-in-kind 51                55                

   Retirement cost 649              501              

5,291           4,386           
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34.

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Non-executive directors:

   Fees 1,529           1,069           

   Other remunerations 206              192              

   Estimated monetary value of benefit-in-kind 68                65                

1,803           1,326           

Shariah Committee members 1,171           1,028           

Total 8,265           6,740           

Total (excluding benefit-in-kind) 8,146           6,620           

The total remuneration of the directors are as follows:

Meeting Benefits-

Fees allowances in-kind Total

2022 RM'000RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Non-executive directors:

Dato' Zulkiflee Abbas bin

    Abdul Hamid 306              28                31                365              

Encik Dali bin Sardar 243              36                10                289              

Datuk Mohd Anwar bin Yahya 236              36                17                289              

Professor Dr. Aznan bin

   Hasan 200              28                2                  230              

Encik Shariffuddin bin Khalid 200              28                -                   228              

Dato' Azmi bin Mohd Ali 236              36                6                  278              

Puan Natasha binti 

   Kamaluddin 108              14                2                  124              

Total directors' 

   remuneration 1,529           206              68                1,803           

Chief executive officer, directors and Shariah Committee members' remuneration

(cont'd.)
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34.

The total remuneration of the directors are as follows (cont'd.):

Meeting Benefits-

Fees allowances in-kind Total

2021 RM'000RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Non-executive directors:

Dato' Zulkiflee Abbas bin

   Abdul Hamid 235              28                31                294              

Encik Dali bin Sardar 183              38                10                231              

Datuk Mohd Anwar bin Yahya 178              38                17                233              

Associate Professor 

   Dr. Aznan bin Hasan 150              26                2                  178              

Encik Shariffuddin bin Khalid 150              26                -                   176              

Dato' Azmi bin Mohd Ali 173              36                5                  214              

Total directors' 

   remuneration 1,069           192              65                1,326           

The total remuneration of the Shariah Committee members are as follows:

Meeting

Fees allowances Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Professor Dr. Aznan bin Hasan 158              56                214              

Ustaz Mohd Kamal bin Mokhtar 130              56                186              

Dr. Akhtarzaite binti Abdul Aziz 130              56                186              

Dr. Azrul Azlan bin Iskandar Mirza 17                10                27                

Dr. Nik Abdul Rahim bin Nik Abdul Ghani 130              56                186              

Associate Professor Dr. Sharifah Faigah

   Syed Alwi 130              56                186              

Ustaz Muhammad Ali Jinnah Ahmad 130              56                186              

Total Shariah Committee remuneration 825              346              1,171           

Chief executive officer, directors and Shariah Committee members' remuneration

(cont'd.)
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34.

The total remuneration of the Shariah Committee members are as follows (cont'd.):

Meeting

Fees allowances Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Associate Professor Dr. Aznan bin Hasan 120              58                178              

Ustaz Mohd Kamal bin Mokhtar 100              58                158              

Dr. Akhtarzaite binti Abdul Aziz 100              58                158              

Dr. Azrul Azlan bin Iskandar Mirza 100              58                158              

Dr. Nik Abdul Rahim bin Nik Abdul Ghani 100              58                158              

Associate Professor Dr. Sharifah Faigah

   Syed Alwi 67                42                109              

Ustaz Muhammad Ali Jinnah Ahmad 67                42                109              

Total Shariah Committee remuneration 654              374              1,028           

35. Finance cost

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Subordinated sukuk 74,000         76,158         

Capital securities 49,406         49,500         

Term funding 305,354       283,743       

428,760       409,401       

36. Taxation

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Malaysian income tax 1,495,784    1,039,566    

(Over)/under provision in prior year:

   Malaysian income tax (2,240)          429,187       

1,493,544    1,468,753    

Deferred tax (Note 20):

   Relating to origination and reversal

     of temporary differences (18,725)        (35,221)        

   Over provision in prior year -                   (428,546)      

   Effect of an increase in tax rate -                   2,133           

(18,725)        (461,634)      

1,474,819    1,007,119    

Chief executive officer, directors and Shariah Committee members' remuneration

(cont'd.)
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36. Taxation (cont'd.)

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Profit before taxation 4,534,069    4,149,673    

Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 24%

  (2021: 24%) 24,000         995,922       

Taxation at Malaysian statutory tax rate of 33% 1,463,243    -                   

Utilisation of previously unused tax losses (13,674)        -                   

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 6,521           10,480         

Effect of an increase in tax rate -                   2,133           

Effect of zakat deduction (3,031)          (2,057)          

(Over)/under provision of income tax in prior years (2,240)          429,187       

Over provision of deferred tax in prior year -                   (428,546)      

Tax expense for the financial year 1,474,819    1,007,119    

37. Earnings per share ("EPS")

2022 2021

Net profit for the financial year attributable to equity 
   holder of the Bank (RM'000) 3,032,921    3,117,021    

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (’000) 438,490       385,576       

Basic/diluted EPS (sen) 691.7           808.4           

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before taxation at the statutory

income tax rate to income tax expense at the effective income tax rate of the Bank is as

follows:

The basic and diluted EPS of the Bank are calculated by dividing the net profit for the

financial year by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the

financial year.

Domestic current income tax is calculated at the statutory tax rate of 24% of the estimated

chargeable profit for the financial year. As announced in the Budget 2022, the prosperity

tax (or also known as “Cukai Makmur”) is a one-off tax measure whereby companies with

chargeable income above RM100.0 million will be taxed at a rate of 33% and the income

below and equal RM100.0 million will be taxed at the current statutory tax rate of 24% for

year of assessment (“YA”) 2022.
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38. Dividends

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Single-tier first interim dividend of RM3.275, on 

   432,110,250 ordinary shares in respect of the financial 

   year ended 31 December 2022 1,415,161    -                   

Single-tier second interim dividend of RM3.30, on 

   432,110,250 ordinary shares in respect of the financial 

   year ended 31 December 2021 1,425,964    -                   

Single-tier interim dividend of RM4.39, on 384,098,000

   ordinary shares in respect of the financial year

   ended 31 December 2021 -                   1,686,190    

Single-tier final dividend of RM3.91, on 361,504,000

   ordinary shares in respect of the financial year

   ended 31 December 2020 -                   1,413,481    

2,841,125    3,099,671    

39. Significant related party transactions and balances

(a) The Bank's significant transactions with related parties are as follows:

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Holding company

Income:

   Money at call and deposits with financial institutions 52,096         157              

   Financial assets purchased under resale agreements 135,647       87,093         

187,743       87,250         

Expenditure:

   Profit distributed to depositors 384,296       1,140,562    

   Finance cost 428,760       409,401       

   Shared service cost paid/payable to Maybank 1,888,018    1,529,532    

2,701,074    3,079,495    

Subsequent to the financial year end, on 27 February 2023, the Board of Directors

declared a single-tier second interim dividend in respect of the current financial year ended

31 December 2022 of RM3.546 per share on 456,116,375 ordinary shares, amounting to a

dividend payable of RM1,617,388,666. 

The financial statements for the current financial year do not reflect this declared single-tier

second interim dividend. Such dividend will be accounted for in the statement of changes in

equity as an appropriation of retained profits in the next financial year ending 31 December

2023.
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39. Significant related party transactions and balances (cont'd.)

(a)

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Related companies

Income:

   Commission 86,295         55,132         

   Service charges and other fees 275              388              

86,570         55,520         

Expenditure:

   Profit distributed to depositors 43,714         47,198         

   Information technology expenses* 4,359           4,021           

   Fees and brokerage* 725              130              

   General expenses 5,789           4,452           

   Shared service cost paid/payable to related company 844              1,950           

55,431         57,751         

* Included in these expenses are services rendered in Malaysia.

(b)

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Holding company

Amount due from:

   Current accounts and deposits 11,496,260  3,751,619    

   Financial assets purchased under resale agreements 2,122,491    10,427,830  

   Derivative assets 239,359       20,856         

   Margin account -                   114,110       

   Others 4,170,395    3,880,724    

18,028,505  18,195,139  

Amount due to:

   Current accounts and deposits 18,638,544  19,631,235  

   Derivative liabilities 114,410       143,217       

   Subordinated sukuk 2,021,893    2,021,814    

   Capital securities 1,002,347    1,002,441    

   Term funding 9,421,202    10,923,177  

   Margin account 117,100       -                   

   Other liabilities 1,500,396    5,957           

32,815,892  33,727,841  

Others:
   Restricted investment accounts managed by the Bank 30,123,166  29,511,958  

Included in the statement of financial position of the Bank are balances with holding

company and related companies represented by the following:

The Bank's significant transactions with related parties are as follows (cont'd.):
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39. Significant related party transactions and balances (cont'd.)

(b)

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Related companies

Amount due from:
   Current accounts and deposits -                   3,063           

Amount due to:

   Fixed return investment deposits 309,164       2,459,765    

   Investment accounts of customers 1,136,721    -                   

   Others 8,090           5,270           

1,453,975    2,465,035    

(c) Key management personnel compensation

2022 2021

'000 '000

At 1 January 312              312              

Awarded 104              104              

Vested (55)               (52)               

Forfeited (49)               (52)               

At 31 December 312              312              

Number of ESGP 

shares awarded 

Name Year '000

Dato' Mohamed Rafique 2022 30.09.2022 104              

  Merican bin Mohd 2021 30.09.2021 104              

  Wahiduddin Merican 2020 30.09.2020 104              

2019 30.09.2019 104              

2018 14.12.2018 104              

Included in the statement of financial position of the Bank are balances with holding

company and related companies represented by the following (cont'd.):

The above transactions have been entered into in the normal course of business and

have been established under terms and conditions that are no less favourable than

those arranged with independent parties.

The number of shares awarded for ESGP shares to key management personnel is as

follows:

Award date
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39. Significant related party transactions and balances (cont'd.)

(d) Government-related entities

(i)

2022 2021

RM’000 RM’000

Transactions during the financial year:

Financing income 182,854       148,444       

Balances as at reporting dates:

Financing and advances 3,151,210    3,151,210    

Restricted investment accounts managed by 

  the Bank 429,800       635,837       

(ii) Collectively, but not individually, significant transactions

Individually significant transactions and balances with PNB due to its size of

transactions:

There was no collectively significant transactions with other government-related

entities during the financial year ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

All the transactions entered into by the Bank with the government-related entities are

conducted in the ordinary course of the Bank's business on terms comparable to those

with other entities that are not government-related. The Bank has established credit

policies, pricing strategy and approval process for financing and advances, which are

independent of whether the counterparties are government-related entities or not.

Permodalan Nasional Berhad ("PNB"), a government-linked entity and a shareholder

with significant influence on Maybank, with direct shareholding of 6.87% (2021: 7.09%)

and indirect shareholding of 32.63% (2021: 34.01%) via Amanah Raya Trustee Berhad

(Skim Amanah Saham Bumiputera) as at 31 December 2022. PNB and entities directly

controlled by PNB are collectively referred to as government-related entities to the

Maybank Group and the Bank.
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39. Significant related party transactions and balances (cont'd.)

(e) Credit exposure arising from credit transactions with connected parties

2022 2021

Outstanding credit exposure with connected
   parties (RM'000) 8,017,112    6,901,533    

Percentage of outstanding credit exposure to connected
   parties as a proportion of total credit exposure 2.8% 2.8%

Percentage of outstanding credit exposure to connected
    parties which are non-performing or in default -                   -                   

Based on these guidelines, a connected party refers to the following:

(i)   Directors of the Bank and their close relatives;

(ii)  

(iii) 

(iv)   

         

(v)  Any person for whom the persons listed in (i) to (iii) above is a guarantor; and

(vi) Subsidiary of or an entity controlled by the Bank and its connected parties.

Credit transactions and exposures to connected parties as disclosed above include the

extension of credit facilities and/or off-balance sheet credit exposures such as

guarantees, trade-related facilities and financing commitments.

Executive officer, being a member of management having authority and

responsibility for planning, directing and/or controlling activities of the Bank and his

close relatives;

Officers who are responsible for or have the authority to appraise and/or approve

credit transactions or review the status of existing credit transactions, either as a

member of a committee or individually and their close relatives;

Firms, partnerships, companies or any legal entities which control, or are controlled

by any person listed in (i) to (iii) above, or in which they have an interest, as a

director, partner, executive officer, agent or guarantor, and their subsidiaries or

entities controlled by them;

The credit exposure above are derived based on paragraph 9.1 of the Bank Negara

Malaysia's revised Guidelines on Credit Transactions and Exposures with Connected

Parties.
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40. Commitments and contingencies

Credit Risk Credit Risk

Full equivalent weighted Full equivalent weighted

commitment amount* amount* commitment amount* amount*

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Contingent liabilities

Direct credit substitutes 3,051,481     2,801,221     1,964,993     2,845,299     2,236,690     1,589,255      

Certain transaction-related contingent items 3,626,371     1,773,332     1,077,872     3,316,724     1,623,110     1,120,828      

Short-term self-liquidating 

   trade-related contingencies 460,706        94,078          28,023          500,796        102,269        39,713           

7,138,558     4,668,631     3,070,888     6,662,819     3,962,069     2,749,796      

Commitments

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit:

   - maturity within one year 35,592,554   1,819,903     356,347        31,073,338   1,493,386     262,960         

   - maturity more than one year 11,097,267   21,934,391   7,719,692     10,411,607   20,641,624   8,367,924      

46,689,821   23,754,294   8,076,039     41,484,945   22,135,010   8,630,884      

Miscellaneous commitments and 

   contingencies 1,599,299     42,903          -                    83,465          -                    -                    

Total credit-related commitments and 

   contingencies 55,427,678   28,465,828   11,146,927   48,231,229   26,097,079   11,380,680    

In the normal course of business, the Bank makes various commitments and incurs certain contingent liabilities with legal recourse to their

customers. No material losses are anticipated as a result of these transactions.

The risk-weighted exposures of the Bank as at 31 December are as follows:

2022 2021
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40. Commitments and contingencies (cont'd.)

Credit Risk Credit Risk

Full equivalent weighted Full equivalent weighted

commitment amount* amount* commitment amount* amount*

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Derivative financial instruments

Foreign exchange related contracts:

    - less than one year 16,581,360   258,326        70,977          26,539,087   173,490        54,161           

    - one year to less than five years 3,013,711     242,332        96,492          1,577,464     87,013          34,567           

    - more than five years 541,594        54,166          15,526          2,130,208     176,384        82,878           

Profit rate related contracts:

    - less than one year 3,012,000     16,109          5,270            490,000        5,042            3,028             

    - one year to less than five years 1,700,437     48,024          10,057          4,714,969     82,015          61,906           

    - more than five years 220,000        17,937          5,949            300,000        22,879          8,803             

Total treasury-related commitments

   and contingencies 25,069,102   636,894        204,271        35,751,728   546,823        245,343         

Total commitments and contingencies 80,496,780   29,102,722   11,351,198   83,982,957   26,643,902   11,626,023    

* The credit equivalent amount and risk-weighted amount are arrived at using the credit conversion factors and risk-weights respectively as 

specified by Bank Negara Malaysia for regulatory capital adequacy purposes.

In the normal course of business, the Bank makes various commitments and incurs certain contingent liabilities with legal recourse to their

customers. No material losses are anticipated as a result of these transactions (cont'd.).

The risk-weighted exposures of the Bank as at 31 December are as follows (cont'd.):

2022 2021
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41. Financial risk management policies

(a) Financial risk management overview

(i)

(ii)

Risk management has evolved into an important driver for strategic decisions in support

of business strategies while balancing the appropriate levels of risk taken to the desired

levels of returns.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, Maybank Group has established the

Group Investment Management Framework ("the Framework") which was approved by

Maybank's Board of Directors to be implemented in stages. The Framework sets out

Group-wide guiding principles for management of investment activities, which will enable

a consolidated view of the management of marketable securities across the Group and

alignment of strategic directions.

The Maybank Group Enterprise Risk Management Framework was established to

institutionalise vigilance and awareness of the most significant risks to the achievement of

the Group’s mission, namely Humanising Financial Services, by putting customers and

the wider community at the heart of everything that the Group does. The framework is

underpinned by a set of building blocks that serve as the foundation in driving a strong

risk management culture, encompassing practices and processes:

Risk Culture : Risk culture is a vital component in strengthening risk governance and

forms a fundamental principle of strong risk management.

Risk Coverage : The Bank must determine its business strategy and assess the

risks to ensure the appropriate risk strategies are put in place to give a greater level

of assurance on achieving its business strategy.

Maybank's Board of Directors is the Group’s ultimate governing body, which has overall

responsibility for establishing a sound risk management and internal control system, as

well as for reviewing its adequacy and effectiveness in identifying, assessing and

responding to risks that may hinder the Group from achieving its objectives. To effectively

carry out its risk and control oversight responsibilities, Maybank's Board of Directors has

established the Risk Management Committee ("RMC"), the Compliance Committee of the

Board ("CCB"), and the Audit Committee of the Board ("ACB") to oversee matters relating

to risk, compliance and controls, respectively. 

The Group has established various Executive Level Management Committees ("ELCs")

to assist and support the Maybank's Board of Directors committees in overseeing core

areas of business operations and controls. These ELCs include the Group Executive

Committee, Group Client Onboarding and Review Committee, Group Management Credit

Committee, Group Executive Risk Committee, Group Asset and Liability Management

Committee, EXCO Sustainability Committee and Group Non-Financial Risk Committee,

among others.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(a) Financial risk management overview

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(b) Impairment assessment 

• The Bank’s definition and assessment of default and cure (Note 41(b)(i)).

• An explanation of the Bank's internal grading system (Note 41(e)(5)).

• 

• 

• 

• 

Resources and System Infrastructure : Ensure sufficient resources, infrastructure

and techniques are established to enable effective risk management.

How the Bank defines, calculates and monitors the probability of default, exposure

at default and loss given default (Note 41(e)(1)).

When the Bank considers there has been a significant increase in credit risk of an

exposure (Note 41(b)(ii)).

The Bank’s policy of segmenting financial assets where ECL is assessed on a

collective basis (Note 41(b)(iii)).

The details of the ECL calculations for Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3 assets (Note

2.2(i)(d)(i)).

Risk Response : Selection of the appropriate risk response is imperative to align the

risks with the Bank’s risk tolerance and risk appetite.

Governance and Risk Oversight : There is a clear, effective and robust governance

structure with well-defined, transparent and consistent lines of responsibility.

Risk Management Practices and Processes : Robust risk management processes

are in place to actively identify, measure, control, monitor and report risks inherent

in all products and activities undertaken by the Bank.

Stress Test : Stress testing is used to test the resilience of the Bank’s exposure

against future financial scenarios and gauge the resulting risk and adequacy of

capital.

The Maybank Group Enterprise Risk Management Framework was established to

institutionalise vigilance and awareness of the most significant risks to the achievement of

the Group’s mission, namely Humanising Financial Services, by putting customers and

the wider community at the heart of everything that the Group does. The framework is

underpinned by a set of building blocks that serve as the foundation in driving a strong

risk management culture, encompassing practices and processes (cont'd.):

Risk Appetite : The risk appetite defines the types and levels of risk that the Bank is

willing to accept in pursuit of its business and strategic goals.

The references below show where the Bank's impairment assessment and measurement

approach is set out in this financial statements. It should be read in conjunction with the

summary of significant accounting policies.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(b) Impairment assessment (cont'd.)

(i) Definition of default and cure

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• breach of covenant not waived by the Bank;

• customer is insolvent;

• probability of the customer entering bankruptcy; and

• 

It is the Bank’s policy to consider a financial instrument to be re-classified out of

Stage 3 when none of the default criteria is present. The decision whether to

classify an asset as Stage 2 or Stage 1 depends on the updated indicators at the

time of the assessment, and that the asset no longer shows significant increase in

credit risk compared to the initial recognition.

The Bank considers financial instruments defaulted and therefore Stage 3 (credit-

impaired) for ECL calculations when:

In the case of revolving credit facilities (e.g. cashline), where the outstanding

amount has remained in excess of the approved limit for a period of more than

90 days or 3 months; or

Account less than 90 days or 3 months past due which exhibit indications of

significant increase in credit risk; or

As a part of a qualitative assessment of whether a customer is in default, the Bank

also considers a variety of instances that may indicate unlikeliness to pay. When

such events occur, the Bank carefully considers whether the event should result in

treating the customer as defaulted and therefore assessed as Stage 3 for ECL

calculations or whether Stage 2 is appropriate. Such events include:

significant deterioration in customer's credit rating from initial recognition or

last reviewed date;

customers' listed debt or equity suspended at the primary exchange because

of rumours or facts about financial difficulties.

Principal or profit or both of the credit facility are past due for more than 90

days or 3 months; or

Default occurs for repayments scheduled on intervals of three (3) months or

longer.

Impaired financing and advances have been rescheduled and restructured,

the financing and advances will continue to be classified as impaired until

repayments based on rescheduled or restructured terms have been observed

continuously for a period of at least six (6) months or longer as determined by

the approving authority of the rescheduled or restructured credit; or
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(b) Impairment assessment (cont'd.)

(ii) Significant increase in credit risk

(iii) Grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis

(c) Analysis of inputs to the ECL models under multiple economic scenarios 

An overview of the approach to estimating ECLs is set out in Note 2.2 Summary of

significant accounting policies and in Note 3 Significant accounting judgements,

estimates and assumptions; in which the macroeconomic factors are regularly monitored

as part of the normal credit risk management of the Bank, including the remaining COVID-

19 uncertainties and emerging risks at the current economic level. To ensure

completeness and accuracy, the Bank obtain the data used from Maybank IBG

Research, including determining the weights attributable to the multiple scenarios as at

every year end to apply on next financial year's ECL computation.

The Bank continuously monitors all financial assets subject to ECL. In order to

determine whether an instrument or a portfolio of instruments is subject to 12-month

ECL or Lifetime ECL, the Bank assesses whether there has been a significant

increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

The Bank also applies a secondary qualitative method for triggering a significant

increase in credit risk for an asset, such as moving a customer/facility to the watch

list, or the account becoming forborne. In certain cases, the Bank may also consider

that events explained in Note 41(b)(i) are a significant increase in credit risk as

opposed to a default. Regardless of the change in credit grades, if contractual

payments are more than 30 days past due, the credit risk is deemed to have

increased significantly.

When estimating ECL on a collective basis for a group of similar assets (as set out

in Note 41(b)(iii)), the Bank applies the same principles for assessing whether there

has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

As explained in Note 2.2(i)(d)(ii), depending on the factors below, the Bank

calculates ECL either on a collective or an individual basis.

Financial assets subject to ECL that have been assessed individually but for which

no impairment is required and all individually insignificant exposure are then

assessed collectively, in groups of assets with similar credit risk characteristics.

The Bank groups these exposure into smaller homogeneous portfolios, based on a

combination of internal and external characteristics of the financial assets.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(c) 

31 December 2022

Key ECL Assigned Subsequent

Variables Scenario Probabilities 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026  years

Real Base case 65 8.0  4.0  4.8  5.0  5.0  5.0              

 GDP (%) Upside 10 8.5  4.5  5.5  5.5  5.5  5.5              

Downside 25 7.5  3.5  4.4  4.5  4.5  4.5              

Property Base case 65 1.5  1.5  2.0  2.0  2.0  2.0              

 Price Index Upside 10 1.7  2.0  2.5  2.5  2.5  2.5              

 (%) Downside 25 1.0  0.6  1.5  1.5  1.5  1.5              

Overnight Base case 65 2.8  3.0  3.0  3.3  3.3  3.3              

 Policy Rate Upside 10 2.8  2.8  2.8  3.0  3.0  3.0              

 (%) Downside 25 2.8  3.3  3.3  3.5  3.5  3.5              

Unemployment Base case 65 3.8  3.5  3.3  3.3  3.3  3.3              

 Rate (%) Upside 10 3.7  3.3  3.0  3.0  3.0  3.0              

Downside 25 3.9  4.0  3.8  3.8  3.8  3.8              

Analysis of inputs to the ECL models under multiple economic scenarios (cont'd.)

The following table shows the forecast of the key forward-looking macroeconomic

variables used in each of the economic scenarios for the ECL calculations for financial

year ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021. The figures for “Subsequent

years” represent a long-term average and the same are applied for each scenario.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(c) 

31 December 2021

Key ECL Assigned Subsequent

Variables Scenario Probabilities 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025  years

Real Base case 60 3.8  6.0  5.0  5.0  5.0  5.0              

 GDP (%) Upside 10 4.0  6.5  5.5  5.5  5.5  5.5              

Downside 30 3.5  5.3  4.3  4.3  4.3  4.3              

Property Base case 60  - 0.5  1.5  1.5  1.5  1.5              

 Price Index Upside 10 1.0  2.0  2.0  2.0  2.0  2.0              

 (%) Downside 30 (0.5)  - 1.0  1.0  1.0  1.0              

Overnight Base case 60 1.8  2.0  2.3  2.5  2.8  2.8              

 Policy Rate Upside 10 1.8  2.3  2.8  3.0  3.0  3.0              

 (%) Downside 30 1.8  1.8  2.0  2.3  2.5  2.8              

Unemployment Base case 60 4.6  4.0  3.8  3.5  3.5  3.5              

 Rate (%) Upside 10 4.4  3.5  3.5  3.0  3.0  3.0              

Downside 30 4.8  4.5  4.5  4.0  4.0  4.0              

The following table shows the forecast of the key forward-looking macroeconomic

variables used in each of the economic scenarios for the ECL calculations for financial

year ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021. The figures for “Subsequent

years” represent a long-term average and the same are applied for each scenario

(cont'd.).

Analysis of inputs to the ECL models under multiple economic scenarios (cont'd.)
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(d) Financial instruments by category

Fair value

Fair value through

through other Assets not

profit or comprehensive At amortised in scope of

loss income costs Sub-total MFRS 9 Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Assets

Cash and short-term funds -                     -                          15,092,586 15,092,586    -                     15,092,586        

Deposits and placements with banks 

   and other financial institutions -                     -                          5,329,880      5,329,880      -                     5,329,880          

Financial assets purchased under 

   resale agreements -                     -                          2,121,695 2,121,695      -                     2,121,695          

Financial investments portfolio 309,504         15,645,983 27,461,699 43,417,186    -                     43,417,186        

Financing and advances -                     3,141,460 211,238,163 214,379,623  -                     214,379,623      

Derivative assets 263,763 -                          -                     263,763         -                     263,763             

Other assets -                     -                          4,917,613      4,917,613      233,152         5,150,765          

Statutory deposit with Bank 

   Negara Malaysia -                     -                          3,505,736 3,505,736      -                     3,505,736          

Property, plant and equipment -                     -                          -                     -                     341 341                   

Right-of-use assets -                     -                          -                     -                     7,279 7,279                

Deferred tax assets -                     -                          -                     -                     288,433 288,433             

TOTAL ASSETS 573,267         18,787,443          269,667,372  289,028,082  529,205         289,557,287      

190



Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(d) Financial instruments by category (cont'd.)

Fair value

through Other Liabilities

profit or financial not in scope

loss liabilities Sub-total  of MFRS 9 Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Liabilities

Customers' funding:

   - Deposits from customers -                          209,783,463 209,783,463  -                     209,783,463      

   - Investment accounts of customers -                          25,637,702 25,637,702    -                     25,637,702        

Deposits and placements of banks and other 

   financial institutions -                          23,597,506 23,597,506    -                     23,597,506        

Obligations on financial assets sold under

   repurchase agreements -                          461,081 461,081         -                     461,081             

Bills and acceptances payable -                          32,569 32,569           -                     32,569               

Derivative liabilities 384,674 -                     384,674         -                     384,674             

Other liabilities -                          2,595,196 2,595,196      59,752           2,654,948          

Provision for taxation and zakat -                          -                     -                     138,207 138,207             

Term funding -                          9,421,202 9,421,202      -                     9,421,202          

Subordinated sukuk -                          2,021,893 2,021,893      -                     2,021,893          

Capital securities -                          1,002,347 1,002,347      -                     1,002,347          

TOTAL LIABILITIES 384,674               274,552,959  274,937,633  197,959         275,135,592      
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(d) Financial instruments by category (cont'd.)

Fair value

Fair value through

through other Assets not

profit or comprehensive At amortised in scope of

loss income costs Sub-total MFRS 9 Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Assets

Cash and short-term funds -                     -                          12,123,992    12,123,992    -                     12,123,992        

Deposits and placements with banks 

   and other financial institutions -                     -                          3,000,157      3,000,157      -                     3,000,157          

Financial assets purchased under 

   resale agreements -                     -                          10,420,749    10,420,749    -                     10,420,749        

Financial investments portfolio 784,302         15,082,779          22,867,781    38,734,862    -                     38,734,862        

Financing and advances -                     2,175,615            190,290,102  192,465,717  -                     192,465,717      

Derivative assets 117,420         -                          -                     117,420         -                     117,420             

Other assets -                     -                          4,426,072      4,426,072      378,403         4,804,475          

Statutory deposit with Bank 

   Negara Malaysia -                     -                          20,447           20,447           -                     20,447               

Property, plant and equipment -                     -                          -                     -                     546                546                   

Right-of-use assets -                     -                          -                     -                     6,126             6,126                

Deferred tax assets -                     -                          -                     -                     190,616         190,616             

TOTAL ASSETS 901,722         17,258,394          243,149,300  261,309,416  575,691         261,885,107      
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(d) Financial instruments by category (cont'd.)

Fair value

through Other Liabilities

profit or financial not in scope

loss liabilities Sub-total  of MFRS 9 Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Liabilities

Customers' funding:

   - Deposits from customers -                          179,514,918  179,514,918  -                     179,514,918      

   - Investment accounts of customers -                          28,720,799    28,720,799    -                     28,720,799        

Deposits and placements of banks and other 

   financial institutions -                          24,186,628    24,186,628    -                     24,186,628        

Bills and acceptances payable -                          19,561           19,561           -                     19,561               

Derivative liabilities 177,545               -                     177,545         -                     177,545             

Other liabilities -                          1,495,197      1,495,197      25,924           1,521,121          

Provision for taxation and zakat -                          -                     -                     27,544           27,544               

Term funding -                          10,923,177    10,923,177    -                     10,923,177        

Subordinated sukuk -                          2,021,814      2,021,814      -                     2,021,814          

Capital securities -                          1,002,441      1,002,441      -                     1,002,441          

TOTAL LIABILITIES 177,545               247,884,535  248,062,080  53,468           248,115,548      
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management

1. Credit risk definition

Management of credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty fails to meet its obligations in accordance

with the agreed terms of a credit facility. The exposures to credit risk are unilateral

and only the lending bank faces the risk of loss.

Non-retail credits are assessed jointly by business and credit units where each

counterparty is assigned a credit rating based on the assessment of relevant

qualitative and quantitative factors, including the counterparty’s financial position,

future cash flows, types of facilities and collateral offered. 

Reviews for non-retail credits are conducted at least once a year with updated

information on the counterparty’s financial position, market position, industry and

economic condition as well as account conduct. These counterparties are subject to

periodic credit classification and impairment assessment to determine if any early

intervention is required. Appropriate corrective actions are taken when the

counterparties show signs of credit deterioration.

Retail credits are predicated on data analytics and are programme-driven which are

governed by the Product Development Assessment (“PDA”) or Universal Product

Development Assessment (“UPDA”). Credit programmes are assessed jointly by the

business and credit units. Reviews for retail credits are generally conducted at the

portfolio level, where the PDAs or UPDAs of each retail product are reviewed at a

minimum, on an annual basis.

Counterparty credit risk is the risk arising from the possibility that a counterparty may

default on current and future payments as required by contract for treasury-related

activities. Counterparty credit risk originates from the Bank’s lending business,

investment and treasury activities that impact the Bank’s trading and banking books

through dealings in foreign exchange, money market instruments, fixed income

securities, commodities, equities and over-the-counter derivatives. The primary

distinguishing feature of counterparty credit risk compared to other forms of credit

risk is that the future value of the underlying contract is uncertain, and may be either

positive or negative depending on the value of all future cash flows.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management (cont'd.)

1. Credit risk management overview (cont'd.)

Management of credit risk (cont'd.)

• Countries; 

• Economic sectors;

• Single counterparty groups;

• Collaterals; 

• Connected parties; and

• Product or facility types.

Counterparty credit risk exposures are managed via counterparty limits on a single

counterparty basis or counterparty group basis predicated on BNM's Single

Counterparty Exposure Limits. The Bank actively monitors and manages its

exposures to ensure that exposures to a single counterparty group are within

prudent limits at all times. 

For on- and off-balance sheet exposures, the Bank employs risk treatments in

accordance with BNM Guidelines and Basel requirements. For derivatives and

foreign exchange exposures, the Bank measures the credit risk using Credit Risk

Equivalent via the Current Exposure Method. This method calculates the Bank’s

credit risk exposure after considering both the mark-to-market exposures and the

appropriate add-on factors for potential future exposures. The add-on factors

employed are in accordance with BNM Guidelines and Basel II requirements. 

In managing large exposures and to avoid undue concentration of credit risk in its

credit portfolio, the Bank has emplaced, amongst others, limits and related financing

guidelines, for:

Reviews of the aforesaid limits and related financing guidelines are undertaken on a

periodic basis, whereupon any emerging concentration risks are addressed

accordingly. Any breach of limits are escalated for approvals, and any deviations to

the lending guidelines are to be justified with strong mitigations.

195



Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management (cont'd.)

1. Credit risk management overview (cont'd.)

Management of credit risk (cont'd.)

Credit risk measurement

The Bank’s credit approving structure is based on joint approvals by Business and

Credit, with complex credits of higher risk approved by the GMCC. The authority

limits are based on the Expected Loss ("EL") principle, and are directly related to the

counterparty’s rating and credit exposure.

The Bank’s retail portfolios are under Basel II Advanced Internal Ratings-Based

("AIRB") Approach. This approach calls for more extensive reliance on the Bank’s

own internal experience whereby estimations for all the three components of Risk-

Weighted Assets ("RWA") calculation namely Probability of Default ("PD"), Exposure

at Default ("EAD") and Loss Given Default ("LGD") are based on its own historical

data. Separate PD, EAD and LGD statistical models were developed at the

respective retail portfolio level; each model covering customer with fundamentally

similar risk profiles in a portfolio. The estimates derived from the models are used as

input for RWA calculations.

For non-retail portfolios, the Bank uses internal credit models to evaluate the majority 

of its credit risk exposures. For corporate and bank portfolios, the Bank has adopted

the Foundation Internal Ratings-Based ("FIRB") approach, which allows the Bank to

use its internal PD estimates to determine an asset risk weighting and apply

supervisory estimates for LGD and EAD. 

The Bank’s credit process encompasses assessment, approval and post-approval

credit review. Maybank Group Risk is responsible for developing, enhancing and

communicating effective and consistent credit risk management policies, tools and

methodologies across the Bank to ensure that appropriate standards are in place to

identify, measure, control, monitor and report such risks.

The Bank has dedicated teams at Head Office and Regional Offices to effectively

manage vulnerable non-retail and retail credits. Special attention is given to these

vulnerable credits where more frequent and intensive reviews are performed in order

to prevent further deterioration or to accelerate remedial action. 

As part of enhancing the Bank's ESG practices, the Bank takes a proactive

approach to incorporate ESG considerations into business processes by developing

ESG Risk Acceptance Criteria for high ESG risk industries. 
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management (cont'd.)

1. Credit risk management overview (cont'd.)

Credit risk measurement (cont'd.)

2. Maximum exposure to credit risk

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Credit exposure for on-balance

   sheet financial assets:

Cash and short-term funds 15,092,586    12,123,992    

Deposits and placements with banks and 

   other financial institutions 5,329,880      3,000,157      

Financial assets purchased under resale 

   agreements 2,121,695      10,420,749    

Financial investments portfolio* 43,415,936    38,733,612    

Financing and advances 214,379,623  192,465,717  

Derivative assets 263,763         117,420         

Other assets 4,917,613      4,426,072      

Statutory deposit with Bank Negara Malaysia 3,505,736      20,447           

289,026,832  261,308,166  

Credit Risk Rating System ("CRRS") is developed to allow the Bank to identify,

assess and measure corporate, commercial and small business customers’ credit

risk. CRRS is a statistical default prediction model. The model was developed and

recalibrated to suit the Bank’s banking environment using internal data. The model

development process was conducted and documented in line with specific criteria for

model development in accordance to Basel II. The EL principles employed in the

Bank enables the calculation of EL using PD estimates (facilitated by the CRRS),

LGD and EAD. 

To account for differences in risk due to industry and size, CRRS is designed to rate

all corporate and commercial customers by their respective industry segments (i.e.

manufacturing, services, trading, contractors, property developers (single project)

and property investors (single property)).

The following analysis represents the Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk from

on-balance sheet financial assets and off-balance sheet exposure, excluding any

collateral held or other credit enhancements. For on-balance sheet financial assets,

the exposure to credit risk equals their carrying amount. For off-balance sheet

exposure, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount that the

Bank would have to pay if the obligations of the instruments issued are called upon

and/or the full amount of the undrawn credit facilities granted to customers.

Maximum Exposure
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management (cont’d.)

2. Maximum exposure to credit risk (cont’d.)

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Credit exposure for off-balance 

   sheet items:

Direct credit substitutes 3,051,481      2,845,299      

Certain transaction-related contingent items 3,626,371      3,316,724      

Short-term self-liquidating trade-related

  contingencies 460,706         500,796         

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit 46,689,821    41,484,945    

Miscellaneous 1,599,299      83,465           

55,427,678    48,231,229    

Total maximum credit risk exposure 344,454,510  309,539,395  

*

Credit exposure for on-balance sheet financial 

   assets that are not subject to impairment:

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Financial assets at fair value through

profit & loss

Investments 309,504         784,302         

Derivatives 263,763         117,420         

573,267         901,722         

Maximum Exposure

Financial investments portfolio consists of financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive

income and financial investments at amortised cost. The portfolio excludes

unquoted shares.

The financial effect of collateral (quantification of the extent to which collateral and

other credit enhancements mitigate credit risk) held for financing and advances as at

31 December 2022 for the Bank is at 94% (31 December 2021: 88%). The financial

effect of collateral held for other financial assets is not significant.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management (cont'd.)

3. Credit risk concentration profile

(a)

Deposits Financial

and assets Statutory

placements purchased deposit

Cash and with under Financial Financing with Bank Commitments

short-term financial resale investments and Derivative Other Negara and

funds institutions agreements portfolio* advances assets assets Malaysia Total contingencies

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Malaysia 15,092,586  5,329,880    2,121,695    43,415,936   214,379,623  263,763     4,916,679  3,505,736  289,025,898   55,427,678    

Dubai -                   -                   -                   -                    -                     -                 934            -                 934                  -                      

15,092,586  5,329,880    2,121,695    43,415,936   214,379,623  263,763     4,917,613  3,505,736  289,026,832   55,427,678    

2021

Malaysia 12,123,992  3,000,157    10,420,749  38,733,612   192,465,717  117,420     4,425,590  20,447       261,307,684   48,231,229    

Dubai -                   -                   -                   -                    -                     -                 482            -                 482                  -                      
12,123,992  3,000,157    10,420,749  38,733,612   192,465,717  117,420     4,426,072  20,447       261,308,166   48,231,229    

* Financial investments portfolio consists of financial investments at fair value through profit or loss, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive

income and financial investments at amortised cost. The portfolio excludes unquoted shares.

Concentration risk is the risk that can materialise from excessive exposures to single counterparty and persons connected to it, a particular instrument or a particular market

segment/sector. The Bank analyses the concentration credit risk by geographic purpose and industry segment as follows:

Concentration of credit risk for both on-balance sheet financial assets and off-balance sheet exposures analysed by geographic purpose are as follows:
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management (cont'd.)

3. Credit risk concentration profile (cont'd.)

(b) Concentration of credit risk for both on-balance sheet financial assets and off-balance sheet exposures analysed by industry sector are as follows:

Deposits Financial

and assets Statutory

placements purchased deposit

Cash and with under Financial Financing with Bank Commitments

short-term financial resale investments and Derivative Other Negara and

funds institutions agreements portfolio* advances assets assets Malaysia Total contingencies

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Agriculture -                   -                   -                   40,478          2,655,823      1,223         -                 -                 2,697,524       1,351,679      

Mining and quarrying -                   -                   -                   117,445        710,044         -                 -                 -                 827,489           521,506         

Manufacturing -                   -                   -                   135,578        10,745,478    10,681       -                 -                 10,891,737     3,084,122      

Construction -                   -                   -                   1,176,321     6,680,153      -                 -                 -                 7,856,474       3,216,357      

Electricity, gas and  

   water supply -                   -                   -                   -                    1,159,375      3,310         -                 -                 1,162,685       388,663         

Wholesale, retail trade, 

   restaurants and 

   hotels -                   -                   -                   647,205        15,597,747    731            -                 -                 16,245,683     1,911,446      

Finance, insurance, real  

   estate and business 15,092,586  5,329,880    2,121,695    10,585,453   20,513,785    247,533     4,917,613  3,505,736  62,314,281     30,088,590    

Transport, storage and

   communication -                   -                   -                   2,818,163     3,727,702      178            -                 -                 6,546,043       1,113,005      

Education, health and

   others -                   -                   -                   27,895,293   2,912,915      -                 -                 -                 30,808,208     211,122         

Household -                   -                   -                   -                    149,609,124  -                 -                 -                 149,609,124   10,530,605    

Others -                   -                   -                   -                    67,477           107            -                 -                 67,584             3,010,583      

15,092,586  5,329,880    2,121,695    43,415,936   214,379,623  263,763     4,917,613  3,505,736  289,026,832   55,427,678    

* Financial investments portfolio consists of financial investments at fair value through profit or loss, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive

income and financial investments at amortised cost. The portfolio excludes unquoted shares.

200



Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)

41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management (cont'd.)

3. Credit risk concentration profile (cont'd.)

(b) Concentration of credit risk for both on-balance sheet financial assets and off-balance sheet exposures analysed by industry sector are as follows (cont'd.):

Deposits Financial

and assets Statutory

placements purchased deposit

Cash and with under Financial Financing with Bank Commitments

short-term financial resale investments and Derivative Other Negara and

funds institutions agreements portfolio* advances assets assets Malaysia Total contingencies

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Agriculture -                   -                   -                   116,731        2,441,196      3,741         -                 -                 2,561,668       765,625         

Mining and quarrying -                   -                   -                   520,961        908,689         -                 -                 -                 1,429,650       473,221         

Manufacturing -                   -                   -                   2,531,080     10,365,614    18,153       -                 -                 12,914,847     2,635,195      

Construction -                   -                   -                   2,110,068     6,511,197      -                 -                 -                 8,621,265       2,954,668      

Electricity, gas and  

   water supply -                   -                   -                   24,872          655,978         31,559       -                 -                 712,409           391,566         

Wholesale, retail trade, 

   restaurants and 

   hotels -                   -                   -                   970,005        12,617,675    44              -                 -                 13,587,724     1,725,226      

Finance, insurance, real  

   estate and business 12,123,992  3,000,157    10,420,749  31,836,052   18,772,685    63,751       4,426,072  20,447       80,663,905     24,505,531    

Transport, storage and

   communication -                   -                   -                   623,843        2,614,512      153            -                 -                 3,238,508       1,303,474      

Education, health and

   others -                   -                   -                   -                    1,642,735      -                 -                 -                 1,642,735       200,917         

Household -                   -                   -                   -                    135,910,669  -                 -                 -                 135,910,669   9,457,215      

Others -                   -                   -                   -                    24,767           19              -                 -                 24,786             3,818,591      

12,123,992  3,000,157    10,420,749  38,733,612   192,465,717  117,420     4,426,072  20,447       261,308,166   48,231,229    

* Financial investments portfolio consists of financial investments at fair value through profit or loss, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive

income and financial investments at amortised cost. The portfolio excludes unquoted shares.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management (cont'd.)

4. Collateral

• For house financing - charges over residential properties;

• For auto financing - ownership claims over the vehicle financed;

• For share margin financing - pledges over securities from listed exchange;

• For commercial property financing - charges over the properties financed;

• For other financing - charges over business assets such as premises, inventories, 

   trade receivable or deposits; and

• For derivatives - cash and securities collateral for over-the-counter ("OTC") traded

   derivatives.

5. Credit quality of financial assets 

Credit classification for financial assets

Probability External External 

of default credit ratings credit ratings 

("PD") based on based on 

Risk Category grade S&P's ratings RAM's ratings

Very low 1 - 5 AAA to BBB+ AAA to AA1

Low 6 - 10 BBB+ to BB+ AA1 to A3

Medium 11 - 15 BB+ to B+ A3 to BB1

High 16 - 21 B+ to C BB1 to C

The main types of collateral obtained by the Bank to mitigate credit risk are as

follows: 

The four (4) risks categories are set out and defined below, from very low to high,

apart from impaired, describe the credit quality of the Bank's financing. These

classifications encompass a range of more granular, internal gradings assigned to

financing and advances whilst external gradings are applied to financial investments.

There is no direct correlation between the internal and external ratings at a granular

level, except to the extent that each falls within a single credit quality band.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management (cont'd.)

5. Credit quality of financial assets (cont'd.)

Credit classification for financial assets (cont'd.)

Risk categories are as described below:

Very low:

Low:

Medium:

High:

Impaired/

default:

Unrated:

Sovereign: Refer to obligors which are governments.

Obligors rated in this category have an excellent capacity to meet 

financial commitments with very low credit risk.

Obligors rated in this category have a good capacity to meet financial

commitments with very low credit risk.

Refer to obligors which are currently not assigned with obligors' ratings

due to unavailability of rating's models.

Obligors with objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or

more events that has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of

the obligors that can be reliably estimated. The detailed definition is

further disclosed in Note 2.2(i)(d).

Other than the above rated risk categories, other categories used internally are as

follows:

Obligors rated in this category have uncertain capacity to meet

financial commitments and are subject to high credit risk.

Obligors rated in this category have a fairly acceptable capacity to

meet financial commitments with moderate credit risk.
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41. Financial risk management (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management (cont’d.)

5. Credit quality of financial assets (cont'd.)

Financial investments - at FVOCI

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Very Low 36,228           -                  -                    36,228           

Low 15,514,167    -                  -                    15,514,167    

Medium 34,993           59,345         -                    94,338           

Carrying amount - fair 
   value 15,585,388    59,345         -                    15,644,733    

ECL (607)               (1,414)          -                    (2,021)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Very Low 11,642,713    -                  -                    11,642,713    

Low 1,764,910      -                  -                    1,764,910      

Medium 1,672,239      -                  -                    1,672,239      

Unrated 1,667             -                  -                    1,667             

Carrying amount - fair 
   value 15,081,529    -                  -                    15,081,529    

ECL (3,632)            -                  -                    (3,632)            

The following tables set out information about the credit quality of financial assets

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI") and at

amortised cost. Unless otherwise stated, for financial assets, the amounts in the

table represent gross carrying amounts. 
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41. Financial risk management (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management (cont’d.)

5. Credit quality of financial assets (cont'd.)

Financial investments - at amortised cost

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Low 26,177,158    -                  -                    26,177,158    

Medium 1,153,005      41,038         -                    1,194,043      

High 121,614         -                  121,614         

27,451,777    41,038         -                    27,492,815    

Less:

  ECL (30,266)          (850)             -                    (31,116)          

Net carrying amount 27,421,511    40,188         -                    27,461,699    

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Very Low 16,193,579    -                  -                    16,193,579    

Low 3,966,847      -                  -                    3,966,847      

Medium 2,735,710      -                  -                    2,735,710      

22,896,136    -                  -                    22,896,136    

Less:

  ECL (28,355)          -                  -                    (28,355)          

Net carrying amount 22,867,781    -                  -                    22,867,781    

The following tables set out information about the credit quality of financial assets

measured at FVOCI and at amortised cost. Unless otherwise stated, for financial

assets, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts (cont'd.). 
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41. Financial risk management (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management (cont’d.)

5. Credit quality of financial assets (cont'd.)

Financing and advances - at FVOCI

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Very Low 1,727,061      -                  -                    1,727,061      

Low 150,366         -                  -                    150,366         

Medium 1,264,033      -                  -                    1,264,033      

Carrying amount - fair 
   value 3,141,460      -                  -                    3,141,460      

ECL (7,269)            -                  -                    (7,269)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Very Low 1,797,957      -                  -                    1,797,957      

Medium 251,832         -                  -                    251,832         

Unrated 125,826         -                  -                    125,826         

Carrying amount - fair 
   value 2,175,615      -                  -                    2,175,615      

ECL (2,302)            -               -                    (2,302)            

The following tables set out information about the credit quality of financial assets

measured at FVOCI and at amortised cost. Unless otherwise stated, for financial

assets, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts (cont'd.). 
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41. Financial risk management (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management (cont’d.)

5. Credit quality of financial assets (cont'd.)

Financing and advances - at amortised cost

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Very Low 90,749,589    99,050         -                    90,848,639    

Low 82,670,089    1,706,321    -                    84,376,410    

Medium 20,756,842    8,318,139    -                    29,074,981    

High 1,372,617      3,244,420    -                    4,617,037      

Unrated 2,852,822      396,775       -                    3,249,597      

Impaired -                     -                  2,061,080     2,061,080      

198,401,959  13,764,705  2,061,080     214,227,744  

Less:

  ECL (442,735)        (1,309,534)   (1,237,312)    (2,989,581)     

Net carrying amount 197,959,224  12,455,171  823,768        211,238,163  

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Very Low 78,258,346    98,602         -                    78,356,948    

Low 72,573,128    1,624,968    -                    74,198,096    

Medium 21,900,353    7,801,601    -                    29,701,954    

High 1,762,720      3,962,593    -                    5,725,313      

Unrated 3,537,774      221,315       -                    3,759,089      

Impaired -                     -                  1,492,756     1,492,756      

178,032,321  13,709,079  1,492,756     193,234,156  

Less:

  ECL (556,209)        (1,678,410)   (709,435)       (2,944,054)     

Net carrying amount 177,476,112  12,030,669  783,321        190,290,102  

The following tables set out information about the credit quality of financial assets

measured at FVOCI and at amortised cost. Unless otherwise stated, for financial

assets, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts (cont'd.). 
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41. Financial risk management (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management (cont’d.)

5. Credit quality of financial assets (cont'd.)

Cash and short-term funds

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Sovereign 7,596,984      -                  -                    7,596,984      

Low 7,495,602      -                  -                    7,495,602      

Net carrying amount 15,092,586    -                  -                    15,092,586    

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Sovereign 11,372,529    -                  -                    11,372,529    

Low 751,463         -                  -                    751,463         
Net carrying amount 12,123,992    -                  -                    12,123,992    

Deposits and placements with banks and other financial institutions

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Sovereign 1,329,223      -                  -                    1,329,223      

Low 4,000,657      -                  -                    4,000,657      

Net carrying amount 5,329,880      -                  -                    5,329,880      

The following tables set out information about the credit quality of financial assets

measured at FVOCI and at amortised cost. Unless otherwise stated, for financial

assets, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts (cont'd.). 
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41. Financial risk management (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management (cont’d.)

5. Credit quality of financial assets (cont'd.)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Medium 3,000,157      -                  -                    3,000,157      
Net carrying amount 3,000,157      -                  -                    3,000,157      

Financial assets purchased under resale agreements

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Low 2,122,491      -                  -                    2,122,491      

2,122,491      -                  -                    2,122,491      

Less:

  ECL (796)               -                  -                    (796)               

Net carrying amount 2,121,695      -                  -                    2,121,695      

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Low 10,427,830    -                  -                    10,427,830    

10,427,830    -                  -                    10,427,830    

Less:

  ECL (7,081)            -                  -                    (7,081)            

Net carrying amount 10,420,749    -                  -                    10,420,749    

The following tables set out information about the credit quality of financial assets

measured at FVOCI and at amortised cost. Unless otherwise stated, for financial

assets, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts (cont'd.). 
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41. Financial risk management (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management (cont’d.)

5. Credit quality of financial assets (cont'd.)

Statutory deposit with Bank Negara Malaysia

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Sovereign 3,505,736      -                  -                    3,505,736      

Net carrying amount 3,505,736      -                  -                    3,505,736      

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Sovereign 20,447           -                  -                    20,447           

Net carrying amount 20,447           -                  -                    20,447           

Other assets

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Unrated 4,917,613      -                  -                    4,917,613      

Net carrying amount 4,917,613      -                  -                    4,917,613      

The following tables set out information about the credit quality of financial assets

measured at FVOCI and at amortised cost. Unless otherwise stated, for financial

assets, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts (cont'd.). 
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41. Financial risk management (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management (cont’d.)

5. Credit quality of financial assets (cont'd.)

Other assets (cont'd.)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Unrated 4,426,072      -                  -                    4,426,072      

Net carrying amount 4,426,072      -                  -                    4,426,072      

Financing commitments

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Very Low 487,469         785              -                    488,254         

Low 1,863,692      27,141         -                    1,890,833      

Medium 381,588         195,192       -                    576,780         

High 32,143           31,962         -                    64,105           

Unrated 56,263           -                  -                    56,263           

Impaired -                     -                  575,981        575,981         

2,821,155      255,080       575,981        3,652,216      

Less:

  ECL (33,241)          (11,552)        (93,144)         (137,937)        

Net carrying amount 2,787,914      243,528       482,837        3,514,279      

The following tables set out information about the credit quality of financial assets

measured at FVOCI and at amortised cost. Unless otherwise stated, for financial

assets, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts (cont'd.). 

2021
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41. Financial risk management (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management (cont’d.)

5. Credit quality of financial assets (cont'd.)

Financing commitments (cont'd.)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

12-month not credit credit

ECL impaired impaired Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Very Low 70,774           154              -                    70,928           

Low 1,386,931      22,828         -                    1,409,759      

Medium 626,007         659,333       -                    1,285,340      

High 584,446         17,584         -                    602,030         

Unrated 33,509           1,820           -                    35,329           

Impaired -                     -                  2,033            2,033             

2,701,667      701,719       2,033            3,405,419      

Less:

  ECL (31,665)          (17,433)        (1,622)           (50,720)          

Net carrying amount 2,670,002      684,286       411               3,354,699      

Financial investments at FVTPL

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Low -                    659,118         

Medium 309,504        125,184         
Carrying amount - fair value 309,504        784,302         

The following tables set out information about the credit quality of financial assets

measured at FVOCI and at amortised cost. Unless otherwise stated, for financial

assets, the amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts (cont'd.). 

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets

measured at FVTPL:

2021
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41. Financial risk management (cont'd.)

(e) Credit risk management (cont'd.)

6. Credit quality of impaired financial assets 

(i) Impaired financial assets analysed by geography are as follows:

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Malaysia 2,061,080     1,492,756      

(ii) Impaired financial assets analysed by industry sectors are as follows:

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Agriculture 751,858        475,555         

Mining and quarrying 12,909          3,656             

Manufacturing 114,098        65,817           

Construction 316,301        58,798           

Electricity, gas and water supply 45,195          117,065         

Wholesale, retail trade, restaurants

   and hotels 162,171        121,996         

Finance, insurance,  real estate and 

   business 118,719        64,588           

Transport, storage and communication 68,188          78,506           

Education, health and others 27,427          7,056             

Household 444,213        499,712         

Others 1                   7                    

2,061,080     1,492,756      

Financing and advances

Financing and advances
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(f) Market risk management

1. Market risk management overview 

2. Market risk management

Management of trading activities

Market risk is defined as the risk of loss or adverse impact on earnings or capital

arising from fluctuations of market rates or prices such as profit rates, foreign

exchange rates, commodity prices and equity prices.

The Bank’s traded market risk exposures are primarily from proprietary trading,

client servicing and market making. The risk measurement techniques employed by

the Bank comprise both quantitative and qualitative measures.

Value at Risk ("VaR") measures the potential loss of value resulting from market

movements over a specified period of time within a specified probability of

occurrence. The methodology is based on historical simulation, at a 99.2%

confidence level using a 1-day holding period. The VaR model is regularly back

tested to evaluate its performance and accuracy. The Bank also computes a

Stressed VaR based on a selected historical stress period.

Besides VaR, the Bank utilises other non-statistical risk measures, such as

exposure to a one basis point increase in yield (“PV01”) for managing portfolio

sensitivity to market profit rate movements, net open position ("NOP") limit for

managing foreign currency exposure and Greek limits for controlling options risk.

These measures provide granular information on the Bank’s market risk exposures

and are used for control and monitoring purposes.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(f) Market risk management (cont'd.)

2. Market risk management (cont'd.)

- Repricing Gap Analysis;

- Economic VaR; and

- Earnings at Risk.

3. Profit rate risk

Management and measurement of Profit Rate Risk ("PRR")/Rate of Return

Risk ("RoR") in the banking book

The Bank emphasises the importance of managing PRR/RoR in the banking book

as most of the balance sheet items of the Bank generate profit income and profit

distributed to depositors, which are indexed to profit rates. Volatility of earnings can

pose a threat to the Bank’s profitability while economic value provides a more

comprehensive view of the potential long-term effects on the Bank’s overall capital

adequacy. 

PRR/RoR in the banking book encompasses repricing risk, yield curve risk and

basis risk arising from the movements in profit rates. The objective of the Bank’s

PRR/RoR in the banking book framework is to ensure that all PRR/RoR in the

banking book is managed within its risk appetite. 

PRR/RoR in the banking book is measured and monitored proactively, using the

following principal measurement techniques:

The Bank is exposed to various risk associated with the effects of fluctuations in the

prevailing levels of market yield/profit rate on the financial position and cash flows.

Yield/profit rate risk is identified, measured, monitored and controlled through limits

and procedures set by Maybank Group Asset and Liability Management Committee

("ALCO") to protect total net profit income from changes in market profit rates.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(f) Market risk management (cont'd.)

3. Profit rate risk (cont'd.)

Interbank offered rates ("IBOR"s) reformed

●

●

●

IBOR which has been widely used in the global financial markets, has been

discontinued as of financial year ended 31 December 2021 for GBP, EUR, CHF and

JPY London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") settings in all tenures, and USD

LIBOR for 1-week and 2-month settings. The USD Overnight LIBOR settings for 1-

month, 3-month, 6-month and 12-month tenures will mature by June 2023.

Respective rates are replaced by risk-free rates ("RFR"s) as part of the global

reform of benchmark profit rate. The transition from IBOR to RFRs have significant

impact on the Bank arising from legal implications for existing derivatives and

financing contract referenced to IBOR, adjustment to accounting and valuation

approaches, and system recalibration and reconfiguration. In June 2019, Maybank

Group set up the IBOR transition Project Steering Committee ("PSC") , which

consists of senior leaders from various functions across the Group including Legal,

Finance, Operations, Technology, Risk and Compliance, to address the Bank's

readiness for the IBOR reform.

Since the establishment of the PSC, Maybank Group has been planning and laying

the foundations to ensure a smooth IBOR transition within the organisation and for

its clients. These efforts include reviewing affected legal contracts, staff training,

client engagement and ensuring systems and operational readiness to offer RFR

products. Maybank Group actively monitors the developments in the industry in

order to align itself to global market practices. The Board is updated on the progress

of Maybank Group's IBOR transition on a quarterly basis.

IBOR reform exposes the Bank to various risks, which the project is managing and

monitoring closely. These risks include but are not limited to the following:

Conduct risk arising from discussions with clients and market counterparties due

to the amendments required to existing contracts necessary to effect IBOR

reform;

Operational risk arising from changes to the Bank’s IT systems and processes,

also the risk of payments being disrupted if an IBOR ceases to be available;

Financial risk to the Bank and its clients that markets are disrupted due to IBOR

reform giving rise to financial losses;
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(f) Market risk management (cont'd.)

3. Profit rate risk (cont'd.)

Interbank offered rates ("IBOR"s) reformed (cont'd.)

●

●

Non- Non-

derivatives derivatives

financial financial

 assets  liabilities Derivatives

carrying carrying nominal

 value  value amount

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2022

USD London Interbank Offered 
   Rate 2,973,511    1,078,325     12,798           

2021

USD London Interbank Offered 
   Rate 3,126,634    208,600        3,666,284      

The following table is exposure that have yet to transition from IBOR to RFRs.

Legal and compliance risk of litigation due to transition value transfer between

the Bank and its customers and counterparties.

Accounting risk if the Bank’s hedging relationships fail and from unrepresentative

income statement volatility as financial instruments transition to RFRs; and

IBOR reform exposes the Bank to various risks, which the project is managing and

monitoring closely. These risks include but are not limited to the following (cont'd.):
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(f) Market risk management (cont'd.)

3. Profit rate risk (cont'd.)

Up to >1 - 3 >3 - 12 1 - 5 Over 5 Non-profit Trading Effective

1 month months months years years sensitive books Total profit rate

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 %

Assets

Cash and short-term funds 15,092,556      -                      -                     -                     -                      30                   -                    15,092,586    2.73%

Deposits and placements with banks

   and other financial institutions -                       5,329,880       -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    5,329,880      3.61%

Financial assets purchased under 

   resale agreements -                       2,121,695       -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    2,121,695      3.15%

Financial investments at fair value 

   through profit or loss -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      309,504        309,504         5.14%

Financial investments at fair value 

   through other comprehensive income -                       172,531          3,225,137      2,498,857      9,749,458       -                      -                    15,645,983    3.98%

Financial investments at amortised 

   cost -                       156,734          826,800         3,974,029      22,504,136     -                      -                    27,461,699    4.38%

Financing and advances

  - Non-impaired 142,796,759    4,084,582       2,485,035      19,919,570    46,022,178     -                      -                    215,308,124  4.21%

  - Impaired* 823,768           -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    823,768         -                      

  - 12-month ECL and lifetime ECL

     not credit impaired -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      (1,752,269)     -                    (1,752,269)     -                      

Derivative assets -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      263,763        263,763         -                      

Other assets -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      5,150,765       -                    5,150,765      -                      

Other non-yield/profit sensitive balances -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      3,801,789       -                    3,801,789      -                      
Total assets 158,713,083    11,865,422     6,536,972      26,392,456    78,275,772     7,200,315       573,267        289,557,287  

* This is arrived after deducting the stage 3 - lifetime ECL credit impaired from the gross impaired financing and advances.

The tables below summarise the Bank's exposure to yield/profit rate risk. The tables indicate effective average yield/profit rates at the reporting date and the periods in which the

financial instruments either repriced or matured, whichever is earlier.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(f) Market risk management (cont'd.)

3. Profit rate risk (cont'd.)

Up to >1 - 3 >3 - 12 1 - 5 Over 5 Non-profit Trading Effective

1 month months months years years sensitive books Total profit rate

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 %

Liabilities and shareholder's equity

Customers' funding:

- Deposits from customers 63,587,544      50,154,313     43,648,817    17,442,793    34,949,996     -                      -                    209,783,463  2.51%

- Investment accounts of customers 2,531,872        1,683,904       5,402,580      6,199,693      9,819,653       -                      -                    25,637,702    1.29%

Deposits and placements of banks

   and other financial institutions 5,775,180        8,897,244       7,791,475      553,234         275,476          304,897          -                    23,597,506    3.64%

Obligations on financial assets sold 

   under repurchase agreements 461,081           -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    461,081         3.05%

Bills and acceptances payable -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      32,569            -                    32,569           -                      

Derivative liabilities -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      384,674        384,674         -                      

Term funding -                       1,490,824       4,923,130      3,007,248      -                      -                      -                    9,421,202      3.26%

Subordinated sukuk -                       -                      -                     2,021,893      -                      -                      -                    2,021,893      3.70%

Capital securities -                       -                      -                     1,002,347      -                      -                      -                    1,002,347      4.76%

Other liabilities 14,448             -                      -                     -                     -                      2,640,500       -                    2,654,948      2.30%

Other non-yield/profit sensitive balances -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      138,207          -                    138,207         -                      

Total liabilities 72,370,125      62,226,285     61,766,002    30,227,208    45,045,125     3,116,173       384,674        275,135,592  

Shareholder's equity -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      14,421,695     -                    14,421,695    
Total liabilities and
   shareholder's equity 72,370,125      62,226,285     61,766,002    30,227,208    45,045,125     17,537,868     384,674        289,557,287  

On-balance sheet yield/profit 

   rate sensitivity gap 86,342,958      (50,360,863)   (55,229,030)   (3,834,752)     33,230,647     (10,337,553)   188,593        

Off-balance sheet yield/profit 

   rate sensitivity gap (161)                 125                 1,508             (1,582)            110                 -                      -                    
Total profit rate sensitivity gap 86,342,797      (50,360,738)   (55,227,522)   (3,836,334)     33,230,757     (10,337,553)   188,593        

Cumulative yield/profit rate 
   sensitivity gap 86,342,797      35,982,059     (19,245,463)   (23,081,797)   10,148,960     (188,593)         -                    

The tables below summarise the Bank's exposure to yield/profit rate risk. The tables indicate effective average yield/profit rates at the reporting date and the periods in which the

financial instruments either repriced or matured, whichever is earlier (cont'd.).
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(f) Market risk management (cont'd.)

3. Profit rate risk (cont'd.)

Up to >1 - 3 >3 - 12 1 - 5 Over 5 Non-profit Trading Effective

1 month months months years years sensitive books Total profit rate

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 %

Assets

Cash and short-term funds 12,123,725      -                      -                     -                     -                      267                 -                    12,123,992    1.65%

Deposits and placements with banks

   and other financial institutions -                       3,000,157       -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    3,000,157      1.91%

Financial assets purchased under 

   resale agreements 3,308,152        7,112,597       -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    10,420,749    1.81%

Financial investments at fair value 

   through profit or loss -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      784,302        784,302         1.48%

Financial investments at fair value 

   through other comprehensive income 417,427           860,281          1,284,197      6,205,540      6,315,334       -                      -                    15,082,779    3.92%

Financial investments at amortised 

   cost 140,139           24,891            1,738,357      5,614,212      15,350,182     -                      -                    22,867,781    4.12%

Financing and advances

  - Non-impaired 130,307,173    4,493,170       2,190,131      18,446,656    38,479,885     -                      -                    193,917,015  3.74%

  - Impaired* 783,321           -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    783,321         -                      

  - 12-month ECL and lifetime ECL

     not credit impaired -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      (2,234,619)     -                    (2,234,619)     -                      

Derivative assets -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      117,420        117,420         -                      

Other assets -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      4,804,475       -                    4,804,475      -                      

Other non-yield/profit sensitive balances -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      217,735          -                    217,735         -                      
Total assets 147,079,937    15,491,096     5,212,685      30,266,408    60,145,401     2,787,858       901,722        261,885,107  

* This is arrived after deducting the stage 3 - lifetime ECL credit impaired from the gross impaired financing and advances.

The tables below summarise the Bank's exposure to yield/profit rate risk. The tables indicate effective average yield/profit rates at the reporting date and the periods in which the

financial instruments either repriced or matured, whichever is earlier (cont'd.).
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(f) Market risk management (cont'd.)

3. Profit rate risk (cont'd.)

Up to >1 - 3 >3 - 12 1 - 5 Over 5 Non-profit Trading Effective

1 month months months years years sensitive books Total profit rate

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 %

Liabilities and shareholder's

   equity

Customers' funding:

- Deposits from customers 54,545,902      32,200,226     46,788,104    17,853,329    28,127,357     -                      -                    179,514,918  1.27%

- Investment accounts of customers 3,287,399        2,409,451       6,734,735      6,804,598      9,484,616       -                      -                    28,720,799    1.12%

Deposits and placements of banks

   and other financial institutions 6,075,608        10,270,953     6,699,705      550,893         283,342          306,127          -                    24,186,628    1.84%

Bills and acceptances payable -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      19,561            -                    19,561           -                      

Derivative liabilities -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      177,545        177,545         -                      

Term funding -                       2,990,422       6,959,475      973,280         -                      -                      -                    10,923,177    2.31%

Subordinated sukuk -                       -                      -                     2,021,814      -                      -                      -                    2,021,814      3.70%

Capital securities -                       -                      1,002,441      -                     -                      -                      -                    1,002,441      4.95%

Other liabilities 3,592               -                      -                     -                     -                      1,517,529       -                    1,521,121      0.69%

Other non-yield/profit sensitive balances -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      27,544            -                    27,544           -                      
Total liabilities 63,912,501      47,871,052     68,184,460    28,203,914    37,895,315     1,870,761       177,545        248,115,548  

Shareholder's equity -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      13,769,559     -                    13,769,559    

Total liabilities and
   shareholder's equity 63,912,501      47,871,052     68,184,460    28,203,914    37,895,315     15,640,320     177,545        261,885,107  

On-balance sheet yield/profit 

   rate sensitivity gap 83,167,436      (32,379,956)   (62,971,775)   2,062,494      22,250,086     (12,852,462)   724,177        

Off-balance sheet yield/profit 

   rate sensitivity gap (63)                   (1,947)             245                1,610             155                 -                      -                    
Total profit rate sensitivity gap 83,167,373      (32,381,903)   (62,971,530)   2,064,104      22,250,241     (12,852,462)   724,177        

Cumulative yield/profit rate 
   sensitivity gap 83,167,373      50,785,470     (12,186,060)   (10,121,956)   12,128,285     (724,177)         -                

The tables below summarise the Bank's exposure to yield/profit rate risk. The tables indicate effective average yield/profit rates at the reporting date and the periods in which the

financial instruments either repriced or matured, whichever is earlier (cont'd.).
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(f) Market risk management (cont'd.)

4. Sensitivity analysis for profit rate risk

The table below shows the sensitivity of the Bank’s profit after tax to an up and down 100 basis point parallel rate shocks.

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Tax rate + 100 basis - 100 basis Tax rate + 100 basis - 100 basis

points points points points

Impact to profit before tax 202,483          (202,483)         297,968         (297,968)        
Impact to profit after tax 24% 153,887          (153,887)         24% 226,456         (226,456)        

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

+ 100 basis - 100 basis + 100 basis - 100 basis

points points points points

Impact to revaluation reserve for FVOCI (1,009,936)     1,009,936     (773,582)        773,582         

5. Foreign exchange risk

20212022

Generally, the Bank is exposed to three types of foreign exchange risk such as translation risk, transactional risk and economic risk which are managed in accordance with the market

risk policy and limits. The FX translation risks are mitigated as the assets are funded in the same currency. The Bank controls its FX exposures by transacting in permissible currencies.

It has an internal FX NOP to measure, control and monitor its FX risk and implements FX hedging strategies to minimise FX exposures. Stress testing is conducted periodically to

ensure sufficient capital to buffer the FX risk.

20212022

Impact to profit after tax is measured using Earnings-at-Risk ("EaR") methodology which is simulated based on a set of standardised rate shock on the profit rate gap profile derived

from the statement of financial position of the Bank. The profit rate gap is the mismatch of rate sensitive assets and rate sensitive liabilities taking consideration the earlier of repricing or

remaining maturity, behavioural assumptions of certain indeterminate maturities products such as current and savings deposits, to reflect the actual sensitivity behaviour of these profit

bearing liabilities. 

Impact to revaluation reserve is assessed by applying up and down 100 basis points rate shock to the yield curve to model the impact on mark-to-market for financial investments at fair

value through of comprehensive income ("FVOCI") portfolio:

Foreign exchange (“FX”) risk arises as a result of movements in relative currencies due to the Bank’s operating business activities, trading activities and structural foreign exchange

exposures from foreign investments and capital management activities. 
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(f) Market risk management (cont'd.)

5. Foreign exchange risk (cont'd.)

Great Hong United

Malaysian Singapore Britain Kong States Indonesia

Ringgit Dollar Pound Dollar Dollar Rupiah Euro Others Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Assets

Cash and short-term funds 13,002,050      162,279          490,754         5,337             1,103,378       -                      128,511        200,277         15,092,586    

Deposits and placements with banks

   and other financial institutions 4,000,657        -                      -                     -                     1,329,223       -                      -                    -                     5,329,880      

Financial assets purchased under 

   resale agreements 2,121,695        -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     2,121,695      

Financial investments portfolio* 43,107,682      -                      -                     -                     309,504          -                      -                    -                     43,417,186    

Financing and advances 210,246,345    3,920              638,052         -                     3,403,870       -                      81,233          6,203             214,379,623  

Derivative assets^ 3,548,602        (4,424)             140,111         (97)                 (3,398,936)     1,928              (8,001)           (15,420)          263,763         

Other assets 4,840,952        2,261              288,459         27                  (4,184)             893                 (22,474)         44,831           5,150,765      

Statutory deposit with Bank 

   Negara Malaysia 3,505,736        -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     3,505,736      

Property, plant and equipment -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    341                341                 

Right-of-use assets 4,320               -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    2,959             7,279              

Deferred tax assets 288,433           -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     288,433         

Total assets 284,666,472    164,036          1,557,376      5,267             2,742,855       2,821              179,269        239,191         289,557,287  

*

^

The tables below analyse the net foreign exchange positions of the Bank as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 by major currencies, which are mainly in Ringgit Malaysia,

Singapore Dollar, the Great Britain Pound, Hong Kong Dollar, United States Dollar, Indonesia Rupiah and Euro. The “others” foreign exchange risk include mainly exposure to

Australian Dollar, Japanese Yen, Chinese Renminbi, Philippine Peso, Brunei Dollar and United Arab Emirates Dirham.

The currency positions of the respective assets and liabilities in the analysis above have been stated on a gross basis. These assets and liabilities have been set-off and presented

on a net basis if necessary and as appropriate in accordance with applicable MFRS in the Bank's statements of financial position.

Financial investments portfolio consists of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial

investments at amortised cost.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(f) Market risk management (cont'd.)

5. Foreign exchange risk (cont'd.)

Great Hong United

Malaysian Singapore Britain Kong States Indonesia

Ringgit Dollar Pound Dollar Dollar Rupiah Euro Others Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Liabilities

Deposits from customers 199,142,101    70,392            1,178,602      6,236             9,045,960       -                      190,168        150,004         209,783,463  

Investment accounts of customers 25,637,702      -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     25,637,702    

Deposits and placements of banks  

   and other financial institutions 22,767,521      -                      480,475         -                     342,159          468                 -                    6,883             23,597,506    

Obligations on financial assets sold 

   under repurchase agreements 461,081           -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     461,081         

Bills and acceptances payable 32,569             -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     32,569            

Derivative liabilities^ 7,434,780        90,113            (383,432)        -                     (6,808,231)     1,095              12,973          37,376           384,674         

Other liabilities 2,635,795        328                 196                -                     2,813              -                      274               15,542           2,654,948      

Provision for taxation and zakat 138,207           -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     138,207         

Term funding 9,421,202        -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     9,421,202      

Subordinated sukuk 2,021,893        -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     2,021,893      

Capital securities 1,002,347        -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     1,002,347      

Total liabilities 270,695,198    160,833          1,275,841      6,236             2,582,701       1,563              203,415        209,805         275,135,592  

On-balance sheet open position 13,971,274      3,203              281,535         (969)               160,154          1,258              (24,146)         29,386           14,421,695    

Less: Derivative assets (3,548,602)       4,424              (140,111)        97                  3,398,936       (1,928)             8,001            15,420           (263,763)        

Add: Derivative liabilities 7,434,780        90,113            (383,432)        -                     (6,808,231)     1,095              12,973          37,376           384,674         

Add: Net forward position (3,886,178)       (94,537)           523,543         (97)                 3,409,295       833                 (20,974)         (52,796)          (120,911)        
Net open position 13,971,274      3,203              281,535         (969)               160,154          1,258              (24,146)         29,386           14,421,695    

^ The currency positions of the respective assets and liabilities in the analysis above have been stated on a gross basis. These assets and liabilities have been set-off and presented

on a net basis if necessary and as appropriate in accordance with applicable MFRS in the Bank's statements of financial position.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(f) Market risk management (cont'd.)

5. Foreign exchange risk (cont'd.)

Great Hong United

Malaysian Singapore Britain Kong States Indonesia

Ringgit Dollar Pound Dollar Dollar Rupiah Euro Others Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Assets

Cash and short-term funds 11,372,529      206,105          56,046           22,309           425,245          -                      -                    41,758           12,123,992    

Deposits and placements with banks

   and other financial institutions 3,000,157        -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     3,000,157      

Financial assets purchased under 

   resale agreements 10,420,749      -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     10,420,749    

Financial investments portfolio* 37,681,343      -                      -                     -                     1,053,519       -                      -                    -                     38,734,862    

Financing and advances 187,267,884    1,084              804,862         -                     4,312,775       -                      69,726          9,386             192,465,717  

Derivative assets^ (9,611,963)       (61,794)           (14,089)          -                     9,811,175       1,135              1,809            (8,853)            117,420         

Other assets 4,561,942        942                 279,674         (54)                 (55,709)           922                 (20,328)         37,086           4,804,475      

Statutory deposit with Bank 

   Negara Malaysia 20,447             -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     20,447            

Property, plant and equipment -                       -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    546                546                 

Right-of-use assets 5,786               -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    340                6,126              

Deferred tax assets 190,616           -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     190,616         
Total assets 244,909,490    146,337          1,126,493      22,255           15,547,005     2,057              51,207          80,263           261,885,107  

*

^ The currency positions of the respective assets and liabilities in the analysis above have been stated on a gross basis. These assets and liabilities have been set-off and presented

on a net basis if necessary and as appropriate in accordance with applicable MFRS in the Bank's statements of financial position.

Financial investments portfolio consists of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial

investments at amortised cost.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(f) Market risk management (cont'd.)

5. Foreign exchange risk (cont'd.)

Great Hong United

Malaysian Singapore Britain Kong States Indonesia

Ringgit Dollar Pound Dollar Dollar Rupiah Euro Others Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Liabilities

Deposits from customers 163,109,827    127,829          194,936         16,895           15,968,977     -                      57,761          38,693           179,514,918  

Investment accounts of customers 28,720,799      -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     28,720,799    

Deposits and placements of banks  

   and other financial institutions 21,636,938      -                      666,554         -                     1,722,059       970                 18,519          141,588         24,186,628    

Bills and acceptances payable 19,561             -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     19,561            

Derivative liabilities^ 2,671,071        15,414            (9,845)            4,172             (2,368,574)     1,135              (3,099)           (132,729)        177,545         

Other liabilities 1,516,277        78                   20                  -                     2,084              -                      24                 2,638             1,521,121      

Provision for zakat 27,544             -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     27,544            

Term funding 10,923,177      -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     10,923,177    

Subordinated sukuk 2,021,814        -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     2,021,814      

Capital securities 1,002,441        -                      -                     -                     -                      -                      -                    -                     1,002,441      
Total liabilities 231,649,449    143,321          851,665         21,067           15,324,546     2,105              73,205          50,190           248,115,548  

On-balance sheet open position 13,260,041      3,016              274,828         1,188             222,459          (48)                  (21,998)         30,073           13,769,559    

Less: Derivative assets 9,611,963        61,794            14,089           -                     (9,811,175)     (1,135)             (1,809)           8,853             (117,420)        

Add: Derivative liabilities 2,671,071        15,414            (9,845)            4,172             (2,368,574)     1,135              (3,099)           (132,729)        177,545         

Add: Net forward position (12,283,034)     (77,208)           (4,244)            (4,172)            12,179,749     -                      4,908            123,876         (60,125)          
Net open position 13,260,041      3,016              274,828         1,188             222,459          (48)                  (21,998)         30,073           13,769,559    

^ The currency positions of the respective assets and liabilities in the analysis above have been stated on a gross basis. These assets and liabilities have been set-off and presented

on a net basis if necessary and as appropriate in accordance with applicable MFRS in the Bank's statements of financial position.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(f) Market risk management (cont'd.)

6. Sensitivity analysis for foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risk



1% 1% 1% 1%

appreciation depreciation appreciation depreciation

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Impact to profit 
   after tax (4,504)            4,504             (5,095)            5,095             

Interpretation of impact

(g) Liquidity risk management

1. Liquidity risk management overview

Liquidity risk management

The Bank has adopted BNM Liquidity Coverage Ratio, Net Stable Funding Ratio and

other industry leading practices as a foundation to measure and manage its liquidity

risk exposure. The Bank also uses a range of tools to monitor and control liquidity

risk exposure such as liquidity gap, early warning signals, liquidity indicators and

stress testing. The liquidity positions of the Bank are monitored regularly against the

established policies, procedures and limits.

2022 2021

Foreign exchange risk arises from the movements in exchange rates that adversely

affect the revaluation of the Bank and the foreign currency positions. Considering

that other risk variables remain constant, the foreign currency revaluation sensitivity

for the Bank on their unhedged position are as follows:

The Bank measures the foreign exchange sensitivity based on the foreign exchange

net open positions (excluding foreign exchange structural position) under an adverse

movements in all foreign currencies against reporting currency - Ringgit Malaysia

("RM"). The result implies that the Bank may be subject to additional translation

(losses)/gains if the RM depreciates/appreciates against other currencies and vice

versa.  

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk of an adverse impact to the Bank's financial

condition or overall safety and soundness that could arise from its inability (or

perceived inability) or unexpected higher cost to meet its obligations.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(g) Liquidity risk management (cont'd.)

1. Liquidity risk management overview (cont'd.)

Liquidity risk management (cont'd.)

Management of liquidity risk

•

•

•

• Managing liquidity exposure by domestic and significant foreign currencies; 

• Diversifying funding sources to ensure appropriate funding mix;

•

•

•

Maintaining a robust contingency funding plan that includes strategies, decision-

making authorities, internal and external communications and courses of action to

be taken under different liquidity crisis scenarios; and

Conducting Recovery Plan ("RCP") testing to examine the effectiveness and

robustness of the plans to avert any potential liquidity disasters affecting the

Bank's liquidity soundness and financial solvency.  

The Bank has a diversified liability structure to meet its funding requirements. The

primary source of funding includes customer deposits, interbank deposits, debt

securities, swap market, bank financing syndication and medium term funds. The

Bank also initiates and implements strategic fund raising programmes as well as

institutes standby lines with external parties on a need basis. Sources of fund

providers are regularly reviewed to maintain a wide diversification by currency,

provider, product and term thus minimising excessive funding concentration. 

For day-to-day liquidity management, the treasury operations will ensure sufficient

funding to meet its intraday payment and settlement obligations on a timely basis.

Besides, the process of managing liquidity risk also includes:

Maintaining a sufficient amount of unencumbered high quality liquidity buffer as a

protection against any unforeseen interruption to cash flows;

Managing short and long-term cash flows via maturity mismatch report and

various indicators;

Monitoring depositor concentration at the Bank levels to avoid undue reliance on

large depositors;

Conducting liquidity stress testing under various scenarios as part of prudent

liquidity control; 
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(g) Liquidity risk management (cont'd.)

2. Contractual maturity of total assets and liabilities

These disclosures are made in accordance with the requirement of policy document on Financial Reporting issued by BNM:

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 6 > 6 months > 1 to 3 > 3 to 5 Over 5 No-specific

month months months to 1 year years years years maturity Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Assets

Cash and short-term funds 15,092,586      -                     -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     -                    15,092,586     

Deposits and placements with 

   banks and other financial 

   institutions -                       5,329,880      -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     -                    5,329,880       

Financial assets purchased under 

   resale agreements -                       2,121,695      -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     -                    2,121,695       

Financial investments portfolio* -                       545,841         2,561,707     1,583,158      3,984,517     2,488,369   32,253,594    -                    43,417,186     

Financing and advances 15,267,418      4,880,600      2,094,669     1,600,514      7,838,374     19,450,939 163,247,109  -                    214,379,623   

Derivative assets 54,220             139,819         9,278            21,534           2,624            23,499         12,789           -                    263,763          

Other assets 4,564,813        -                     -                    585,952         -                    -                   -                     -                    5,150,765       

Statutory deposit with Bank 

   Negara Malaysia -                       -                     -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     3,505,736     3,505,736       

Property, plant and equipment -                       -                     -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     341               341                  

Right-of-use assets -                       -                     -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     7,279            7,279               

Deferred tax assets -                       -                     -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     288,433        288,433          

Total assets 34,979,037      13,017,835    4,665,654     3,791,158      11,825,515  21,962,807 195,513,492  3,801,789     289,557,287   

* 

The tables below analyse assets and liabilities (inclusive of non-financial instruments) of the Bank in the relevant maturity tenors based on remaining contractual maturities as

at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

Financial investments portfolio consists of financial investments at fair value through profit or loss, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

and financial investments at amortised cost.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(g) Liquidity risk management (cont'd.)

2. Contractual maturity of total assets and liabilities (cont'd.)

These disclosures are made in accordance with the requirement of policy document on Financial Reporting issued by BNM (cont'd.):

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 6 > 6 months > 1 to 3 > 3 to 5 Over 5 No-specific

month months months to 1 year years years years maturity Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Liabilities

Customer funding:

   - Deposits from customers 123,620,727    47,655,859    27,703,462   10,616,600    166,746        20,069         -                     -                    209,783,463   

   - Investment accounts of 

       customers 22,414,425      584,112         1,216,976     1,403,496      13,924          4,769           -                     -                    25,637,702     

Deposits and placements of banks  

   and other financial institutions 6,080,077        8,897,244      7,510,523     280,952         365,625        187,609      275,476         -                    23,597,506     

Obligations on financial assets sold 

   under repurchase agreements 461,081           -                     -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     -                    461,081          

Bills and acceptances payable 32,569             -                     -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     -                    32,569             

Derivative liabilities 39,670             205,616         54,381          23,201           2,624            46,480         12,702           -                    384,674          

Other liabilities 2,337,461        482                723               312,534         3,748            -                   -                     -                    2,654,948       

Provision for taxation and zakat -                       -                     -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     138,207        138,207          

Term funding -                       1,490,824      3,456,202     1,466,927      -                    3,007,249   -                     -                    9,421,202       

Subordinated sukuk -                       11,044           10,849          -                     -                    -                   2,000,000      -                    2,021,893       

Capital securities -                       -                     2,347            -                     -                    -                   1,000,000      -                    1,002,347       

Total liabilities 154,986,010    58,845,181    39,955,463   14,103,710    552,667        3,266,176   3,288,178      138,207        275,135,592   

Net liquidity gap (120,006,973)   (45,827,346)   (35,289,809)  (10,312,552)  11,272,848  18,696,631 192,225,314  3,663,582     14,421,695     

The tables below analyse assets and liabilities (inclusive of non-financial instruments) of the Bank in the relevant maturity tenors based on remaining contractual maturities as

at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 (cont'd.).

230



Co. Reg. No.: 200701029411

Maybank Islamic Berhad

(Incorporated in Malaysia)
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(g) Liquidity risk management (cont'd.)

2. Contractual maturity of total assets and liabilities (cont'd.)

These disclosures are made in accordance with the requirement of policy document on Financial Reporting issued by BNM (cont'd.):

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 6 > 6 months > 1 to 3 > 3 to 5 Over 5 No-specific

month months months to 1 year years years years maturity Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Assets

Cash and short-term funds 12,123,992      -                     -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     -                    12,123,992     

Deposits and placements with 

   banks and other financial 

   institutions -                       3,000,157      -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     -                    3,000,157       

Financial assets purchased under 

   resale agreements 2,799,467        7,117,778      -                    503,504         -                    -                   -                     -                    10,420,749     

Financial investments portfolio* 857,451           1,369,590      1,618,526     1,404,028      8,658,164     3,161,587   21,665,516    -                    38,734,862     

Financing and advances 14,351,777      5,052,385      2,047,433     733,470         7,532,057     16,395,668 146,352,927  -                    192,465,717   

Derivative assets 10,911             28,721           11,225          6,390             39,957          3,038           17,178           -                    117,420          

Other assets 3,959,163        -                     -                    845,312         -                    -                   -                     -                    4,804,475       

Statutory deposit with Bank 

   Negara Malaysia -                       -                     -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     20,447          20,447             

Property, plant and equipment -                       -                     -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     546               546                  

Right-of-use assets -                       -                     -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     6,126            6,126               

Deferred tax assets -                       -                     -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     190,616        190,616          

Total assets 34,102,761      16,568,631    3,677,184     3,492,704      16,230,178  19,560,293 168,035,621  217,735        261,885,107   

* 

The tables below analyse assets and liabilities (inclusive of non-financial instruments) of the Bank in the relevant maturity tenors based on remaining contractual maturities as

at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 (cont'd.).

Financial investments portfolio consists of financial investments at fair value through profit or loss, financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

and financial investments at amortised cost.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(g) Liquidity risk management (cont'd.)

2. Contractual maturity of total assets and liabilities (cont'd.)

These disclosures are made in accordance with the requirement of policy document on Financial Reporting issued by BNM (cont'd.):

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 6 > 6 months > 1 to 3 > 3 to 5 Over 5 No-specific

month months months to 1 year years years years maturity Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Liabilities

Customer funding:

   - Deposits from customers 110,666,502    29,329,109    21,875,081   17,388,379    227,460        28,387         -                     -                    179,514,918   

   - Investment accounts of 

       customers 25,205,073      784,171         1,238,101     1,483,337      4,741            5,376           -                     -                    28,720,799     

Deposits and placements of banks  

   and other financial institutions 6,381,735        10,270,953    6,020,226     679,479         165,779        385,114      283,342         -                    24,186,628     

Bills and acceptances payable 19,561             -                     -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     -                    19,561             

Derivative liabilities 33,587             43,302           30,956          6,477             38,672          3,038           21,513           -                    177,545          

Other liabilities 1,289,441        467                504               226,766         3,248            695              -                     -                    1,521,121       

Provision for zakat -                       -                     -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     27,544          27,544             

Term funding -                       2,990,422      3,475,945     3,483,530      -                    973,280      -                     -                    10,923,177     

Subordinated sukuk -                       10,965           10,849          -                     -                    -                   2,000,000      -                    2,021,814       

Capital securities -                       -                     2,441            -                     -                    -                   1,000,000      -                    1,002,441       

Total liabilities 143,595,899    43,429,389    32,654,103   23,267,968    439,900        1,395,890   3,304,855      27,544          248,115,548   

Net liquidity gap (109,493,138)   (26,860,758)   (28,976,919)  (19,775,264)  15,790,278  18,164,403 164,730,766  190,191        13,769,559     

The tables below analyse assets and liabilities (inclusive of non-financial instruments) of the Bank in the relevant maturity tenors based on remaining contractual maturities as

at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 (cont'd.).
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(g) Liquidity risk management (cont'd.)

3. Contractual maturity of financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 6 > 6 months > 1 to 3 > 3 to 5 Over 5

month months months to 1 year years years years Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Non-derivative liabilities

Customers' funding:

   - Deposits from customers 124,082,291  47,766,244   27,834,049    10,726,131  171,069      21,326           -                    210,601,110   

   - Investment accounts of customers 22,428,706    590,498        1,231,357      1,430,919     14,535         5,242             -                    25,701,257     

Deposits and placements of banks and 

   other financial institutions 6,086,415      8,942,184     7,603,202      288,606        376,343      188,432         275,476        23,760,658     

Obligations on financial assets sold under

   repurchase agreements 462,077         -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     -                    462,077          

Bills and acceptances payable 32,569           -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     -                    32,569             

Other liabilities 2,337,462      482               723                312,553        4,291           -                     -                    2,655,511       

Term funding -                     1,500,000     3,543,300      1,543,300     173,200      3,176,652      -                    9,936,452       

Subordinated sukuk -                     14,500          22,500           37,000          148,000      148,000         2,111,000     2,481,000       

Capital securities -                     -                    23,800           23,800          95,200         1,095,200      -                    1,238,000       

155,429,520  58,813,908   40,258,931    14,362,309  982,638      4,634,852      2,386,476     276,868,634   

Commitments and contingencies

Direct credit substitutes 294,168         154,062        519,387         1,255,395     322,429      105,790         400,250        3,051,481       

Certain transaction-related contingent items 180,615         152,550        619,000         486,378        1,421,510   707,623         58,695          3,626,371       

Short-term self-liquidating trade-related 

   contingencies 112,085         319,586        26,220           2,709            106              -                     -                    460,706          

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit -                     -                    -                     35,592,554  11,097,267 -                     -                    46,689,821     

Miscellaneous -                     -                    -                     1,599,299     -                   -                     -                    1,599,299       
586,868         626,198        1,164,607      38,936,335  12,841,312 813,413         458,945        55,427,678     

The tables below present the cash flows payable by the Bank under non-derivative financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities as at 31 December 2022 and 31

December 2021. The amounts disclosed in the table will not agree to the carrying amounts reported in the statements of financial position as the amounts incorporated all

contractual cash flows, on an undiscounted basis, relating to both principal and profit analysis. The Bank manage inherent liquidity risk based on discounted expected cash

flows.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(g) Liquidity risk management (cont'd.)

3. Contractual maturity of financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis (cont'd.)

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 6 > 6 months > 1 to 3 > 3 to 5 Over 5

month months months to 1 year years years years Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Non-derivative liabilities

Customers' funding:

   - Deposits from customers 110,939,032  29,379,547   21,950,752    17,508,771  230,824      30,264           -                    180,039,190   

   - Investment accounts of customers 25,215,340    789,302        1,246,591      1,499,101     5,025           5,773             -                    28,761,132     

Deposits and placements of banks and 

   other financial institutions 6,384,042      10,299,372   6,053,345      685,532        170,302      397,779         283,342        24,273,714     

Bills and acceptances payable 19,561           -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     -                    19,561             

Other liabilities 1,289,441      467               504                226,766        3,248           812                -                    1,521,238       

Term funding -                     3,000,000     3,542,000      3,542,000     -                   1,113,648      -                    11,197,648     

Subordinated sukuk -                     14,500          22,500           37,000          148,000      148,000         2,185,000     2,555,000       

Capital securities -                     -                    24,750           1,024,750     -                   -                     -                    1,049,500       
143,847,416  43,483,188   32,840,442    24,523,920  557,399      1,696,276      2,468,342     249,416,983   

Commitments and contingencies

Direct credit substitutes 116,097         157,366        426,814         1,357,715     284,208      52,718           450,381        2,845,299       

Certain transaction-related contingent items 201,324         124,857        626,568         532,089        1,341,002   374,089         116,795        3,316,724       

Short-term self-liquidating trade-related 

   contingencies 59,389           398,881        39,212           3,314            -                   -                     -                    500,796          

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit -                     -                    -                     31,073,338  10,411,607 -                     -                    41,484,945     

Miscellaneous -                     -                    -                     83,465          -                   -                     -                    83,465             
376,810         681,104        1,092,594      33,049,921  12,036,817 426,807         567,176        48,231,229     

The tables below present the cash flows payable by the Bank under non-derivative financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities as at 31 December 2022 and 31

December 2021. The amounts disclosed in the table will not agree to the carrying amounts reported in the statements of financial position as the amounts incorporated all

contractual cash flows, on an undiscounted basis, relating to both principal and profit analysis. The Bank manage inherent liquidity risk based on discounted expected cash

flows (cont'd.).
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(g) Liquidity risk management (cont'd.)

3. Contractual maturity of financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis (cont'd.)

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 6 > 6 months > 1 to 3 > 3 to 5 Over 5

month months months to 1 year years years years Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Net settled derivatives

Derivative financial liabilities

Trading derivatives

- Profit rate related contracts -                     -                    3                    6                   22                22                  52                 105                  

Hedging derivatives

- Profit rate related contracts -                     (2,398)           (382)               (3,011)          (16,369)       (10,550)          -                    (32,710)           

-                     (2,398)           (379)               (3,005)          (16,347)       (10,528)          52                 (32,605)           

Gross settled derivatives

Derivative financial liabilities

Trading derivatives

Derivatives:

- Outflow (1,990,560)     (5,300,544)    (1,329,368)    (162,209)      (380,902)     (1,169,478)     (259,488)       (10,592,549)    

- Inflow 1,914,776      5,142,101     1,310,770      157,019        382,851      1,156,375      255,519        10,319,411     

(75,784)          (158,443)       (18,598)         (5,190)          1,949           (13,103)          (3,969)           (273,138)         

The tables below analyse the Bank’s derivative financial liabilities that will be settled on a net basis into relevant maturity groupings by remaining contractual maturities as at 31

December 2022 and 31 December 2021. The amounts disclosed in the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(g) Liquidity risk management (cont'd.)

3. Contractual maturity of financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis (cont'd.)

Up to 1 > 1 to 3 > 3 to 6 > 6 months > 1 to 3 > 3 to 5 Over 5

month months months to 1 year years years years Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Net settled derivatives

Derivative financial liabilities

Trading derivatives

- Foreign exchange related contracts (38)                 -                    -                     -                    -                   -                     -                    (38)                  

- Profit rate related contracts (1)                   (6,659)           (6,647)            (12,386)        (21,276)       (25,548)          (1,458)           (73,975)           
(39)                 (6,659)           (6,647)            (12,386)        (21,276)       (25,548)          (1,458)           (74,013)           

Gross settled derivatives

Derivative financial liabilities

Trading derivatives

Derivatives:

- Outflow (3,061,012)     (5,899,884)    (3,954,658)    (432,767)      (302,189)     (488,012)        (1,053,294)    (15,191,816)    

- Inflow 3,033,675      5,843,736     3,907,451      428,197        299,367      502,580         1,082,722     15,097,728     
(27,337)          (56,148)         (47,207)         (4,570)          (2,822)         14,568           29,428          (94,088)           

The tables below analyse the Bank’s derivative financial liabilities that will be settled on a net basis into relevant maturity groupings by remaining contractual maturities as at 31

December 2022 and 31 December 2021. The amounts disclosed in the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash flows (cont'd.). 
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(h) Non-financial risk management

(i) Environment, social and governance risk management

Non-financial risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal

processes, people and systems or from external events. This definition includes legal

risk, but excludes strategic and reputational risk. In Maybank Group, the management of

non-financial risk has evolved to encompass a wider range of non-financial risks such as

business continuity risk and outsourcing risk. 

The Bank's Non-Financial Risk ("NFR") management is premised on the three lines of

defence concept. Risk taking units (Strategic Business Unit), as first line of defence are

primarily responsible for the day-to-day management of non-financial risks within their

respective business operations. They are responsible for establishing and maintaining

their respective operational manuals and ensuring that activities undertaken by them

comply with the Bank's NFR framework.

The NFR team, as the second line of defence, is responsible for the formulation and

implementation of non-financial risk management policy within the Bank, which

encompasses the non-financial risk management strategy and governance structure.

NFR team is also responsible for the development and implementation of non-financial

risk management tools and methodologies to identify, measure, control, report and

monitor non-financial risks.

The Bank's Internal Audit plays the third line of defence by providing independent

assurance in respect of the overall effectiveness of the non-financial risk management

process, which includes performing independent review and periodic validation of the

NFR policy and process as well as conducting regular review on implementation of NFR

tools by NFR and the respective business units.

Environment, social and governance risks ("ESG risks") are potential losses arising from

the failure to address the Bank's environmental, social and corporate governance

concerns, which would then adversely impact the sustainability of business operations or

the value of assets and liabilities. 

Recognising the strategic importance of sustainability, the Bank has put in place the

Maybank Group ESG Risk Management Framework ("ESGRMF") which provides

guidance on management of ESG risks across the operations and business activities of

the Bank. The ESGRMF is applicable to all entities within the Maybank Group, and all

activities that the Bank undertakes, including financing, deposit taking, investment and

advisory services.
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41. Financial risk management policies (cont'd.)

(i) Environment, social and governance risk management (cont'd.)

(a)

(b)

42. Fair values measurements

(a) Valuation principles;

(b) Valuation techniques;

(c) Fair value measurements and classification within the fair value hierarchy;

(d) Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy;

(e) Movements of Level 3 instruments;

(f)

(g) Financial instruments not measured at fair value.

(a) Valuation principles

This disclosure provides information on fair value measurements for both financial

instruments and non-financial assets and liabilities and is structured as follows:

Sensitivity of fair value measurements to changes in unobservable input assumptions;

and

The Bank conducts impact assessment on ESG risks from the two following

perspectives:

Inside-out: the environmental and societal impacts arising from the Bank’s business

operations and service delivery; and

Outside-in: the impact of ESG events and conditions to the Bank’s business

operations, service delivery as well as business continuity.

Although ESG presents risks, the Bank has introduced various initiatives to help mitigate

and adapt to these risks to ensure that the business is resilient and better-positioned to

meet stakeholders' needs and expectations over the long term.

In terms of products, services and advice, the Bank intends to capitalise on new areas

for business growth while supporting customers in the transition to a low-carbon

economy, thus fulfilling the Bank's commitment towards mobilising sustainable finance.

On the other hand, in ensuring resource-efficient and climate-resilient operations, the

Bank strives towards achieving cost-savings, reducing our direct impact on climate

change and protecting our business against the risks of climate change.

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received for the sale of an asset or paid

to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants in the principal

or most advantageous market as of the measurement date. The Bank determines the

fair value by reference to quoted prices in active markets or by using valuation

techniques based on observable inputs or unobservable inputs. 
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42. Fair values measurements (cont'd.)

(a) Valuation principles (cont'd.)

•

•

Management's judgement is exercised in the selection and application of appropriate

parameters, assumptions and modelling techniques where some or all of the parameter

inputs are not observable in deriving fair value. The Bank established a framework and

policies that provide guidance concerning the practical considerations, principles and

analytical approaches for the establishment of prudent valuation for financial instruments

measured at fair value. 

Valuation adjustment is also an integral part of the valuation process. Valuation

adjustment is to reflect the uncertainty in valuations generally for products that are less

standardised, less frequently traded and more complex in nature. In making a valuation

adjustment, the Bank follow methodologies that consider factors such as bid-offer

spread, unobservable prices/inputs in the market and uncertainties in the

assumptions/parameters.

The Bank continuously enhances their design, validation methodologies and processes

to ensure the valuations are reflective. The valuation models are validated both internally

and externally, with periodic reviews to ensure the model remains suitable for their

intended use. 

For disclosure purposes, the level in the hierarchy within which the instruments are

classified in its entirety is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the

position's fair value measurements:

Refers to instruments which are regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted

prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, and those prices which

represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions at an arm’s length basis.

Such financial instruments include actively traded government securities, listed

derivatives and cash products traded on exchange.

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and

liabilities

Level 2: Valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are, or are based on,

observable market data

Refers to inputs other than quoted price included within Level 1 that are observable

for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from

prices). Examples of Level 2 financial instruments include over–the–counter ("OTC")

derivatives, corporate and other government sukuk, illiquid equities and consumer

financing and advances with homogeneous or similar features in the market.
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42. Fair values measurements (cont'd.)

(a) Valuation principles (cont'd.)

•

(b) Valuation techniques

Derivatives

Financing and advances at fair value through other comprehensive income

For disclosure purposes, the level in the hierarchy within which the instruments are

classified in its entirety is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the

position's fair value measurements (cont'd.):

Level 3: Valuation techniques for which significant inputs are not based on

observable market data 

Refers to instruments where fair value is measured using significant unobservable

market inputs. The valuation techniques used are consistent with the Level 2 but

incorporate the Bank's own assumptions and data. Examples of Level 3 instruments

include corporate sukuk in illiquid markets, private equity investments and financing

and advances priced primarily based on internal credit assessment.

The valuation techniques used for both the financial instruments and non-financial assets

and liabilities that are not determined by reference to quoted prices (Level 1) are

described below:

The fair values of the Bank's derivative instruments are derived using discounted cash

flows analysis, option pricing and benchmarking models.

Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss and financial investments

at fair value through other comprehensive income

The fair values of financial investments are determined by reference to prices quoted by

independent data providers and independent brokers.

The fair values are estimated based on expected future cash flows of contractual

instalment payments, discounted at applicable and prevailing rates at reporting date

offered for similar facilities to new customers with similar credit profiles.
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42. Fair values measurements (cont'd.)

(c) Fair value measurements and classification within the fair value hierarchy

Quoted Observable Unobservable

Market Price Inputs Inputs

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Financial assets  

  measured at fair values:

Financial investments 

   at FVTPL -                   309,504        -                     309,504        

Financial investments 

   at FVOCI -                   15,644,733   1,250             15,645,983   

Financing and 

   advances at FVOCI -                   -                    3,141,460      3,141,460     

Derivative assets -                   263,763        -                     263,763        

-                   16,218,000   3,142,710      19,360,710   

Financial liabilities  

  measured at fair values:

Derivative liabilities -                   384,674        -                     384,674        

-                   384,674        -                     384,674        

Quoted Observable Unobservable

Market Price Inputs Inputs

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Financial assets  

  measured at fair values:

Financial investments 

   at FVTPL -                   784,302        -                     784,302        

Financial investments 

   at FVOCI -                   15,081,529   1,250             15,082,779   

Financing and 

   advances at FVOCI -                   -                    2,175,615      2,175,615     

Derivative assets -                   117,420        -                     117,420        

-                   15,983,251   2,176,865      18,160,116   

Financial liabilities  

  measured at fair values:

Derivative liabilities -                   177,545        -                     177,545        

-                   177,545        -                     177,545        

The classification in the fair value hierarchy of the Bank's financial and non-financial

assets and liabilities measured at fair value is summarised in the table below:

Valuation technique using

Valuation technique using
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42. Fair values measurements (cont'd.)

(d) Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy

(e) Movements of Level 3 instruments

Financial Financing Financial Financing

investments and investments and

at FVOCI advances at FVOCI advances

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At 1 January 1,250           2,175,615     1,250             2,741,267     

Unrealised gain/(losses)

   recognised in other

   comprehensive

   income -                   42,999          -                     (2)                  

Purchases/additions -                   1,048,672     -                     133,394        

Settlements/amount 

   related to RPSIA -                   (132,868)       -                     (703,231)       

Exchange differences -                   7,042            -                     4,187            

At 31 December 1,250           3,141,460     1,250             2,175,615     

(f) Sensitivity of fair value measurements to changes in unobservable input

assumptions

Changing one or more of the inputs to reasonable alternative assumptions would not

change the value significantly for the financial assets and financial liabilities in Level 3 of

the fair value hierarchy.

The accounting policy for determining when transfers between levels of the fair value

hierarchy occurred is disclosed in Note 2.2(xvi). There were no transfers between Level 1

and Level 2 for the Bank during the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

The following tables present additional information about Level 3 assets and liabilities

measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

20212022
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42. Fair values measurements (cont'd.)

(g) Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Total Carrying

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 fair value amount

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Financial assets

Financing and 

   advances at

   amortised 

   cost -            25,179,198    197,983,123  223,162,321  211,238,163   

Financial 

   investments 

   at amortised

   cost -            26,862,890    -                     26,862,890    27,461,699     

Financial liabilities

Deposits from 

   customers -            209,783,504  -                     209,783,504  209,783,463   

Investment 

   accounts of

   customers -            25,637,720    -                     25,637,720    25,637,702     

The estimated fair values of those on-balance sheet financial assets and financial liabilities

as at the reporting date approximate their carrying amounts as shown in the statement of

financial position, except for the financial assets and liabilities as disclosed below.

The table below analyses financial instruments not carried at fair value for which fair value is

disclosed, together with carrying amount as shown in the statement of financial position:

For financing and advances to customers, where such market prices are not available,

various methodologies have been used to estimate the approximate fair values of such

instruments. These methodologies are significantly affected by the assumptions used and

judgements made regarding risk characteristics of various financial instruments, discount

rates, estimates of future cash flows, future expected loss experience and other factors.

Changes in the assumptions could significantly affect these estimates and the resulting fair

value estimates. Therefore, for a significant portion of the Bank's financial instruments,

including financing and advances to customers, their respective fair value estimates do not

purport to represent, nor should they be construed to represent, the amounts that the Bank

could realise in a sale transaction as at the reporting date. The fair value information

presented herein should also in no way be construed as representative of the underlying

value of the Bank as a going concern. 
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42. Fair values measurements (cont'd.)

(g) Financial instruments not measured at fair value (cont'd.)

Total Carrying

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 fair value amount

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Financial liabilities (cont'd.)

Deposits and 

   placements 

   of banks and  

   other financial

   institutions -            23,562,593    -                     23,562,593    23,597,506     

Term funding -            9,414,022      -                     9,414,022      9,421,202       

Subordinated 

   sukuk -            1,979,783      -                     1,979,783      2,021,893       

Capital 
   securities -            998,187         -                     998,187         1,002,347       

Total Carrying

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 fair value amount

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Financial assets

Financing and 

   advances at

   amortised 

   cost -            23,356,115    181,583,434  204,939,549  190,290,102   

Financial 

   investments 

   at amortised

   cost -            19,168,086    3,542,776      22,710,862    22,867,781     

Financial liabilities

Deposits from 

   customers -            179,515,000  -                     179,515,000  179,514,918   

Investment 

   accounts of

   customers -            28,721,089    -                     28,721,089    28,720,799     

The table below analyses financial instruments not carried at fair value for which fair value is

disclosed, together with carrying amount as shown in the statement of financial position

(cont'd.):
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42. Fair values measurements (cont'd.)

(g) Financial instruments not measured at fair value (cont'd.)

Total Carrying

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 fair value amount

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Financial liabilities (cont'd.)

Deposits and 

   placements 

   of banks and  

   other financial

   institutions -            24,178,759    -                     24,178,759    24,186,628     

Term funding -            10,923,177    -                     10,923,177    10,923,177     

Subordinated 

   sukuk -            2,022,334      -                     2,022,334      2,021,814       

Capital 
   securities -            1,002,441      -                     1,002,441      1,002,441       

(i) Financial investments at amortised cost

(ii) Financing and advances at amortised cost

The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair values of the following

classes of financial instruments.

Fair values of securities that are actively traded are determined by quoted bid prices.

For non-actively traded securities, independent broker quotations are obtained. Fair

values of equity securities are estimated using a number of methods, including earnings

multiples and discounted cash flows analysis. Where discounted cash flows technique

is used, the estimated future cash flows are discounted using applicable prevailing

market or indicative rates of similar instruments at the reporting date.

The table below analyses financial instruments not carried at fair value for which fair value is

disclosed, together with carrying amount as shown in the statement of financial position

(cont'd.):

The fair values of variable rate financing and advances are estimated to approximate

their carrying values. For fixed rate financing, the fair values are estimated based on

expected future cash flows of contractual instalment payments, discounted at applicable

and prevailing rates at reporting date offered for similar facilities to new customers with

similar credit profiles. In respect of impaired financing, the fair values are deemed to

approximate the carrying values which are net of impairment allowances.
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42. Fair values measurements (cont'd.)

(g) Financial instruments not measured at fair value (cont'd.)

(iii)

(iv) Term funding, subordinated sukuk and capital securities

The fair values of term funding, subordinated sukuk and capital securities are estimated

by discounting the expected future cash flows using the applicable prevailing profit rates

for similar instruments as at reporting date.

Deposits from customers, deposits and placements of banks and other financial

institutions and investment accounts of customers

The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair values of the following

classes of financial instruments (cont'd.).

The fair values of deposits payable on demand and deposits and placements with

maturities of less than one year approximate their carrying amount due to the relatively

short maturity of these instruments. The fair values of fixed deposits and placements

with remaining maturities of more than one year are estimated based on discounted

cash flows using applicable rates currently offered for deposits and placements with

similar remaining maturities. 
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43. Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

Amounts which are not offset in the statement of financial position are related to:

(i)

(ii) cash and securities that are received or pledged with counterparties.

Gross amount Amount

Gross amount offset in the presented in Financial

of recognised statement of the statement collateral

financial assets/ financial of financial Financial received/ Net

financial liabilities position position instruments pledged amount

2022 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Financial assets

Derivative assets 263,763                  -                        263,763              (134,844)         -                      128,919          

Financial liabilities
Derivative liabilities 384,674                  -                        384,674              (134,844)         (117,100)         132,730          

Derivative assets and derivative liabilities are offset and the net amounts are reported in the statement of financial position when there is a

legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the

liability simultaneously.

Amount not offset in the 

statement of financial position

Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements are as follows:

the counterparties' offsetting exposures with the Bank where the right to set-off is only enforceable in the event of default, insolvency or

bankruptcy by the counterparties; and

Nostro foreign accounts related balances are reclassified and presented net against amount due from holding company included within other

assets to better reflect the operationalisation and settlement of Nostro accounts.
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43. Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities (cont'd.)

Gross amount Amount

Gross amount offset in the presented in Financial

of recognised statement of the statement collateral

financial assets/ financial of financial Financial received/ Net

financial liabilities position position instruments pledged amount

2021 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Financial assets

Derivative assets 117,420                  -                        117,420              (19,182)           (114,110)         (15,872)           

Financial liabilities

Derivative liabilities 177,545                  -                        177,545              (19,182)           -                      158,363          

Amount not offset in the 

statement of financial position

Financial assets and financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements are as follows

(cont'd.):
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44. Capital management

• 

• Support the Bank's strong credit ratings from local and international rating agencies;

• Deploy capital efficiently to businesses and optimise returns on capital;

• Remain flexible to capitalise on future opportunities; and

• Build and invest in businesses, even in a stressed environment.

The Bank's capital management is also supplemented by the Bank Annual Capital and

Funding Plan to facilitate efficient capital levels and utilisation across the Bank. The plan is

updated on an annual basis covering at least a three years horizon and reviewed and

approved by the Board for implementation at the beginning of each financial year in order to

keep abreast with the latest development on capital management and also to ensure

effective and timely execution of the plans contained therein.

The Bank’s approach to capital management is driven by its strategic objectives and takes

into account all relevant regulatory, economic and commercial environments in which the

Bank operates. The Bank regards having a strong capital position as essential to the Bank's

business strategy and competitive position. As such, the Board and senior management take

into account implications on the Bank’s capital position prior to implementing major business

decisions in order to preserve the Bank’s overall capital strength.

Effective capital management is fundamental to the sustainability of the Bank. The Bank

proactively manages its capital to meet the expectations of key stakeholders such as

regulators, shareholders, investors, rating agencies and analysts whilst ensuring that the

returns on capital commensurate with risks undertaken by respective business units. The

objectives are to:

Maintain capital ratios at levels sufficiently above the regulatory minimum requirements;

The quality and composition of capital are key factors in the Board and senior management’s

evaluation of the Bank’s capital adequacy position. The Bank places strong emphasis on the

quality of its capital and, accordingly, holds a significant amount of its capital in the form of

common equity which is permanent and has the highest loss absorption capability on a going

concern basis.  

The Bank’s capital management is guided by the Bank Capital Management Framework to

ensure that capital is managed on an integrated approach and ensure a strong and flexible

financial position to manage through economic cycles.
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44. Capital management (cont'd.)

45. Capital adequacy

(a) Compliance and application of capital adequacy ratios

(i)   Credit risk under Internal-Ratings Based Approach and Standardised Approach;

(ii)  Market risk under Standardised Approach; and

(iii) Operational risk under Basic Indicator Approach.

(b) The capital adequacy ratios of the Bank

Pursuant to Bank Negara Malaysia's ("BNM") Capital Adequacy Framework for Islamic

Banks (Capital Components) issued on 9 December 2020, all financial institutions shall hold

and maintain at all times, the minimum Common Equity Tier 1 Ratio of 4.5%, Tier 1 Ratio of

6.0%, and Total Capital Ratio of 8.0%. The Framework also provides guidance on additional

capital buffer requirements which comprises Capital Conservation Buffer of 2.5% of total

RWA and Countercyclical Capital Buffer ranging between 0% - 2.5% of total RWA.

BNM had on 5 February 2020 issued a policy document on Domestic Systemically Important

Banks (“D-SIB”) Framework and identified Maybank Group as one of the banks categorised

as a D-SIB. Maybank Group is categorised under Bucket 2 of the Higher Loss Absorbency

(“HLA”) requirements wherein Maybank Group is required to maintain an additional Common

Equity Tier 1 Ratio of 1.0% on top of the regulatory minimum with effect from 31 January

2021.

The capital adequacy ratio of the Bank are computed in accordance with BNM's Capital

Adequacy Framework for Islamic Banks (Capital Components) and Capital Adequacy

Framework for Islamic Banks (Risk-Weighted Assets) issued on 9 December 2020 and 3

May 2019 respectively. The total RWA are computed based on the following approaches:

The minimum regulatory capital adequacy requirements for CET1, Tier 1 and Total

Capital are 4.5%, 6.0% and 8.0% of total RWA for the current financial year ended 31

December 2022 (2021: 4.5%, 6.0% and 8.0% of total RWA).

In arriving the capital adequacy ratios for the financial year ended 31 December 2022,

the single-tier second interim dividend has not been deducted from the calculation of

CET1 Capital.

On 27 February 2023, the Board of Directors had declared a single-tier second interim

dividend in respect of the current financial year ended 31 December 2022 of RM3.546

per ordinary share on 456,116,375 ordinary shares, amounting to a dividend payable of

RM1,617,388,666.
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45. Capital adequacy (cont'd.)

(b) The capital adequacy ratios of the Bank (cont'd.)

2022 2021

Capital ratios

CET1 capital ratio 14.100% 15.981%

Tier 1 capital ratio 15.171% 17.173%
Total capital ratio 17.844% 20.077%

(c) Components of Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

CET1 Capital

Share capital 11,029,955    10,322,374    

Retained profits 2,655,423      3,247,267      

Other reserves 727,027         193,984         

CET1 capital before regulatory adjustments 14,412,405    13,763,625    

Less: Regulatory adjustment applied in

         CET1 capital (1,244,216)     (359,160)        

         Deferred tax assets (288,433)        (190,616)        

         Gain of financial instruments 

            classified as 'fair value through 

            other comprehensive income' (51,129)          (47,530)          

         Regulatory reserve (904,654)        (121,014)        

Total CET1 Capital 13,168,189    13,404,465    

Additional Tier 1 Capital

Capital securities 1,000,000      1,000,000      

Total Tier 1 Capital 14,168,189    14,404,465    

Tier 2 Capital

Subordinated sukuk 2,000,000      2,000,000      

General provision
1

23,001           10,735           

Surplus of eligible provision over 

   expected loss 473,343         425,171         

Total Tier 2 capital 2,496,344      2,435,906      
Total Capital 16,664,533    16,840,371    

1

The capital adequacy ratios of the Bank as at the reporting dates, are as follows:

Refers to loss allowance measured at an amount equal to 12-month and lifetime

expected credit losses and regulatory reserve, to the extent they are ascribed to non-

credit impaired exposures, determined under Standardised Approach for credit risk.
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45. Capital adequacy (cont'd.)

(d)

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Standardised Approach exposure 2,721,390      2,192,197      

Internal Ratings-Based Approach 

   exposure after scaling factor 89,387,080    83,621,226    

Total RWA for credit risk 92,108,470    85,813,423    

Total RWA for credit risk 

   absorbed by the holding company and

   Investment Account Holder ("IAH")^ (10,496,635)   (12,759,358)   

Total RWA for market risk 781,233         1,316,769      

Total RWA for operational risk 10,996,646    9,507,656      

Total RWA 93,389,714    83,878,490    

^

46. Shariah disclosures

(a) Shariah governance

In accordance to the BNM Investment Account policy, the credit risk weighted assets

funded by investment accounts (Unrestricted Investment Account and Restricted

Investment Account) are excluded from the calculation of capital adequacy ratio of the

Bank.

The breakdown of RWA by each major risk categories for the Bank are as follows:

The Bank has put in place a sound Shariah governance framework to ensure strict

adherence to Shariah requirements in its processes. A dedicated Shariah Committee

("SC") provides Shariah oversight on all material Shariah non-compliant risks across the

Bank. Supporting the SC are the Shariah Risk Management and Shariah Review and

Compliance ("SRC") functions that respectively identify, measure, monitor and control

Shariah non-compliance risks, and provides regular assessment on the compliance of

the operations, business, affairs and activities of the Bank with Shariah requirements.

Underpinning the governance framework are the detailed policies and procedures that

include the required steps to ensure that each transaction executed by the Bank

complies with Shariah requirements. A dedicated internal audit team was also

established to provide the required check and balance in ensuring strict compliance with

the policies and procedures.

Any transaction suspected as Shariah non-compliant will be escalated to the SC for

deliberation and decision whether any Shariah requirements have been breached.

Shariah Risk Management will track on the incident and rectification status, and ensure

timely reporting to the SC, Board and BNM. For Shariah non-compliant transactions, any

related income earned will be purified by channeling the amount to charity or given back

to the customer, as determined by the SC.
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46. Shariah disclosures (cont'd.)

(a) Shariah governance (cont'd.)

(i)  Shariah non-compliant events

2022 No. of events RM'000

Compounding of profit and Late Payment 

   Charges ("LPC") for Cash Line-i accounts

   under the Moratorium - Relief Assistance 

   schemes 1                    361                

Financing granted to food and beverage operator 

   with mixture of halal and non-halal business 1                    272                

2                    633                

2021 No. of events RM'000

Overcharging of LPC 1                    -
1

Capitalisation of accrued profit and LPC in the

   calculation of new profit during auto-akad renewal 1                    -                     

2                    -                     

1
 Denotes RM0.18

The rectification action plans are as follows:

Nature of events Measures undertaken Status

Compounding of profit and Refund of the overcharged profit Completed.

   LPC for Cash Line-i    to the impacted customers and

   accounts under the    system fixes using the correct

   Moratorium - Relief    formula to ensure non-

   Assistance schemes.    compounding of profit.

Apart from the purification of income from Shariah non-compliant events, the Bank

has instituted several rectification measures relating to systems, processes and

procedures to enhance control mechanism and minimise recurrence of Shariah non-

compliant incidents.  

The nature of transactions deliberated to SC for Shariah non-compliance are as follows:

During the financial year ended 31 December 2021, an additional amount of RM62

has been refunded to customers in relation to finance charges/monthly profit amount

exceeded the selling price prior to system enhancement completion in 2020.
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46. Shariah disclosures (cont'd.)

(a) Shariah governance (cont'd.)

(i)  Shariah non-compliant events (cont'd.)

The rectification action plans are as follows (cont'd.):

Nature of events Measures undertaken Status

Financing granted to food Termination of the current Islamic Mitigation 

   and beverage operator with    facility, purification of income,    actions  

   mixture of halal and    enhancement of the Shariah    mostly

   non-halal business.    Screening Checklist and    completed,

   relevant procedure. Training has    pending

   also been provided via nationwide    customer's

   hybrid or Face-to-Face Maybank    acceptance

   Islamic Engagement Session    on the 

   with Sales Personnel of SME    conversion 

   and Business Banking.    of facility.

(ii) Sources and uses of charity funds

2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Sources of charity funds

Shariah non-compliant/prohibited income 272                -                     

Total sources of charity funds during the year 272                -                     

Uses of charity funds

Contribution to non-profit organisation
2

272                -                     

Total uses of charity funds during the year 272                -                     

Undistributed charity funds as at 31 December -                     -                     

2
 Does not include fund refunded to customers of RM360,656 made during

     the year (2021: RM62).

(b) Recognition and measurement by main class of Shariah contracts

The recognition and measurement of each main class of Shariah contract are dependent

on the nature of the products, either financing or deposit product. The accounting

policies for each of these products are disclosed in their respective policies.
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47. Significant events

(a)

Nominal value Tenor

(b)

(c)

Nominal value Tenor

(d) Redemption of Islamic Medium Term Notes of RM2.0 billion in nominal value pursuant to

Islamic Commercial Paper/Islamic Medium Term Note Programme of up to RM10.0

billion in nominal value

On 16 December 2022, the Bank fully redeemed the RM2.0 billion Islamic medium term

notes. The RM2.0 billion Islamic medium term notes as disclosed in Note 21 was issued

on 16 December 2017. 

The following are the significant events of the Bank during the financial year ended 31

December 2022:

Issuance of Additional Tier 1 Sukuk Wakalah of RM1.0 billion in nominal value pursuant

to Islamic Additional Tier 1 capital securities Programme of up to RM10.0 billion in

nominal value

On 14 December 2022, the Bank has completed the issuance of Additional Tier 1 Sukuk

Wakalah ("AT1 Sukuk Wakalah") of RM1.0 billion in nominal value pursuant to Islamic

Additional Tier 1 capital securities Programme of up to RM10.0 billion in nominal value.

Details of the issuance are as follows:

Redemption of Additional Tier 1 Sukuk Wakalah of RM1.0 billion in nominal value

pursuant to Islamic Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities Programme of up to RM10.0

billion in nominal value

On 14 December 2022, the Bank fully redeemed the RM1.0 billion AT1 Sukuk Wakalah.

The RM1.0 billion AT1 Sukuk Wakalah was issued on 14 December 2017 as disclosed in

Note 23.

First call date Description

AT1 Sukuk Wakalah PerpetualRM1.0 billion14 December 2027

Issuance of Islamic medium term notes of RM2.0 billion in nominal value pursuant to

Islamic Medium Term Notes Programme of up to RM20.0 billion in nominal value

On 16 December 2022, the Bank has completed the issuance of Islamic Medium Term

Notes of RM2.0 billion in nominal value pursuant to Islamic Medium Term Notes

Programme of up to RM20.0 billion in nominal value. Details of the issuance are as

follows:

Maturity date Description

16 December 2027 RM2.0 billion
Fixed rate Islamic medium term 

notes
5 years
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